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AGENDA

A. Disposition of Minutes for Meeting
B. Old Business
C. Subcommittee Item

1. Discussion Items

C.l.a.=Tab1 a. Required Communication with the Board of Trustees
Plante & Moran, PLLC, will report.

C.1.b.=Tab 2 b. Audit Report on Banner Access
Michelle DiLullo, Staff Auditor, will report.

Cl.c.=Tab3 ¢. Anonymous Reporting Hotline Stats Update
Michelle DiLullo, Staff Auditor, will report.

C.l.d.=Tab4 | d. FY24 First Quarter Internal Audit Plan Update
Michelle DiLullo, Staff Auditor, will report.

C.l.e.=Tab5 e. Audit Matrix Open Audit Recommendations Update
This matrix tracks the progress of the implementation of recommendations for
improvement or correction made by internal and external auditors.
Michelle DiLullo, Staff Auditor, will report.

f. Update on Enterprise Risk Management
Julie Gentile, Director of Environmental and Occupational Health and Safety, will report.

C.l.g.=Tab 6 g. Audited Financial Report for Fiscal Years 2023 and 2022
Neal McNally, Vice President for Finance and Business Operations, and Katrena Davidson,
Associate Vice President for Finance and Controller, will report.



C.1.h.=Tab7 h. Ohio Senate Bill 6 Financial Ratio Analysis for Fiscal Year 2023
Neal McNally, Vice President for Finance and Business Operations, will report.

D. New Business

E. Adjournment
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October 12, 2023

To the Audit Subcommittee of the Board of Trustees
Youngstown State University

We have audited the financial statements of Youngstown State University (the “University") as of and for
the year ended June 30, 2023 and have issued our report thereon dated October 12, 2023. Professional
standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit.

Our Responsibility Under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards

As stated in our engagement letter dated July 5, 2023, our responsibility, as described by professional
standards, is to express an opinion about whether the financial statements prepared by management with
your oversight are fairly presented, in all material respects, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Our audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your
responsibilities. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance that the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

As part of our audit, we considered the internal control of the University. Such considerations were solely
for the purpose of determining our audit procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such
internal control.

We are responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our professional
judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. However, we are
not required to design procedures specifically to identify such matters.

Our audit of the University's financial statements has also been conducted in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Under Government Auditing
Standards, we are obligated to communicate certain matters that come to our attention related to our audit
to those responsible for the governance of the University, including compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements; certain instances of error or fraud; illegal acts applicable
to government agencies; and significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Toward this end, we issued a separate letter dated October 12, 2023 regarding our consideration of the
University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our
meeting about planning matters on August 3, 2023.

Significant Audit Findings

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with
the terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting
policies and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the University are described in
Note 1 to the financial statements.



To the Audit Subcommittee of the Board of Trustees October 12, 2023
Youngstown State University

As described in Note 1, the University changed accounting policies related to leases with the adoption of
GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, resulting in
approximately $13 million of subscription assets and liabilities being recognized as of the implementation
date. Accordingly, the accounting change has been retrospectively applied to prior periods presented as if
the policy had always been used.

We noted no transactions entered into by the University during the year for which there is a lack of
authoritative guidance or consensus.

We noted no significant transactions that have been recognized in the financial statements in a different
pericd than when the transaction occurred.

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are
based on management'’s knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the
financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly
from those expected.

The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were as follows:

¢ Student Accounts Receivable Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts - The University's
management has established the student accounts receivable allowance by applying estimated
uncollectible percentages to the balances based upon the aging. The uncollectible percentages were
estimated based upon prior experience at the University.

o Liability for Accrued Compensated Absences - Management calculates the liability for compensated
absences based on eligible service requirements and hours accumulated. We have evaluated this
estimated liability by reviewing the reasonableness of the methodology and assumptions used by the
University, testing data related to the calculation, and performing clerical tests on the calculation itself.

o Liability for Group Employee Benefit Self-insurance - The University's management has
established an estimated liability for group employee benefit self-insurance liability claims based on
historical experience.

¢ Net Pension and OPEB Liabilities - Management's estimate of the unfunded liability for the pension
plan and the OPEB plan was calculated by multiplying the University’s portion of the contributions made
to the respective plans by the total pension liability of the plans provided by an independent actuary.
The independent actuary used a number of assumptions to determine the overall unfunded liability of
each plan.

We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop the estimates described above in
determining that they are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole.

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. Certain financial statement
disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial statement users.

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in performing and completing our audit.

Disagreements with Management

For the purpose of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a financial
accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, that could be significant

to the financial statements or the auditor's report.

We are pleased to report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit.




To the Audit Subcommittee of the Board of Trustees October 12, 2023
Youngstown State University

Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified during the
audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management.

The attached schedule summarizes uncorrected misstatements of the financial statements that were
requested to be recorded. Management has determined that their effects are immaterial, both individually
and in the aggregate, to the financial statements taken as a whole. However, uncorrected misstatements
or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could potentially cause future period financial
statements to be materially misstated.

Significant Findings or Issues

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing
standards, business conditions affecting the University, and business plans and strategies that may affect
the risks of material misstatement, with management each year prior to our retention as the University’s
auditors. However, these discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship, and
our responses were not a condition of our retention.

Management Representations

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management
representation letter dated October 12, 2023,

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting
matters, similar to obtaining a second opinion on certain situations. if a consultation involves application of
an accounting principle to the University's financial statements or a determination of the type of auditor's
opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our professional standards require the consulting
accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has all the relevant facts.

To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants.
This information is intended solely for the use of the audit subcommittee of the board of trustees and
management of the University and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these
specified parties.

Very truly yours,

Plante & Moran, PLLC

L A Ty

Keith S. Martinez, CPA
Partner



Attachment

Client: Component Unit of Youngstown State University

YiE:  6/30/2023

SUMMARY OF UNRECORDED POSSIBLE ADJUSTMENTS

The effect of misstatements and classification errors identified would be to increase (decrease) the reported amounts in

the financial statement categories identified belew

Long-term Current Leng-term Impact to Net
Ref # Description of Misstatement Current Assels Assels Liabil Liabilities Net Assels Revenue Expenses Assets
|FACTUAL MISSTATEMENTS:
Al Adjustment ta record actiwly of The Penguin Ciub,
Inc. as a discretely presented component unit of the
University § 3461000 § 389,000 § 2,502,000 § 2062000 § 1492000 $ 570,000
[JUDGMENTAL ADJUSTMENTS: |
B1 None
[PROJECTED ADJUSTMENTS: |
c1  None -3 - o - - - .
Total $ 3,461,000 § - § 389,000 § - § 2502000 § 2,062,000 § 1,492,000 § 570,000

[PASSED DISCLOSURES AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION ISSUES:

D1 None



KENT STATE

UNIVERSITY

Office of Internal Audit
Katrena Davidson, Associate VP, Finance and Controller November 17, 2023
Elaine Ruse, Associate VP, Student Enrollment & Business Services Audit #2023-1057

Jennifer J. Lewis-Aey, Exec Director and Chief Human Resources Officer
Tysa Egleton, University Registrar

Angela Rovnak, Associate Director, IT Application Services

Dennis Gajdos, Associate Director, Business Operations, Division of IT
Michel Nahas, Chief Data Officer, KSU

Jeremy Yerse, Director, IT Infrastructure Services

Dear Ms. Davidson, Ms. Ruse, Ms. Lewis-Aey, Ms. Egleton, Ms. Rovnak, Mr. Gajdos, Mr. Nahas and
Mr. Yerse:

The Internal Audit Department has completed an audit of access to sensitive data in Banner. The
scope of the Banner audit administered by the KSU Division of IT, YSU Division of IT, and YSU data
custodians for each of the Banner modules includes Banner Finance, Financial Aid, Human Resources,
and Student. Authorized and appropriate level of access to data in Banner is essential for assuring
integrity of sensitive university data and restricted access to powerful actions.

Objectives
The primary objectives of this audit was to assess the efficiency and effectiveness of operations and
policies for the protection of sensitive data and powerful actions in Banner modules as follows:
e Processes are in place to approve and add new access to Banner users.
e Processes are in place to remove Banner access when no longer needed.
Access is appropriately adjusted when a user changes jobs.
Student employees are removed from access in a timely manner.
Access to sensitive information and powerful functions is restricted to only those users who
require access to perform job functions

Internal Audit promotes continuous improvement of security controls. However, management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining effective operational activities to ensure internal operating
controls are present and operating effectively.

An audit of operations and system of internal controls was performed to provide management with
reasonable but not absolute assurance that procedures and transactions are executed in an efficient
manner. This internal audit was performed using a risk-based approach that did not include evaluation
and testing of every transaction. Thus, assurance cannot be provided that all errors, irregularities, and
instances of non-compliance occurring during the audit period were identified.



Scope
The audit scope included Banner Finance, Financial Aid, Human Resources, and Student modules.

Meetings with the respective data custodians were completed to identify and evaluate controls in
operating procedures for access to data in Banner modules.

Background

Ellucian Banner Enterprise Resource Planning System (ERP) is an integrated database system used at
YSU. Banner ERP consists of four modules that are interconnected in the backend database. The
modules in use are as follows: Finance, Financial Aid, Human Resources, and Student.

Banner access is granted based on a class, profile, or security group which are customized for specified
users needing to perform a business function. Each class, profile or security group is comprised of
various forms (screens) and queries (reports) that are unique to a user’s job function and are accessible
only to its assigned users.

A data custodian is responsible for the design and maintenance of classes for a specified Banner
module. A user or supervisor will submit a request for access which is routed for management
approval and then to the appropriate data custodian who will determine what access is appropriate to
fulfill the security request. After access is determined by the data custodian, the IT Infrastructure
Services team in the Division of IT fulfills the approved request for Banner access. Then notification
of access is sent to the data custodian who notifies the user.

There are currently 10 Banner access data custodians (including backups) across the university.

This audit was conducted via interviews with data custodians responsible for the various Banner ﬁh)
modules, employees in the Division of IT, and database administrators for Banner who are Kent State
University employees employed under a Shared Services Agreement. Since Internal Audit interacted
with various process owners, the audit comments indicate the process owner for which Management
Responses are requested.

Overview of Banner Modules:

e The Banner Finance module provides a comprehensive, integrated financial management
system that enables KSU to track, maintain, and process relevant financial data.

e The Banner Financial Aid module contains the following integrated components: applicant
record creation, requirements tracking, student budget assignment, need analysis, and
packaging. Also included are funds management, disbursement, award history, direct lending,
electronic data exchange (EDE), reporting, loan processing, Transfer Monitoring, Financial Aid
Self-Service, and Athletics.

e The Banner Human Resources module supports the full range of functions necessary for human
resource administration, including employment and compensation; position control and
staffing; applicant tracking, requisitioning and processing; EEO, W-2, and 1095 reporting;
payroll processing; labor relations; and administration of benefits and leaves.

e The Banner Student module contains information relating to all aspects of student processing,
including student information, registration, admissions, course fees, course scheduling and
enrollment, and student billing.

[(S]



Opinion
Based on the results of the procedures performed in the Banner Access Audit, the internal controls
related to the key processes Require Improvement.

A Require Improvement Opinion necessitates that Internal Audit perform follow-up on corrective
actions noted in management responses based on dates provided.

Internal Audit thanks you and your staff for their time and assistance during the audit process. Please
call X28617 with any questions regarding the contents of this Report.

Sarah Gampo, CPA, CIA Annette M. Alboreo, CISA, CRISC
Director, Internal Audit IT Audit Manager

cc: M. Cohol
M. DiLullo
R. Geilhard
H. Lafferty
N. McNally
M. Polatajko
J. Yukech
YSU Audit Subcommittee

Office of Internal Audit
226 Schwartz Center * Kent, Ohio 44242-0001
Office (330) 672-861



November 17, 2023
Audit #2023-1057

Acknowledgement of Responsibility

The Audit Comments include Management’s Responses to audit observations and recommendations
contained in this Report. These respective responses have been prepared and approved by the following
individual(s) who acknowledge responsibilities for directing the implementation of corrective action
plans.

WM W 10 /15 /93

Marianne Cohol Date
Director, IT Application PMO Services

~—€4/)145U W )1-15-23

Angela Rovnak Date /\}
Assaciate Director, IT Application Services

/] —%/I/\ -15-2%
Jeremy Yér¥e Date

Director, IT Infrastrub{ure Services



YSU Banner Access Audit
Audit #2023-1057
Executive Summary

This below table summarizes the results of the audit and the corrective actions to which management has
committed. The audit comments are further detailed in the pages following this summary.

Summary of Audit Comments

Audit Comment
(Risk Level)

Observation

Recommendation

Management Response

#1 IT Access in
Banner
(High)

Process Owner:
Division of IT

Division of I'T employees had
maintenance access to business
transactions in the production
system.

Division of I'T employees
should have restricted
maintenance access in the
production system.
Review of Division of [T
access should be
completed annually.

Agree. Actions were taken to
limit KSU database
administrators” Banner access and
YSU IT employee access as
needed. Completed on 8/8/2023.

#2 PII Access in
Banner

(High)

Process Owner:
Division of IT and
Data Custodians

Access to view full Personally
Identifiable Information (PII) is
available to more users than
require for business purposes.

Access to view sensitive
PII data should be
masked or restricted to
only those users who
require for business
purposes.

Agree. Solutions to be reviewed
that would accomplish this but
need to be cognizant of a
potential move to Banner SaaS,
where customizations are not
allowed. Approach to be
identified by 6/30/24 by Director
of Application Services.

#3 Retained Access
after Termination
(Medium)

Process Owner:
Division of IT

Users are locked when they
leave the university, but their
locked account still retains
access to sensitive business
transactions.

Banner access to sensitive
transactions should be
removed from a user’s
account when an
employee is terminated to
prevent fraudulent
activity.

Agree. Mitigations are in place at
multiple levels to ensure no
terminated employee gains access
after termination. Removing
user’s security classes is another
layer of security and YSU will
work towards developing a new
process where this can be
accomplished in an automated
way. This approach is to be
identified by 12/31/24 by the
Director of Infrastructure
Services.

#4 Inappropriate
Access in Banner
(High)

Process Owner:
Division of IT and
Data Custodians

Data Custodians reviewed access
to sensitive and powerful
transactions in Banner and
identified many users with
inappropriate access. There is
not a consistent review of access
by all Data Custodians to ensure
access to sensitive information
and powerful transactions is
appropriate.

An annual, centrally
facilitated review should
be completed by all Data
Custodians to confirm
access is appropriate.

Agree. A new process will be
implemented to update Banner
access and include a new change
job report when a person changes
jobs. This process will provide
Data Custodians with visibility to
identify any inappropriate Banner
access. Work will begin in April
2024 and will work towards a
defined approach by 6/30/24.




Summary of Audit Comments

Al;;l;éfgl;t;;&nt Observation Recommendation Management Response
#5 Standard A standard operating procedure | A standard operating Agree. An access review process
Operating for Banner user access review procedure for Banner user | will be identified and formalized

over time, as YSU is in the
process of forming a new Data

access review should be
created and used by Data

Procedure for does not exist.

Banner Access

Review
(High)

Process Owner:
Division of IT and
Data Custodians

Custodians.

Governance/Data Integrity team.
Data owners will be identified.
standards enforced, and policies
will be reviewed by 12/31/24.

6




Audit Comments
YSU Banner Access Audit
Audit #2023-1057

Audit Comment #1 Division of Information Technology Access in Banner (High)

Observation: Division of Information Technology employees had maintenance access to many sensitive business
transactions in the production Banner system. This includes Kent State University (KSU) database administrators
who perform Banner system administrator functions for Youngstown State University (YSU) as part of a shared
service agreement, and also YSU IT employees who support the Banner system.

While it may be acceptable for supporting IT users to have view only access to some business transactions in the
production Banner system, maintenance access is not needed per their job function and represents a potential
weakness in security of sensitive and powerful actions in Banner.

Recommendation: Maintenance access to business transactions should be removed from Division of IT users.
Some actions were taken during the audit to remove maintenance access, but additional access remains that should
be removed.

Management Response: We agree with the recommendations. Actions were taken by Division of IT to limit
KSU database administrators’ Banner access and YSU IT employee access as needed. Completed on 8/8/2023.

Audit Comment #2 PII Access in Banner (High)
Observation: Sensitive Personally Identifiable Information (PII) can be viewed by many users. Not all users who
have access require the ability to see full PII. PII can be seen in full display in transactions in Finance, Financial
Aid, Human Resources, Student, and some general screens.

The Finance Data Custodians noticed this during their review of user access and addressed the issue by removing
users who do not require access to view the full PII from their classes. While this solution was plausible for
Finance, it may not be an acceptable solution in other modules. Masking of PII in Banner is possible through a
customized security solution if access cannot be removed in all cases.

Recommendation: Y SU should consider solutions to removing access to full PIl or masking PII for users who do
not require access per job function. A consistent approach to restricting access is preferable for maintaining access
across all Banner modules.

Management Response: We agree that masking PII is a good idea. We will continue to review solutions that
would accomplish this but need to be cognizant of a potential move to Banner SaaS, where customizations are not
allowed. Approach to be identified by 6/30/2024 by Director of Application Services.




Audit Comment #3 Retained Security Roles on Locked User after Termination (Medium)
Observation: When an employee is terminated from the university, their access is locked in the Banner system. %
However, their user ID still has security/classes that provide access to business transactions. While locking the ID
prevents a user from being able to log in to the system, it does not provide full assurance that inappropriate access

is mitigated.

Best practices for removing users from access include removing the privileges on the user account. In addition,
some situations require that the user retain a minimal level of access to read email, view tax forms, or obtain pay
statements, for example. By removing business classes that contain sensitive business functionality, the possibility
of an ex-employee gaining access to sensitive information are minimized, in addition to preventing fraudulent
activity that could occur since access remains on the account.

Recommendation: YSU should consider removing business security/classes when a user no longer works for the
university. It may be possible to run scripts that would remove user access after a period of time and can also be
used to remove access to nonactive employees that currently exist in the system.

Management Response: YSU believes that locking users at the highest level satisfies the needs of both Data
Custodians and IT Infrastructure, security staff, where accounts are locked, preventing access to Banner
information, but still available for modeling security for a given position. YSU mitigates risk by having these
safeguards in place:

e User’s Banner Oracle account is locked »
o User’s Account Profile is configured to prevent a password reset and prevent unlocking )
e User’s Banner Enterprise Access record is removed so user cannot login to Banner Admin Pages N

We agree that removing user’s security classes is another layer of security and YSU will work towards developing
a new process where this can be accomplished in an automated way. This approach is to be identified by
12/31/2024 by the Director of Infrastructure Services.

Audit Comment #4 Inappropriate Access in Banner (High)

Observation: Based on the review of user access by Data Custodians, many users had inappropriate access to
sensitive and powerful transactions in Banner. This was expected since an organized effort across all Banner
modules had not taken place prior to the audit.

Summary of the types of exceptions found are listed below:

e Job Change: a user who previously worked in the business area but who no longer requires access in
Banner. This was the most prevalent exception found.
» Terminated employee: a user who has left the university. Exceptions found may have been a timing issue
related to when the user access report was run and when the user was locked following termination.
e Student ID: a student employee who previously worked in the business area but who no longer requires
access in Banner. Not a frequent or common exception since there are not many students at YSU with
access to Banner business transactions. ’“ﬂ



mRecommendation: A centrally facilitated, organized approach to reviewing access in Banner is needed to provide

.ssurance that access to sensitive information and powerful actions is restricted to only those users who require it.
A report showing job transfers may provide Data Custodians with visibility to job changes that may impact
security.

Management Response: We agree with the recommendations. We will work to implement a new process to
update Banner access and include a new change job report when a person changes jobs. This process will provide
Data Custodians with visibility to identify any inappropriate Banner access. Division of IT and HR Data
Custodians will begin a project in April 2024 and will work towards a defined approach by 6/30/2024.

Audit Comment #5 Standard Operating Procedure for Banner Access Review (High)
Observation: Per inquiry of access control review procedures, a consistent review process is not in place for all
Data Custodians.

The result of testing showed exceptions for various types of inappropriate access and includes access to sensitive
information and powerful actions.

Due to the high number of exceptions in access to sensitive information and powerful actions, recurring reviews by
Data Custodians are necessary to find users with inappropriate access. Standard Operating Procedures are needed
to strengthen the control environment.

»Recommendation: Standard Operation Procedures should be developed to provide additional structure around the
control environment and assurance that Banner access is appropriate. The Division of IT, with input from the Data
Custodians should create a centralized access clean-up (or recertification) procedure. Characteristics to strengthen
the control environment include:

¢ Ongoing notice of employee job position changes (including new and old job position) so that proper
assessment of user access can occur.

o Consistent review activity among all Data Custodians is needed, coordinated by a central group to initiate
the review process, gather evidence of access changes, and confirm all reviews are completed.

e Verification and documentation of access changes following a review/update of user access.

o A risk-based approach to identify and focus the reviews on sensitive data and powerful actions and
appropriate segregation of duties. Banner forms with sensitive information should be identified and used
during the recertification process.

e Review of student access to ensure access is appropriate and relevant.

Management Response: We agree with the recommendations and believe this process could formalize over time,
as YSU is in the process of forming a new Data Governance/Data Integrity team. Data owners will be identified,
standards enforced, and policies will be reviewed. Progress will be reported on 5/31/2024.




YSU Anonymous Reporting Hotline

Aggregated Statistics

Fiscal Year 2024 Quarter 1

Fiscal Year

Hotline Activity Quarter 1 | Quarter 2 | Quarter 3 | Quarter 4 To Date
Total
Reports received 3 - - - 3
Closed
Unsubstantiated/insufficient information 0 - - = 0
Process enhancements noted 0 - - = 0
Investigation 1 - - - 1
Referred 2 - - : 2
Total Closed 3 3 N
Under review at quarter end - - - - -
Fiscal Year
Reporting Method Quarter 1 | Quarter 2 | Quarter 3 | Quarter 4 To Date
Total
Ethicspoint Phone 0 - = = 0
Ethicspoint Website 3 - - - 3
Total: 3 - - - 3
Fiscal Year
Reporter Anonymity Quarter 1 | Quarter 2 | Quarter 3 | Quarter4 | To Date
Total
Anonymous 3 3
Not anonymous 0 0
Total: 3 = - - 3




Youngstown State University
Quarterly Internal Audit Plan Update
FY24 Q1 July 1 - September 30, 2023

**Status Definitions
Planned - as per audit plan, schedule to start in cu

In Process - in progress at quarter end
Complete - audit procedures concluded and result

-
Projects
Actual | Actual | Actual | Actual | Actual | Audit Plan
Q1 Q2 Q3 Qa YTD Budgeted
Project Area Risk Category Risk Level* | Status** | Hours | Hours | Hours | Hours | Hours Hours
Current Year Audits:
Student Billing, Collections, and Accounts  Financial & Operational | High Completed 25 . = 25 0
Receivable - - ’_ I I R R B ) -
Banner User Access (KSU IT Audit) | IT & Compliance High Completed 5 ' - - 5 0
" Division of Workforce Education & | Operational, Financial, & ITgh | mProcess | 112 -] -] -] 112 410
Innovation - B - B ‘Compiliance B ) | . . - [l o B e I
Division of Workforce Education & IT & General Controls | High Planned [ - - - S | 2 0
Innovation Student Information System (KSU I
o I IS U (S N U S N S —
Facilities and Building Access | Facilities, Operational, & | High Planned - < - S 225
Compliance
| Conflict of Interest ~ |compliance & Operational| High | Planned 7J|7 7.7‘ e ‘7 47 fP o T
| | | | |
Consulting & Advisary | I | -] [ |
Consulting & Advisory/ERM | Various | Moderate Ongoing | 67 - - - 67 50
Continuous Auditing Analytics | [ | = [ \
Payroll [Financial, Operational, | Moderate Ongoing | 30 = = . 30 150
A o ~ |Compliance I (R - | I R (S 7}7 I
Accounts Payable | Financial, Operational, Moderate Ongoin?' 32 T - = 32 150
Compliance | |
EthicsPoint Hotline Monitoring Various High Ongoing 15 3 0 m 15 100
= |Follow-up on Open Audit Recommendations | Various Various Ongoing 2 - - =5 2 120
Total Project Hours 288 - - - 288 1,430
*Risk Level
Asse.ssment of potential impacF of risk.s and Non-Project Hours
likelihood of risk events occurring; rating
drives Internal Audit plan priorities: Actual | Actual [ Actual | Actual | Actual | AuditPlan
High - significant risk area, high priority for Qi Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD Budgeted
Internal Audit coverage Category Hours | Hours | Hours | Hours | Hours Hours
Medium - moderate risk area, moderate Professional Development 10 ! s 10 100
priority for Internal Audit coverage Administrative: 222 222 550
Total Administrative Hours 232 - 232 650
Total Hours 520 - - - 520 2,080

rrent FY

s communicated

Deferred - moved from current FY plan per updated risk assessment




Audit Reconr

ndations Status- FY2024 Q1 j ’
Audit Info Recon;ln;;nedatlon Re:::::r?t’l;fion Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment f:urrent Status Comment
AnditH . Policies and Update policies to address Policies will be developed in this area. |The Office of Student Activities has The CampusGroups implementation
Procedures financial management recently upgraded to a new has been taking longer than
Dated Issued 2/17/2020 requirements including tax management system called expected. Work is being done to set
5 o Student Organizations |status, accounting concepts, CampusGroups which trains and  |up all the components of the new
Risk Category Financial . .
Audit record keeping, contract |tracks members of student system. We are on track to complete
Risk Level Low requirements, funding |organizations. It will track and tag |this recommendation by mid-
o Student Experience mechanisms and procedures, all student treasurers to complete |semester.
Division |disbursement controls, agency the training module. The new
Deadline 8/31/2020 account and off-campus cash program should be fully ‘
accounts. implemented by the fall of 2023.
New Deadline 12/31/2023
Current Status Deadline Revised ‘
Recommendation Summary of A v |
Audit Info Naine e s Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment Current Status Comment
Audick 2023-01 Student Bill Evaluate developing script to Discussions have occurred and Work order has been created for IT to
Presentation combine charges for more meetings are scheduled with Kent State review and discussions have been
Dated Issued 8/10/2023 ] simplified, condensed to explore opportunities for YSU to initiated between Bursar and IT
: ) Student Billing,_ o |presentation on student bills. utilize and modify existing script used office. Further discussions will take
Risk Category Operational R
Collections, & [ by Kent State. An IT work order has place as progress on work order
Risk Level Medium Accounts Receivable been established to move forward to continues.
P Finance/Business  Audit simplify and condense the presentation
Bsiel Oreratans [ of the student bills. The
Deadline 6/30/2024 implementation depends on IT
resources and the complexity of the
New Deadline =
script needed.
Current Status On Schedule
Recommendation Summary of s 2 | C
Adit Info Nare Recor e Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment f:urrent Status Comment
Adity o Reducing Cash Consider implementing policies !Realizing the inherent risk of collecting Bursar and Student Experience _Gfﬁces
Collections and procedure to further reduce |and handling cash the Bursar office have met with PNC representative to
Dated Issued 8/10/2023 the amount of cash payments  |collaborated with PNC and the Penguin discuss a more efficient way for students
: _ ) Student Billing, |collected and processed. |Service Center earlier this year and (particulartyinternational students) to
AlssiCelcRony et Collections, & implemented potential opportunities anerraosountewith the bank. it
" alternatives can be established with PNC
Risk Level . Mediun‘n Accounts Receivable to reduce cash payments received from st students caneasily deposit the pash
Biiston F-naoncefiigsnness Audit students. Continued efforts will be |with the bank students can then process
perations . ‘made to further reduce the amount of | |payments online by ACH transactions
Deadline 2/1/2024 'cash payments collected and {which will reduce the cash processed by
| processed. YSU cashiers. The first meeting was on
New Deadline ‘ [10/13 with a follow-up meeting scheduled
Current Status On Schedule for 11/8:
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Audit Recon  Indations Status- FY2024 Q1 j )
Recommendation Summary of :
5 3 Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment Current Status Comment
Audit Info Name Recommendation A/ 5 P i
e 202301 Student Write-Off Enhance internal controls to A review of write-offs in total is A work order was created to
Review ensure write-off transactions are |completed by the Bursar and automate the write-off process prior
Dated Issued 8/10/2023 accurate and proper. Complete |Controller’s office on an annual basis. 'to the audit. IT created the job and

Risk Category

Financial, Operational

'Discussions and documentation for a
'work order to automate the write-off

the process to automate the
write off process to ensure

Student Billing,
Collections, &

Bursar office is in the process of
testing it.

Risk Level Medium Accounts Receivable |accuracy and efficiency reducing | process was already in place prior to
Finance/Business  Audit ‘the volume of manual this audit.
Divisi . )
i Operatians transactions for posting and
Deadline 12/31/2023 manual review.
New Deadline
Current Status On Schedule
Recommendation Summary of !
: 2 Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment Current Status Comment
Audit Info Name Recommendation ) s P é
ey Se78. 6k Student Billing iEnhance internal controls by | Periodic review and updates for The Student Billing procedures have
Procedures |implementing a recurring continual improvements are done at been updated several times since the
Dated Issued 8/10/2023 7 | periodic, such as annual, review |least annually and as staff are trained audit with the last update being
- : 5 Student Billing, of the Student Billing Procedures |to ensure accurate documentation is 10/26/23. The Student Billing
Risk Categary Financial . o 3 =
Collections, & to ensure they are updated and |maintained and up to date. procedures have been used as part of
Risk Level High Accounts Receivable |complete. the current cross-training for the
o Finance/Business  Audit | Accountant Examiner |ll position and
Divtsian Sheratians \are revised as needed.
| |
Deadline 7/1/2023
New Deadline
Current Status CLOSED
Recommendation Summary of !
: i Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment Current Status Comment
Audit Info Name Recommendation A g P l
i ShiR Daily Balancing |Enhance daily balancing Documented procedures for daily |Date, preparer signature, reviewer
Documentation |procedures to ensure balancing include the recommended 'signature, and explanation of
Dated Issued 8/10/2023 ) i documentation is complete items but reconciliation spreadsheet variances other than credit card
l ) _ Student Billing, including date of balancing, |was updated to include that credit card timing differences were corrected in
Risk Category Financial N : : 2 £k v : :
Collections, & explanation of variance, and differences are a timing difference. fall of 2022, prior to the audit.
Risk Level Medium Accounts Receivable |separate preparer/reviewer sign- |Revised spreadsheet used beginning Spreadsheet was revised in July to
o) Finance/Business  Audit off. Ensure documented {July 2023. reflect the credit card timing
Divislon Dperations procedures for daily balancing differences more clearly.
Deadline 7/1/2023 include these items. |
|
New Deadline ‘
|
Current Status CLOSED
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Audit Recon ndations Status- FY2024 Q1 )
Recommendation Summary of |
: Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment Current Status Comment
Audit Info Name Recommendation 8 & P ‘
Audit# 303561 Review of Appeals |Enhance controls to ensure Workpapers were updated to include Workpaper was updated to add a
Posting consistent review of recording of |evidence of review to make sure that |column for supervisor review. It has
Dated Issued 8/10/2023 |approved student appeals. there is a consistent review of appeal |been reviewed every month since the
. ’ . Student Billing, Ensure the review is included in |calculations. Documented procedures audit.
Risk Category Financial i " — .
Collections, & documented procedures and will be periodically reviewed.
Risk Level Low Accounts Receivable |procedures are periodically
g Finance/Business  Audit reviewed and communicated to
Ivision 3 |
Operations appropriate Bursar’s office staff. [
Deadline 6/1/2023
New Deadline
Current Status CLOSED |
Recommendation Summary of
£ i Summary of Original Response Prior Status Comment Current Status Comment
Audit Info Name Recommendation 2 e P
Audit # 2023-01 Documentation of Enhance controls by A spreadsheet has been developed to Spreadsheet created to reflect
Bt issted 8/11/2023 Supervisory Review of [implementing a sign-off to document evidence of review. ‘evadence of Bursar review of
TGRCHSR Report document weekly review of the 'TGRCSHR reports. Spreadsheet
Risk Category Financial ? o :
< — | TGRCSHR report. includes activity period, date
Risk Level Low Studen.t Biling; reviewed, reviewer, and note of any
e Finance/Business Collectinns, & discrepancies or unusual items.
Division Overations Accounts Receivable
Deadline 7/1/2023 Audit
New Deadline
Current Status CLOSED
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Plante & Moran, PLLC

plan‘[e
250 8. High Street

44"”—— Columbus, OH 43215
moran Tel: 614,849.3C00
Fax; 614.221.3535

plantemoran.com

To Management and the Board of Trustees
Youngstown State University

This report is subject to review and acceptance by the Auditor of State's office, and the requirements of
Ohio Revised Code § 117.25 are not met until the Auditor of State certifies this report. This process will be
completed by the Auditor of State in a reasonable time frame, and reports are subject to change if the
Auditor of State determines that modification of a report is necessary to comply with required accounting or
auditing standards or Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards.

'4&«12 f )buw, PLLe

October 12, 2023
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YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

MESSAGE FROM INTERIM PRESIDENT LAFFERTY

October 13,2023

As the 2022-23 academic year began, Youngstown State University embarked on a momentous
transition as President Jim Tressel, who served as our ninth president, announced that he would be
stepping aside on January 31, 2023, While this marked the first change in leadership on our
campus in 8.5 years, our unwavering focus on learning and service has allowed YSU to confront
the evolving landscape of higher education with resilience. We remain committed to providing our
students with opportunities to excel academically and professionally

Notably, YSU students have continued to shine both inside and outside the classroom. Jason Hess,
a Mechanical Engineering major and member of the Sokolov Honors College, was announced as
a 2023 Truman Scholar by the Board of Trustees of the Harry S. Truman Scholarship Foundation
The Truman Scholarship 1s the premier graduate scholarship for aspiring public service leaders in
the United States. Hess is YSU's first-ever recipient of the prestigious Truman Scholarship. Our
Concrete Canoe team, for the second time in program history, placed second overall at the national
American Society of Civil Engineers’ annual Concrete Canoe Competition, and the Penguin Steel
Bridge team's historic achievement at the national level are testaments to the dedication and talent
of our students. Furthermore, YSU's faculty and staff have excelled in securing research and
service grants, totaling nearly $16 million in the past fiscal year, a record high for our mstitution.
This remarkable achievement underscores our commitment to advancing knowledge and making
a positive impact on our community and beyond. In addition to academic excellence, YSU's
Division of Workforce Innovation and Education continues to play a pivotal role in bridging the
skills gap and contributing to regional economic growth.

Youngstown State University remains a robust institution with great momentum. Our exceptional
students, dedicated faculty and staff, and the generous support of our alumni, donors, and
stakeholders continue to propel us forward as a positive force in our region. YSU's economic
impact on the Youngstown community and the region as a whole 1s substantial. Our contributions
1o job creation, industry partnerships, and community development imtiatives have fostered
economic growth, innovation, and employment opportunities. YSU's role in preparing a skilled
workforce aligned with the needs of local industries further solidifies our commitment to driving
economic development and prosperity in our region. We are confident that Youngstown State
University will remain a catalyst for positive change, an engine of economic growth, and a place
where learning and service thrive.

Sincerely,

b b L

Helen K. Lafferty, Ph.D
Interim President

Plante & Moran, PLLC

plante
—
moran

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Board of Truslees
Youngstown State University

Report on the Audits of the Financial Statements
Opinions

We have audiled the financial statements of the business-type aclivilies and the discretely presented component
unit of Youngstown State University (the "University”), a component unit of the State of Ohio, as of and for the
years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 and the related notes 1o the financial statements, which collectively comprise
Youngstown State University's basic financial statements, as listed in the table of contents

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the business-type aclivilies and the discrelely presented component unit of Youngstown State
University as of June 30, 2023 and 2022 and the respective changes in ils financial position and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits conlained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibiiities for the Audits of the Financial Statements seclion of our report. We are
required lo be independent of the University and to meet our other ethical responsibililies in accordance with the
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropnate to provide a basis for our audil opinions

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, in 2023, the University adopled new accounting guidance
under Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 96, Subscrption-Based information
Technology Arrangements. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter

R ibilities of M: 1ent for the Financial Statements

* P g

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United Stales of America and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due ta fraud or error

In preparing the financial statements, management is required lo evaluale whether there are conditions or evenls,
considered in the aggregale, that raise substantial doubt about the University's ability to conlinue as a going
concern for 12 months beyond the financial statement dalte, including any currently known information that may
raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.



To the Board of Trustees
Youngstown State University

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audits of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance abou! whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from maternial misstatement, whether due 1o fraud or error, and 1o issue an auditor's repont that includes our
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high leve! of assurance but is not absolute assurance and, therefore, is not a
qguarantee that audils conducted in accordance with GAAS and Gi Auditing Standards will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of no! detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulling from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 1orgery, mlennona! omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Mi are consi terial if there is a
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgmen! made by a
reasonable user based on the financia! statements.

in peﬂormmg audits in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:

. p i it ! and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audits.

o ldentify and assess the risks of matenal misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design and perform audit pracedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and di yres in the fi s,

« Obtain an und ing of i contro! ret to the audits in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effecliveness of the
University's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

o Evaluate the approp 1ess of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
made by manag W, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements
o C rhether, in our jud W, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate. that raise
substantial doubt about the U ity's ability to i as a going concem for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with govemnance regarding, among other malters, the
planned scope and timing of the audits, significant audit findings. and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified duning the audits.

Oamiiran P
Req PP 14

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis, the schedule ot the Universily's proportionate share of the net pension habilily, the
schedule of the University's pension contributions, the schedule of the Uni y's proportionate share of the net
OPERB liability (asset), and the schedule of the Umversa:rs OPEB contnbu‘nons be presented to supplement the
basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a pan of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmenta! Accounting Standards Board, which cansiders it to be
an essential part of financia! reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with audiling standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consist with t's responses 1o our inquiries, the basic financia! statements, and
other knowledge we obtamed during our audits of the basic financia! statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence (0 express an opinion or provide any assurance.

To the Board of Trustees
Youngstown State University

Supplementary Information

Our audits were ducted for the purp of 9 opinions on the financial stat s that collectively
comprise Youngsiown State Umversnys basic fi nandal statements. The schedule of expendﬁures ol federal
awards, as required by Title 2 US. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform A
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the "Uniform Guidance"), is presenled for me
purpose of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used o prepare the basic financial stat . The i ion has been subj to the auditing
pmcedures applied in the audit of the basic financial stalomems and centain additiona! procedures, including
paring and fling such inft ion directly to the underlying accounting and other records used fo
prepare the basic ﬁnanual statements or to the basic ﬁnanual statements themselves, and other additional
pmeedures in accordance with auditing standards g pted in the United States of America. In our
the schedule of expenditures of f is 1a|rty stated in all material respects in relation to the

bas:c financia! statements as a whole.

Additional Information

Management is responsible for the message from President Lafferty, list of the board of trustees, and Iist of the
executive officers, which are presented for the purpose of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
basic financial statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover such information, and we do
not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with G t Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 12, 2023 on
our consideration of Youngstown State University's intema! contro! over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of faws, contracts, grant agreements, and other matters. The
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal contro! over financial reporting and
compliance and the resulls of that testing, and not o provide an opinion on the effectiveness of Young State
Umversnys internat control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit

dn with Gi Auditing Standards in 19 Young State University's
mtsrnal contro! over financial reporting and compliance.

7424&, ¢ 7/bwo, PLLt

October 12, 2023



YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis section of Youngstown State University's (the
Umiversity or YSU) Financial Report presents a discussion and analysis of the financial
performance of the University during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023 with comparative
information for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021 This discussion has been
prepared by management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the
accompanying notes that follow

Introduction
An Institution of Opportunity: YSU inspires individuals, enhances futures, and enriches lives

As a student-centered university, Youngstown State University’s mission 15 to provide innovative
lifelong learning opportunities that will inspire individuals, enhance futures, and enrich lives. YSU
inspires individuals by cultivating a curiosity for lifelong learning; enhances the futures of our
students by empowering them to discover, disseminate, and apply their knowledge: and enriches
the region by fostering collaboration and the advancement of civie, scientific, and technological
development,  YSU’s culture of enrichment flourishes in our diverse, accessible, and quality
education

Youngstown State University 1s where students thrive in their educational and career pursuits,
where scholarship creates innovative solutions, and where community engagement is a cornerstone
of collaboration that collectively contribute to the sustainable prosperity of the region and beyond.

We - the faculty, staff, administrators, and students of Youngstown State University - hold the
following values essential to achieving the mission and realizing the vision:

¢ Centrality of Students — We put students first, fostering their holistic and lifelong success.

s Excellence and Innovation - We bring academic excellence and innovation to learning and
life for all stakeholders

e Integrity and Human Dignity — We root all behaviors, decisions and actions in the
achievement of integrity, mutual respect, collegiality, equity and inclusion

e Collaboration and Public Engagement — We embrace collaboration and create inovative
partnerships to foster sustainability and enrich our university, our culture, and region

The University started out as a single commercial law course offered by the local YMCA. Over a
century later, it serves the Youngstown area with the same passion, and consists of the College of
Graduate Studies and five undergraduate colleges: the Beeghly College of Liberal Ants, Social
Sciences, and Education, the Bitonte College of Health and Human Services; the Cliffe College of
Creative Arts; the College of Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics, and the
Williamson College of Business Admimistration.  The University offers degrees at the
undergraduate, graduate, and doctoral levels

The University 1s located on a 145-acre campus near downtown Youngstown, Ohio and 1s
equidistant (approximately 60 miles) from both Pittsburgh and Cleveland. Fall 2023 enrollment
was 10,993

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.)
Using the Financial Statements

The University's financial report includes three basic financial statements: the Statement of Net
Position; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position; and the Statement
of Cash Flows, These financial statements are prepared in accordance with the financial reporting
format required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s (GASB) Statements No. 34,
Basie Fmancial Statements and Meanagement's Discussion and Analysis for State and Local
Governments, as amended: and No 35, Basic Foancial Statenents and Management 's Discussion
and Analysis for Public Colleges and Universiees, as amended. These statements establish
standards for external financial reporting for public colleges and universities and require that
financial statements be presented on a basis to locus on the financial condition of the University,
the results of operations, and cash flows of the University as a whole

During fiscal vear 2018, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 75, dccownnng and
Fmancial Reportmg for Postemplovment Benefits Other than Pensions (OPEB) and dunng fiscal
year 2013, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 68, Accountmg und FFinancial Reporting
for Penswms - cnt amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 These statements significantly revised
accounting for pension/OPEB costs and assets/liabilities.

Prior to GASBs 68 and 75, the accounting for pension/OPEB costs, was focused on a funding
approach, which himited pension/OPEB costs to contributions annually required by law, which
may or may not be sufficient to fully fund each pension plan’s net pension/OPEB asset/liability

Under the standards required by these statements, the net pension/OPEB asset/liability equals the
University’s proportionate share of each pension/OPEB plan’s collective present value of
estimated future pension/OPEB benefits attributable to employees’ past service minus plan assels
available to pay these benefits. Pension/OPEB obligations, whether funded or unfunded, are pant
of the “employment exchange” - that is, the employee 1s trading his or her labor in exchange for
wages, benefits and the promise of a future pension and OPEB. The unfunded portions of these
pension/OPEB promises are a present obligation, part of a bargained-for benefit to the employee,
and are reported by the University as liabilities since the benefit of the exchange was received

The nature of Ohio’s statewide pension systems and state law governing those systems requires
additional explanation 1n order to properly understand the information presented i these
statements. The University is not responsible for certain key factors affecting the balance of these
liabilities. In Ohio, the employee shares the abligation of funding pension benefits with the
employer. Both employer and employee contribution rates are capped by the State statute. A
change in these caps requires action by both Houses of the General Assembly, and approval of the
Governor.  Benefit provisions are also determined by State statute.  The employee enters the
employment exchange with the knowledge that the employer’s promise 1s limited not by contract
but by law. The employer enters the exchange also knowing that there 15 a specific, legal limit to
its contribution to the pension system. In Ohio, there 1s no legal means 1o enforce the unfunded
liability of the pension system against the public employer. State law operates to mitigate the
obligation of the public emplover to the employee because all parties enter the employment
exchange with notice as to the law. The pension system is responsible for the administration of
the plan



YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.)

Most long-tenm habilities have set repayment schedules or, in the case of compensated absences
(i.¢. sick and vacation leave), are satisfied through paid time-off or termination payments. There
1s no repayment schedule for the net pension/OPER asset/liabilities. Changes in pension/OPEB
benefits, contribution rates, and return on mvestments affect the balances of the net pension/OPEB
asset/liabilities, but are outside the control of the public employer. In the event that contributions,
investment returns and other changes are insufficient to keep up with required payments. State
statute does not assign/identify the responsible party for the unfunded portion. Due to the unique
nature of how the net pensio/OPER asset/lhabilities are satisfied, these assets and liabiliues are
separately 1dentified within the noncurrent asset and noncurrent habihity sections of the Statement
of Net Position.

In accordance with GASBs 68 and 75, the University’s statements, prepared on an accrual basis
of accounting, include an annual pension/OPEB expense for the proportionate share of each
pension plan’s change in net pension/OPERB asset/hability

Overall key presentation elements of the financial statements include:

e Assets and hiabilities are categorized as either current or noncwirent. Current assets and habilities
will be consumed or fulfilled within one year.

e Revenues and expenses are categonzed as cither operating or non-operating.  Significant recurring
sources of the Umversity s revenues, including State of Ohio (State) appropriations, certain grants.,
gifts and investment income are considered non-operating, as defined by GASB Siatement No. 35,

e University scholarships that represent reduced tuttion (1.e.. are applied to student accounts rather than
refunded to students) are shown as a reduction of tuition, fees and other student charges, while
payments made directly to students ase presented as scholarship expense. Third party scholarships
are treated as though the students made the payments themselves.

o Capital assets are reported net of accumulated depreciation and amortization

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 14, The Fmancial Reportng Fniy, as amended by
GASB Statement No. 39, Deternuning Whether Certam Orgamizations Are Component Uniis, and
GASB Statement No. 61, The Fnancial Reportng Enty: - Omnibus, The Youngstown State
University Foundation (YSUF or Foundation) is treated as a component unit of the University.
The Foundation is discretely presented in this report by presentation of the individual financial
statements immediately following the University’s respective GASB financial statements.
Additional information on this component umit 1s contained in Note 15, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis focuses on the University and does not include the component unit

In fiscal year 2022, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 87 /.casey the objective of which
1s to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by improving accounting and
financial reporting for leases. This resulted in a change in accounting principle that was reflected
as of July 1, 2020

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.)

In fiscal year 2023, the University adopted GASB Statement No. 96 Subscription-Based
Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) the objective of which is to better meet the needs
of financial statement users by improving accounting and financial reporting for subscription-
based information technology arrangements. This resulted in a change in accounting principle and
has been reflected as of July 1, 2021, Refer to Note 1 for details.

The Statement of Net Position

The Statement of Net Position presents the financial position of the Umversity at the end of the
fiscal year and mcludes all assets (current and noncurrent), deferred outflows of resources,
liabilities (current and noncurrent), deferred inflows of resources, and net position of the
University. Current assets are classified as such if they are available to satisfy current liabilities,
which are generally defined as being due within one year of the date of the Statement of Net
Position. Net position is one indicator of the financial condition of the University, while the change
in net position is an indicator of whether the overall financial condition has improved or worsened
during the year.

A summarized comparison of the University's assets, deferred outflows of resources, habihiues,
deferred inflows of resources, and net position at June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021 follows

As Restated

June 30,2023 June 30,2022 June 30, 2021
Assels
Cumrent assets £ 79812952 £ R6.366.161 £ 94074484
Noncurment assets
Capital assets, net 232,127,268 233,704,247 226308045
Other assets 35,505,385 39,870,619 38,723.748
Total noncurmment assets 207,632,653 273,574,860 265,031,793
Tortal Assets 347 445,005 359,041,027 359.106.277
Deferred Outflows of Resources 47.522270 25.271.598 19,957,699
Laabilites
Current habilines 31618258 300,735,060 27.328.028
Noncurrent habilities 200.887.528 132.223.262 182.111.301
Total Liabilinies 232,505,786 162,958,322 209,439,320
Deferred Inflows of Resources 2047049 79,906,614 43.242.835

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets $ 160487997 $ 157723125 § 156,049,345
Restncted 37,998,645 37,343,508 28284607
Unrestricted (56,495,049) (52.717.941) {57,952 140)

Total Net Position $ 141,991,593 $ 142.347.689 $ 126381812

Current assets include unrestricted and restricted cash and cash equivalents, investments that
mature within one year, receivables, inventories, and other short-term assets.  Noncurrent assets
mclude unrestricted mvestments that mature in more than one year and ivestments that are
restricted by donors or external parties as to their use. Also included are receivables deemed 1o be
collectible in more than one year, capital assets, and net OPEB assets. Current assets decreased
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$6.6 million from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023 and decreased $7 7 million from fiscal year
2021 to fiscal year 2022 Noncurrent assets decreased $5.9 milhon from fiscal year 2022 1o fiscal
year 2023 and increased $8 5 million from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022

Deferred outflows of resources include resources where the consumption is applicable to a future
reporting period, but does not require further exchange of service. Deferred outflows. which
include items relating to pensions/OPEB, increased $22.2 million from fiscal yvear 2022 1o fiscal
year 2023 and increased $5.3 million from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022

Current liabilities include all habilites that are payable within the next fiscal year. Unearned
revenues, principally from summer programs, are also presented as current habilities. Liabilities
that are due to be paid beyond the next fiscal year are reported as noncurrent liabilities and include
debt, leased liabilities, compensated absences, and net pension/OPEB asset/liabilities.  Current
liabilities increased $.9 million from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023 and increased $3 4 million
from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022 Noncurrent liabilities increased $68.6 million from fiscal

year 2022 to fiscal year 2023 and decreased $49.9 million from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year
2022

Deferred inflows of resources represent the acquisition of resources that are apphcable to a future
reporting period.  Deferred inflows of resources which include unamortized concession
arrangements and items relating 1o pensions/OPEB decreased $59 4 million from fiscal year 2022
to fiscal year 2023 and increased $36.7 milhon from fiscal year 2021 1o fiscal year 2022

Assets

Assets primarily consist of cash and cash equivalents, investments, receivables and capnal assets
The following table summarizes balances at

As Restated

Junc 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30,2021

Cash and cash cquivalents $ 20392242 £ o372 £ 26202(42
Investments 76,557, 49 T0,08% (07 76,697 768
Accounts, loans, and pledges receivable. net 9,619,205 11,994,668 18574813
Net OPER asset 6,776,000 13,227,241 QARA443
Capatal assets, net 2127268 233,714,247 22630845
Other 1972941 1 829,592 1.747.166
Total Asscts $ 347.445.605 $ 359941027 $ 359,106,277

Cash and cash equivalents decreased $8 7 million or 30% from fiscal year 2022 1o fiscal year 2023
The decrease was due to a combination of $71.4 million used in operating activities, $77.1 million
provided by noncapital financing activities, $.2 million used in investng activities, and $14.2
million used in capital and related financing activities

Investments increased $6.4 million or 9% from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023. Unrestricted
investments increased $5.1 million whereas endowments and restricted investments increased $1.3

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY
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million. The increase was primanly due to investment income and unrealized gains resulting from
a favorable market environment

Overall accounts, loans, and pledges recevable decreased $2.4 million or 20% from fiscal year
2022 1o fiscal year 2023 The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in net accounts receivable.
Net accounts receivable decreased $2.2 million from $11.7 million at June 30, 2022 10 $9.5 million
at June 30. 2023, including a $.5 million decrease 1s net student accounts, a $1.3 million decrease
in grants and contracts recervable, and a $.4 million decrease in state appropnations receivable
The decrease n grants and contracts receivables was due 1o the drawdown of prior year
unreimbursed HEERF funds and receivables relating to the Energy Storage Report and Roadmap,
and construction of the Excellence Traiming Center.  State capital appropniation receivables
decreased due to decreased vear end activity on capital projects funded from state capital
appropriations

Net OPEB assets decreased $6.5 million or 49% from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023, The
decrease was primarily due to a combination of a §7.3 million decrease in the OPERS net OPEB
assetand a S 8 increase in the STRS net OPEB asset. The STRS Ohio and OPERS net OPEB asset
balances were $6 8 million and S0 at June 30, 2023 and $5.9 million and $7.3 million at June 30,
2022, respectively

Cash and cash cquivalents increased $2.8 million or 11% from fiscal year 2021 10 fiscal year 2022,
This icrease was due 1o a combination of $97 4 million used in operating activities, $108.7 million
provided by noncapital financing activities, $ 8 mullion used in investing activities, and §7.7
million used in capital and related financing activities

Investments decreased $6 6 million or 9% from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022, Unrestricted
investments decreased $4. 5 million whereas endowments and restricted investments decreased
$2 1 million. This decrease was primarily due to unrealized losses resulung from an unfavorable
market environment. Investments in equity mutual funds and common stock funds decreased $9.2
million and $2 7 million, respectively, whereas altemative investments increased $5 million.

Overall accounts, loans, and pledges receivable, net decreased $6.6 million or 35% from fiscal
year 2021 to fiscal year 2022, This decrease was primarily due to a decrease in net accounts
recetvable  Net accounts receivable decreased $6.3 million from $18 million at June 30, 2021 10
$11 7 million at June 30, 2022 Student accounts, net decreased $1.1 million, largely due to the
utilization of $2 7 million of HEERF funds to discharge student debt. Grants and contracts
receivables, net decreased $5 8 million due to the draw down of $2.6 mullion in unrermbursed uses
of HEERF funds and receipt of $2.7 mullion in grants receivables relating to the construction of’
the Excellence Traiming Center  State capital appropriations receivables increased $1 million due
to increased year end activity on capital projects funded from state capital appropriations

Net OPEB assets increased $3.7 million or 39% from fiscal year 2021 1o fiscal year 2022, The
increase was primarily due to a $3 3 million increase in the OPERS net OPERB asset. The STRS
Ohio and OPERS net OPEB asset balances were $5.9 million and $7.3 mullion at June 30, 2022
compared to $5.5 million and $4 million at June 30, 2021, respectively.
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Refer to Note 3 for additional information on cash and cash equivalents, Note 4 for details on
mvestments, Note 5 for information on accounts and loans receivable, and Note 6 for information
on pledges receivable,
At June 30, 2023, the University had $232.1 million in capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization totaled $17.9 milhion, $15.5 million,
and $14.1 million in fiscal years 2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively.

Details of net capital assets are shown below

As Restated

June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021
Land $ 160K ATV 5 IRS3KEAO §  17RI04H3
Buildimgs, net R7.670.344 V2, 196287 U6 U222 214
Improvements to buildings, net R5.313.457 R(.215957 K1.347.110
Improvements other than buildings net 18768673 19,866,589 20,994 408
Construction in progress 5410041 5.553.503 1515662
Moveable cquipment and furmiture, net 6364831 6,016,480 4.857,512
Vehicles, net 361,187 363,254 218,327
Lhstoncal treasures 1056488 041338 1.021.53%
Right-to-use asscts = cquipment, net 992,357 L212.198 1.620K31
Right-to-use asscts - SBITAS, net 7.561.211 ¥.6U0.472 -
Fotal Capatal Assets, net $ 232.127.26% S 233.704.247 22630845

Major capital activity during fiscal year 2023 included the completion of the Watson Team Center,
a facility designed for the University’s engineering students to prepare for competitions
Improvements to various buildings across campus were also completed to address the exterior
deterioration of the building envelopes, upgrades to HVAC and air handling units and upgrades to
doars to enhance campus safety. In addition, the Korandovich Sports Medicine Center located in
Beeghly Center, a space to serve the health care needs of the University’s student-athletes, and the
DiBacco Family Leadership Center, a multi-purpose meeting and classroom located in Stambaugh
Stadium, were completed. Parking improvements included the completion of several new surface
lots on the west side of campus as well as repairs to the M30 parking deck. Renovations were
made to the first floor and basement of Moser Hall, the first floor of Silvestri Hall, the bathrooms
in the east wing of Lyden House and the elevators in Jones Hall. In addition, a portion of Kohli

Hall roof was replaced, as well as the Cafaro House hot water tank and flooring in various parts of

the Andrews Recreation Center. Construction in progress includes the Arlington parking lot
located at the site of the previous M60 parking deck, upgrades to the utility distribution systems,
repairs to the M30 parking deck, renovations to the Lyden House bathrooms in the south wing,
replacement of the Cushwa Hall and E.J. Salata Complex roofs, repairs to the elevators in Silvestn
Hall and Beeghly Center, renovations 10 the STEM science labs in Ward Beecher Hall, renovations
to the auditorium and classrooms in Moser Hall and renovations to the second floor of Silvestri
Hall.

Right-to-use agsets additions included printer/copier equipment and various information
technology software leases.

-
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Major capital activity during fiscal year 2022 included the completion of the campus development
project to upgrade and replace vanous walkways, entrances, retaning walls and other exterior
clements. Parking improvements included repairs and renovations to the parking decks during
2021 and the resurfacing of the M63 parking lot. Bumilding improvements included the completion
of the third phase of renovations in Ward Beecher Hall as well as renovations to the greenhouse
In addition, the third phase of renovations to the Physical Therapy department in Cushwa Hall
were completed as well as the second phase of renovations in Fedor Hall. Renovations were also
made in the Edward J. Salata Complex, the restrooms in Kileawley Center and the Alumni Events
office in Tod Hall. The chiller in Kilcawley House was replaced and upgrades were made to the
air handling unit i Bliss Hall. Muluple parcels of land were purchased including parcels on Fifth
Avenue and West Commerce Street with the intent of creating additional parking areas as well as
parcels on West Rayen Avenue with the intent of creating the Watson Team Center, a space to
house the University's engineering and engineering technology competition teams, Construction
in progress includes the Watson Team Center and renovations to various buildings across campus
to address the exterior deterioration of building envelopes, upgrade HVAC and air handling units,
repair and replace elevators, upgrade the utility distribution systems and upgrade doors to enhance
campus safety.  In addition, renovations are underway i Moser Hall and the Lyden House
bathrooms as well as repairs and renovations to Kohli Hall's roof’

In addition, the impact of the July 1, 2021 implementation of GASB 96 in fiscal year 2022 was an
increase of $8.7 million in net Right-to-use assets — SBITAs, including a $7.6 million restatement
of beginning balances, current year SBITA additions of $3.5 million and current year amortization
of $2.4 million

Major capital activity during fiscal year 2021 included the completion of the Excellence Traming
Center located in Kohh Hall as well as renovations to Fedor Hall and the two pedestrian bridges
on campus. The second phase of renovations to the Physical Therapy department in Cushwa Hall
was completed as well as renovations in Maag Library and the Natatorium in the Beeghly Center
In addition, restrooms in Sweeney Hall and Cushwa Hall were updated, the roofs on Fok Hall and
Ward Beecher Hall were replaced, and structural improvements were made to Ward Beecher Hall
Also, renovations took place in Stambaugh Stadium to create office and locker room space for
swimming and lacrosse, and the Beede Field artificial wrf was replaced. Parking improvements
included repairs and renovations to the M30 and M60 parking decks and the resurfacing of the
M70 parking lot. Construction in progress includes Campus Development which will upgrade and
replace various walkways, entrances, retaining walls and other exterior clements, repairs and
renovations to the M30 and M60 parking decks, the second phase of renovations to Fedor Hall.
the third phase of renovations to the Physical Therapy Department in Cushwa Hall, and the
replacement of the Kilcawley House chiller

See Note 7 for additional information on capital assets and Note 11 for leased habilitics related to
nght-to-use assets.

Other assets remained flat from fiscal year 2022 to fiseal year 2023, and from fiscal year 2021 10
fiscal year 2022
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Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred outflows of resources represent the consumption of resources that are applicable to a
future reporting period, but do not require further exchange of goods or services; whereas deferred
inflows of resources represent the acquisition of resources that are applicable to a future reporting
period. The following table summarizes balances at:

Deferred Outflows of Resourees June 30,2023 June 30,2022 June 30, 2021
Kelated to pension $ 41,260,805 $ 23035308 5 15805606
Related to OPER 4,932,333 TRO,035 2,597,825
Bond refunding 1,329,132 1,456,254 1,554,268

Total Deferred Outtlows of Resources 5 $ 25271 59% 5 10957609

Deterred Inflows of Resources June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021

SEIVICE CONCess1on agreements 5 45,00 ¥ 132,500 $ 220,000

Related to pension 14,043,127 65,195,303 22329129

Related to OPEBR £,382,369 14,578,811 20,693,706

Toral Deterred Intlows of Resourees 5 20470496 3 79906614 % 43242435
e

Included in deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources are items relating 1o
pensions, OPEB, bond refunding, and service concession agreements. Certain elements impacting
the changes in the net pension/OPEB asset/liabilities have a longer-term perspective than the
current year, therefore to reduce volatility these elements are amortized over a closed period of
specified duration. These include differences between expected and actual experience, changes off
assumptions, net differences between projected and actual eamings of investments, and changes
in the proportionate share of contributions. These elements can be reflected as either a deferred
outflow of resources or a deferred inflow of resources.

Deferred outflows of resources increased $22.2 mullion or 88% from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year
2023. Deferred outflows of resources related to pension increased $18.2 million or 79% primarily
due to a combination of a $22.2 million increase in the net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension plan investments, including a $§20.2 million increase related to the OPERS
plan and a $2 million increase in the STRS Ohio plan; and a $4.8 million decrease in changes in
assumptions, including a $1.8 million decrease in the OPERS plan and a S3 million decrease in
the STRS Ohio plan. Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB increased $4.1 million or
532% primarily due a $3 million increase in the net difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments, including a $2.9 million increase in the OPERS plan and a
$0.1 million increase in the STRS Ohio plan, and a $1.3 million increase in changes in
assumptions, including a $1.4 million increase in the OPERS plan and a $0.1 decrease in the STRS
plan

Deferred inflows of resources decreased $59.4 million or 74% from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year
2023, Deferred inflows of resources related to pension decreased $51.1 million or 78% primarily
due to a combination of a $55.7 million decrease in the net difference between projected and actual
earning on pension plan investments, including a $24.7 million decrease in the OPERS plan and a
$31 million decrease in the STRS Ohio plan; a $5.2 million increase in changes in assumptions in
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the STRS Ohio plan; and a $0.5 million decrease in the differences between expected and actual
experience in the OPERS plan. Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB decreased $8.2
million or $6% primarily due to a combination of a $0.8 million decrease in differences between
expected and actual experience in the OPERS plan; a $1.6 million decrease in changes in
assumptions, including a $2.8 million decrease in the OPERS plan and a $1.2 million increase in
the STRS Ohio plan: a $5.1 million decrease in the net difference between projected and actual
earnings on OPEB plan investments, including a $3.5 million decrease in the OPERS plan and a
S1.6 million decrease in the STRS Ohio plan; and a $0.7 million decrease in changes in proportion
and differences between Reporting Unit contributions and proportionate share of contributions in
the OPERS plan

Deferred outflows of resources increased $5.3 million or 27% from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year
2022 Deferred outflows of resources related to pension increased $7.2 milhon or 46% primanly
due to a combination of a $2 million mcrease in the difference between expected and actual
experience, including a $1.1 million increase related to the OPERS plan and a $0.9 million increase
related to the STRS Ohio plan; an $8.5 million increase in change in assumptions, including a $2.6
million related to the OPERS plan and a $5.9 million increase to the STRS Ohio plan; and a $3.7
million decrease in the net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments related to the STRS Ohio plan. Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB
decreased S1 8 million or 70% primarily due to a $1.6 million decrease in the changes in
assumptions, including a $1.9 million decrease related to the OPERS plan and a $0.3 million
increase related to the STRS Ohio plan.

Deferred inflows of resources increased $36.7 million or 85% from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year
2022 Deferred inflows of resources related to pension increased $42.9 million or 192% primarily
due to a $42.7 million increase in the net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments, including an $11.6 million increase related to the OPERS plan and a
$31 million increase to the STRS Ohio plan. Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB
decreased $6.1 million or 30% primarily due to a combination of a $2.5 million decrease in the
differences between expected and actual experience related to the OPERS plan; a $5.2 million
decrease in the changes in assumptions, including a $3.5 million decrease related to the OPERS
plan and a $1.7 million decrease related to the STRS Ohio plan; a $3 million increase in the net
difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, including a $1.4
million increase related to the OPERS plan and a $1.6 million increase related to the STRS Ohio
plan; and a $1.5 million decrease in the changes in proportion and differences between
contributions and proportionate share of contributions related to the OPERS plan.

See Note 13 for additional information on employee benefit plans.
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Liabilities
Liabilities largely consist of accounts and construction payable, accrued payroll and payroll
withholdings, debt, leased liabilities, compensated absences, uncarned revenue and net pension

liability. The following table summanzes balances at

As Restated

June 30,2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021

Accounts and construction payahle s 6,648 K32 8 7,006, 100 Ay 5277472
Payroll habilites 8,465,240 R,708 877 R4IR693
Bonds payable, net 53,117,908 55,327.063 SHURS A3
Notes payable 11,030,834 12,108,512 13059456
Leased habilities - equipment 1.408 400 1,504,240 1,767.364
Leased habilites - SBITAS 7415065 K.501,561 -
Compensated absences 7,234,572 6,314,388 f.595.243
Uncamed revenue 7414028 6618717 7,155,847
Retundable advance - 172310 ATO.THI
(ther 1,605 X 1.232.4497 1,001 475
Net pension hahility 1276415260 55467057 10O, 506, %50
Net OPF lability 1465478 % =
Fotal Lubilines $ 212505786 3 162 4SK 322 5 200439320

Total habilines increased $69.5 million or 43% from fiscal year 2022 1o fiscal yvear 2023 Bonds
payable decreased $2.2 million and notes payable de ed $1.2 million due to scheduled debt
service payments. Leased habihties — SBITAs decreased a $1.1 million due to a combination of
current year additions of $1.8 million and current year reductions of $2.9 million. The net pension
liability increased $72.2 million, including a $22.2 million increase in the STRS Ohio net pension
liability and a $50 million increase in the OPERS net pension habihty.  The STRS Ohio and
OPERS net pension hability balances were $58.2 million and $69 4 million at June 30, 2023
compared to $36 million and $19.4 million at June 30, 2022, respecuively, The OPERS net OPEB
Tability increased from $0 at June 30, 2022 10 $1.5 million at June 30, 2023,

Total liabilities decreased $46.5 million or 22% from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal vear 2022
Accounts and construction payable increased $1.7 million largely due to increased vear end
activity on construction projects. Bonds payable decreased $1.7 million due to scheduled debt
service payments. Leased habilities — SBITAs increased $8.5 million due to the implementation
of GASB 96, including a $7.6 restatement of beginming balances, current year additions of $3.5
million and current year reductions of $2.6 million. The net pension hiability decreased $53
million, including a $40.1 million decrease in the STRS Ohio net pension liability and a $12.9
million decrease in the OPERS net pension hability. The STRS Ohio and OPERS net pension
liability balances were $36 million and $19 4 million at June 30, 2022 compared to $76.1 million
and $32.4 mullion at June 30, 2021, respectively.

See Note 8 for a further breakout of payroll and other liabilines, Notes 9 and 10 for detailed
information about the Umiversity's debt, Note 12 for information on long-term liabilities, and Note
13 for information on employee benelit plans
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Net Position

Net position represents the residual interest m the University s assets after deferred outflows of
resources are added, and habilities and deferred inflows of resources are deducted  The
reconciliation below presents the University’s total net position removing the impact of the
deferred inflows and outflows relating to pensions/OPEB as presented in the Statement of Net
Position.

As Restated

June 30,2023 June 30, 2022 June 30,2021
Total Net Position $ 14199153 F 423470689 8 126381812
Add
Deterred mntlows ol resaurces related to pension/OPE 20425 446 79774114 43,022 K35
Net penson/OPER habibty 127.641,526 55,467,057 108,306,850
Subtrct
Deterred outtlons ot resources related to pension/OPER (46,193, 138) (23,815,344 (IRAU3 A3
Net penswon/OPFR asset (5310,522) (13.227.241) (V4RO 343 )
Fotal Net Posmon wathout GASHs 68 and 75 5 3 240546275 % 2504021623

The following table summanze the categories of net posttion including segregation of the
unrestnicted net position relating to the impact of GASBs 68 and 75

As Restated

June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021
Net myvestment m capital asscts, net ofrelated debt $OIGDARTNT S ISTT22.125 8 156049345
Restneted, nonependable - endowments 5,793,260 5,755,537 5,074,506
Restncted, expendible - gilts, grants, and student loans 32,205,359 31,587 6K 22.600,1010
Unrestneted (without GASHs 68 and 75) A006K.313 45480645 (5,087,671
GASHs 6% and 75 (96.563.362) (98, YR 5RO (123.639811)
Towl Net Position 3 141991593 5142347089 3 126381 K812

Overall, the Umversity’s total net position decreased $.3 milhon or 3% from $142.3 at June 30,
2022 10 $142 million at June 30, 2023, This resulted from an excess of expenses over revenues
and includes a $2.8 mullion increase in the net amount invested in capital a a $.7 mullion
increase in restricted net position, a $5 4 decrease i unrestncted net position excluding the impact
of GASBs 68 and 75 and a 51.6 million increase in unrestricted net position attributed 1o the impact
of GASBs 68 and 75.

Overall, the University’s total net position increased $15.9 mullion or 12.6% from $126.4 million
atJune 30,2021 to S142.3 mulhon at June 30, 2022. This resulted from an excess of revenues over
expenses and includes @ 1.7 million inerease i the net amount ivested in capital assets, a $9
million increase in restricted net position, a $20.2 million decrease in unrestricted net position
excluding the impact of GASBs 68 and 75, and a $25.4 million increase in unrestricted net position
attributed to the impact of GASBs 68 and 75
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The net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization and deferred outfllows of resources relating to bond refunding reduced by the
outstanding balance of bonds, notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets.

The increase of $2.8 million from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023 was primarnly due to net
capital additions of $16.3 million, a decrease in outstanding debt of $4.5 million and current year
depreciation and amortization of $18 million. Outstanding debt was $72 9 mullion at June 30, 2023
compared to $77 4 million at June 30, 2022

The mcrease of $1.7 million from fiscal year 2021 1o fiscal year 2022 was due to net capital
additions of $24.6 million, an increase in outstanding debt of $5.6 million and current year
depreciation and amortization of $17.3 million. The impact of the July 1, 2021 implementation of
GASB 96 on net capital additions, was an increase of $8 7 million, including a $7.6 milhion
restatement of beginning balances, current year SBITA additions of $3.5 million and current year
amortization of $2 4 million. The impact of the implementanon of the GASB 96 on outstanding
debt was an increase of $8.5 million including a $7.6 restatement of beginning balances, current
year additions of $3.5 million and current year reductions of $2.6 million. Outstanding debt was
$77.4 million at June 30, 2022 compared to $71.8 million at June 30, 2021

Restricted, non-expendable net position consists primarily of endowment funds held by the
Umversity. Changes in this category are driven by additions or deductions to corpus

Restricted, expendable net position is subject to externally imposed restrictions governing their
use. Changes in this category are due to the timing of revenues and expenses in funds provided
by donors and grantors. The following table summarizes restricted, expendable net position at

June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30,2021

Cafls, grants, and contracts S 27X14.231 S 269RL0M 8§ 26854723
COVIE-IY rehiel unds - 45733 (2,104,861 )
Plant lunds 3195253 4,294 855 A TI4.T65
Other 1,195 845 266371 145.474
Total Net Position £ 32205359 §  3LSKTY6K % 22a6l04ul

Gifts, grants and contracts include grants and sponsored programs, scholarship donations and
program support, and undistributed and distributed but unspent investment earnings on University
endowment funds. COVID-19 relief funds include funds authorized through the Coronavirus Aid,
Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, the Coronavirus Relief & Recovery Supplemental
Appropriations Act (CRRSAA), and the American Rescue Plan Actof 2021, Plant funds primarily
include donations for construction or renovation projects. Other includes non-endowed restricted
gifts designated by management 1o function similar to an endowment fund and gifts established
for loan programs for students.

Total restricted expendable net position was $32.2 million at June 30, 2023 compared 10 S31.6
million at June 30, 2022, an overall increase of $.6 million or 2%. Overall, gifls, grants, and
contracts increased $ 8 million due to a combination of a $1.8 million increase i gift fund
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balances a S 7 million increase in undistributed investment earnings on University endowments
resulting from a favorable investment environment and a $1.7 decrease in grant funds. COVID-
19 Relief funds were fully expended as of June 30, 2023 Plant funds decreased $1.1 million
primarily due to a combination of construction activity on projects supported with gift funds
received in prior years and a large gift in the current year for a future Student Center.  Other
increased $.9 million due to a large gift bemng mternally designated as a quasi-endowment fund

Total restricted expendable net position was $31.6 million at June 30, 2022 compared to $22.6
million at June 20, 2021, an overall increase of $9 mullion or 11%. Overall gifts, grants, and
contracts remained flat due to a combination of a $2.4 mullion inerease in gifts fund balances and
a $2 million decrease 1n undistributed investment earmings on University endowments resulting
from an unfavorable nvestment environment.  COVID-19 relief funds increased $9.2 million
primarily due to the recognition of the $9.3 million attributed to HEERF [l funds that were
expensed in fiscal year 2021 but not reimbursable until fiscal year 2022, Overall plant funds
remained flat

Unrestricted nel position is not subject to externally imposed restrictions and is designated for
future operations, plant construction and mamtenance, and debt service. The following table
summarizes unrestricted net position at:

June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021

Operating and designated lunds 3 19, K6 694 : 1 22,651,471 £ 44129811
Operating reserves K.H37,U81 R.K37.082 H#.K37,982
I"lant lunds 11,339,019 13.96K.673 12,697,359
Loan lunds 22519 22519 22519
Fotal waithout GASHs 68 and 75 40068313 45 480,645 65,687,671
GASB6R (Pension fund) (104,423 RaN) (97,627.051) (115,0311,373)
GASRK 75 (OPER fund) J.NODA86 (571,535) (8.600.438)

Potal Unresineted Net Posmon S (56,495 149 $  (52.717.941) 3 (57.952.140)

Total unrestricted net position was ($56.5) milhon at June 30, 2023 compared to ($52.7) million
at June 30, 2022 The decrease of $3.8 million from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023 reflects
an excess of expenses over revenues during fiscal year 2023 from noncapital activity. Total
unrestricted net position without funds relating to pension/OPEB decreased $5 4 million whereas
the funds relating to pension/OPEB increased $1.6 million

The overall decrease of $5 4 million unrestricted net posttion excluding GASBs 68 and 75 was
due to a $2.8 million decrease in operating and designated funds and a $2.6 million decrease in
plant funds. The $2.8 million decrease in operating and designated funds was due to an increase
n the fair market value of investments at June 30, 2023 as compared to June 30, 2022 due to a
favorable market environment and planned utlization of one-time funds to support the fiscal year
2023 operating budgets and designated COVID-19 related projects

The GASB 68 (Pension) fund decreased $2 8 million from ($97.6) million at June 30, 2022 to
($100.4) million at June 30, 2023, whereas the GASB 75 (OPEB) fund increased $4 .4 nullion from
($.6) million at June 20, 2022 to $3 8 million at June 30, 2023
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Total unrestricted net position was ($52.7) million at June 30, 2022 compared to ($57.9) million
at June 30, 2021, The mcrease of $5.2 million from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022 reflects
an excess of revenues over expenses duning fiscal year 2022 from noncapital activity.  Total
unrestricted net position without funds relating to pension/OPEB decreased $20.2 million whereas
the funds relating to pension /OPEB increased $25 4 million.

The overall decrease of $20.2 million unrestricted net position excluding GASBs 68 and 75 was
due to a combination of a decrease of $21.5 million in operating and designated funds and an
increase of $1.3 million in plant funds  The $21.5 million decrease in operating and designated
funds was primarily due to a decrease 1n the fair market value of investments at June 30, 2022 as
compared to June 30, 2021 due to an unfavorable market environment and planned utilization of
one-time funds to support the fiscal year 2022 operating budgets,

The GASB 68 (Pension) fund increased $17.4 million from ($115) million at June 30, 2021 to
(897.6) million at June 30, 2022, whereas the GASB 75 (OPEB) fund increased $8 million from
($8.6) million at June 30, 2021 1o (5.6) million at Junc 30. 2022

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

These statements present the operating results and the non-operating revenues and expenses of the
University. Annual State appropriations, while budgeted for operations, are considered non-
operating revenues according to generally accepted accounting principles. Pell grants dispersed
to students and scholarships supported by restnicted gifts are considered operating expenses.
whereas the revenues supporting the expenses are considered nonoperating.

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONT.)

A summary of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position follows:

As Restated
June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021
Operating Revenues

Net tuition, fees and other student charges 5 RO343.181 § 79392052 % H2277.5K3
Auxbiary enterprises 17,342,203 15,700,492 13,261,789
Girants and contracts 15,603,351 14,202,141 15942273
Other 3.379.78% 3191131 3.760.968
lotal Operatng Revenues 116,868,523 112,485 806 115248613
Opuerating Expenses 206,692,943 20%.335,221 165,297,531
Operating Loss (ROX24.420) (KT R40.415) (SR MRY
Nonoperatng Revenues (Iixpenses )
State approprations 46396314 44378 444 A3 9274135
Federal approj ons 352430 33.228.720 24 976,065
G d contruets 29,800,277 20,075,594 2U.R6EX 317
Investment mcome 6.373.244 (7.367.9549) 13.779.6249
Other (1.442.220) 341001 (2.396.430)
Net Nonoperatmg Revenues H1.480.036 LA ENED] 110,154,619
CGam (Loss) Betore Other Revenues, Fxpenses, and Changes (B.344384) 10124383 60,105,701
Other Revenues, Expenses, and Changes
State capital approprations 5,831,180 3023039 9345 533
Capital grants and gifis 2140411 2 K 505 HIRTNTT
Onher 7.697 (26, 140) (S19.92)
Fotal Other Revenues, Expenses, and Changes 7.UKE. KK S.EHLA 15.213.508
Change in Net Position (356,046) 15965 K77 75319200
Net Posinon ar Begmning of the Year 142347 659 126 381812 SE202.527
Adpustment for Chanpe i Accountmy Prnaple - - (139024
Net Posinon at Beginnmng of the Year, as restated 142,347,689 126381812 51062603
Net Posation at Fad of the Year 5 141,941,593 $ 142347689 % 126381812

Revenues

Following 15 a recap of revenues by source (operating, non-operating, and other sources), which
were used to fund the University’s activities for the years ended:

June 30,2023 June 30,2022 June 30, 2021

Net tuition, fees, and other student charges $ 50,343,181 $ 79392052 § 82277583
Gifts, grants and contracts 47,553,039 46,122,330 52,198 467
State appropriations 46,396,314 41378 4444 43,927,035
Auxliary enterpnses 17.542.203 15,700,402 13.261.789
Investment income 6.373.244 (7.367.959) 13.779.629
State capital appropriations 5,831,180 3,023,039 9.3.45,533
Other revenue 3,824,934 3,491,536 4,420,799
Federal appropnations 352,430 33,228,720 24,976,068
Total Revenues $ 208,216,525 £ 217.968,654 $ 244,186,903
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Overall, the University's total revenues decreased $9.8 million or 5% between fiscal year 2022
and fiscal year 2023 from $218 million to $208.2 million

Net tuition, fees and other student charges increased $1 milhon or 1% from fiscal year 2022 to
fiscal year 2023 This was due 1o a combination of a $1.1 million decrease in gross twition and a
$2.1 million decrease in scholarship allowance. Gross tuition and fees were $103.7 milhon in
fiscal year 2023 compared to $104.8 million in fiscal year 2022; whereas scholarship allowance
was $23 3 million and $25 4 million, respectively. Gifts, grants and contracts revenue increased
$1.4 million or 3% from fiscal year 2022 10 fiscal year 2023, primarily due to a combination of a
$1.6 million increase in private gifts largely due to an increase n annual financial support from
the YSUF for scholarships and other programs, a $1.5 million increase in federal grant activity
related to the Excellence Training Center, a $.9 million decrease in private grants activity, and a
$.7 million decrease in Pell grants due to decreased enrollment. Federal appropriations decreased
$32.8 million or 99% from $33.2 mullion in fiscal year 2022 to $.4 million in fiscal year 2023 The
$.4 million in fiscal year 2023 related to the Higher Education Emergency Relief Funds (HEERF)
Institutional Portion; whereas the $33.2 mullion in fiscal year 2022 included $15.3 million of
HEERF Student Aid, $17.3 million HEERF Institutional Portion and $.6 million in Coronavirus
Relief Funds (CRF). As of June 30, 2023, all COVID-19 related funds awarded have been utihized
Auxiliary enterprises revenue increased $1.8 million or 12% primanly due to increased student
housing occupancy, including a $1.2 million increase in room rentals; and increased Intercollegiate
Athletic revenue, including $.3 million in NCAA revenue sharing.  State capital appropniations
increased $2.8 million or 93% due to increased activity on capital projects funded with state capital
dollars, largely related to IT infrastructure upgrades, building renovations and utility distribution
upgrades. Investment income increased $13.7 million or 186% from fiscal year 2022 1o fiscal year
2023 primarily due to unrealized gains resulting from a favorable investment environment

Overall, the University’s total revenues decreased $26.2 million or 11% between fiscal year 2021
and fiscal year 2022 from $244.2 million to $218 million.

Net tuition, fees and other student charges decreased $2 9 million or 4% from fiscal year 2021 10
fiscal year 2022, This was due to combination of a $4.1 million decrease in gross tuition, the result
of increased tuition and fees and decreased enrollment and a $1.2 million decrease in scholarship
allowance. Gross tuition and fees were $104 9 million in fiscal vear 2022 compared to $109
million in fiscal year 2021, whereas scholarship allowance was $25.5 million and $26.7 million,
respectively. Gifts, grants and contracts revenue decreased $6.1 million or 12% from fiscal year
2021 1o fiscal year 2022, primarily due to a combination of a $.8 million increase in gifts, a $1.9
million increase in non-capital federal grants and contracts activity, a $3 8 million decrease in
federal capital grant activity related to the construction of the Excellence Training Center, a $3.6
million decrease in a private grants for workforce development and energy storage traiming and a
$1.4 mullion decrease in Pell grants due to decreased enrollment. State appropriations increased
slightly from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022 Federal appropniations increased $8 2 million
or 33% from $25 million in fiscal year 2021 to $33.2 mullion n fiscal year 2022 The $332
million n fiscal year 2022 included $15.3 million of HEERF Student Aid, $17.3 million HEERF
Institutional Portion and $.6 million in Coronavirus Reliel Funds (CRF); whereas the $25 million
in fiscal year 2021 included $7.2 million HEERF Student Aid, $11.9 million Institutional Portion
$5.7 CRF and $.2 million in other grant revenue for the University’s radio station. Auxiliary
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enterprises revenue increased $2.4 million or 18% from fiscal year 2021 1o fiscal year 2022
primarily due to increased  Intercollegiate Athletie revenue including $.7 million in football
guarantees and $.8 milhon in NCAA revenue sharing. State capital appropriations decreased $6.3
million or 68% from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022 due to decreased activity on capital
projects funded with state capital dollars, primanly the Excellence Traimng Center. Investment
mcome decreased $21.1 million or 153% from fiscal year 2021 to fiscal year 2022 due to
significant unrealized losses resulting from an unfavorable environment.

Expenses
Operating expenses can be displayed by either functional classification or natural classification
The functional classification can be found on the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes
in Net Position. The Umiversity has no control over the pension/OPEB expenses attributed to the
implementations of GASBs 68 and 75; therefore, these expenses are segregated for presentation
purposes

Following is a recap of total operating expenses by functional classification

As Restated

Junc 30,2023 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021
Instructon $  ALRYT T2 S 65647172 5 ALYILI6Y
Rescarch 4,930,4%1 3265810 2798779
Public serviee 5,427,647 6463 (0H 4994104
Acadenue suppont 17952268 14,986,216 14,762,463
Student services 13,049,607 12,646,989 11,226,734
Inxotutional suppon 18,273,525 3511860 19982616
Operation and mamtenance of plant 19,292,126 21357439 17,803,456
Scholarships 20977118 35,103 587 27,886,962
Aunliary enterprses 27.577.345 24785497 20,594,663
Deprecation and amstiztion 17.944.329 17.20% 866 14.105.532
Lotal operating expenses 208,328,167 225,776,446 196,146,47%
GASH A% pension expense accnials 2,796,797 (17,403 322) (4.840,743)
GASH 75 OPFB expense acerual (4.432.021) (K.037.903) (26, (KR 204)
otal aperating expenses S 206692943 S 200335221 165.297.531

Following is a recap of total operating expenses by natural classification

June 30,2023 June 30,2022 June 30, 2021

Compensation 118001512  $120317,543 $ 110,767,229
Opentions 51,403,208 53,156,486 43431298
Scholarships 20977118 35,093,551 27842419
Deprecation and amortization 17,944,329 17.208 866 14,105,532
Operaung expenses without GASBs 68 and 75 accruals 208,328,167 225,776,446 196,146,478
GASB 68 pension expense accruals 2,796,797 (17.403,322) (4.840,743)
GASB 75 OPEB expense accrual (4.432.021) (8.037,903) (26.008.204)
Total operating expenses $ 206,692,943  $200335221  $ 165297531
22
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Excluding the impact of the pension and OPEB accruals, total operating expenses decreased $17.5
million or 8% from $225.8 million during fiscal year 2022 to $208 3 million during fiscal vear
2023 The net decrease was due to decreases of $2 3 million in compensation, $1.8 million in
operations, $14.1 million in scholarships and a $7 million increase in depreciation and
amortization

Total expenses supported with COVID-19 relief funds decreased $23 1 million from $24 mullion
n fiscal year 2022 compared to $.9 mullion in fiscal year 2023, including a $7.4 million decrease
m operations, a $.4 million decrease in compensation, and a $15 3 mullion decrease in scholarships

Overall compensation decreased $2.3 million or 2% from $120.3 million in fiscal year 2022 1o
$118 million in fiscal year 2023 Salaries and wages remained relatively flat from $87.3 mullion
in fiscal year 2022 compared to $86.7 mullion in fiscal year 2023, whereas fringe benefits
decreased $1 8 mullion or 5% from $33 mullion mn fiscal year 2022 to $31.2 mullion in fiscal vear
2023 Overall fringe benefits as a percentage of salanes and wages was 36% in fiscal year 2023
compared to 37 8% in fiscal year 2022 The overall decrease was primanily due 1o a $1.7 million
decrease in health care expense from fiscal year 2022 to fiscal year 2023

Operations decreased $1.8 million or 8% from $53 2 million in fiscal year 2022 to $51 4 million
n fiscal year 2023, Excluding the impact of the $7 4 million decrease related to the COVID-19
relief funds, operations increased $5.6 million or 12%, including a $1.4 million increase in travel
and a $.7 milhion icrease in repairs and maintenance largely due to clean-up costs related 1o a fire
n Ward Beecher Hall and flood damage to muluple buildings across campus dunng winter break

A large portion of aid is classified as scholarship allowance on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Overall, the University disbursed $44 3 million to students
n fiscal year 2023 compared to $6(0.5 million in fiscal year 2022, a decrease of $16.2 million. The
net decrease was primarily due to the prior vear including $15.3 million in federal aid to students
from HEERF funds. In addition, there was a decrease of $2.2 mllion of scholarships supported
by operating funds, an increase of $1.4 million supported by restricted funds, a $ 8 million decrease
in federal Pell grants, and a $.7 million increase in state grants

Depreciation and amortization increased $.7 million or 4% from $17 2 million in fiscal year 2022
to $17.9 million in fiscal year 2023.

Pension expense attributed to GASB 68 increased $20.2 million from (817 4) million in fiscal year
2022 to $2 8 million in fiscal year 2023; whereas OPEB expense attributed to GASB 75 increased
$3.6 mullion from ($8) million in fiscal year 2022 1o (S4.4) million in fiscal year 2023, The $20 2
million increase in pension expense was duc to a $7.2 million increase in the STRS Ohio plan and
a $13 million increase m the OPERS plan. The $3.6 milhon increase in the OPEB expense was
due to an $.8 million decrease in the STRS Ohio plan and a $4. 4 million increase in the OPERS
plan.  These expenses are the result of changes in the deferred outflows/inflows and habilities
related to pension/OPEB. The Umiversity has no control over the factors affecting these changes.

Excluding the impact of the pension and OPEB accruals, total operating expenses increased $29.8
million or 15% from $196.1 million during fiscal year 2021 to $226 million during fiscal year
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2022 The increase was due to ncreases of $9.5 mullion m compensaton, $12.3 million in
operations, and $7.2 million in scholarships

Overall compensation increased $9.5 million or 9% from $110.8 million i fiscal year 2021 1o
$120.3 mullion in fiscal year 2022 Salaries and wages increased $5.8 million or 7.1% from $81.5
million in fiscal year 2021 to $87.3 million in fiscal year 2022; whereas fringe benefits increased
$3.7 million or 12.8% from $29 3 mullion in fiscal year 2021 to $33 mllion in fiscal year 2022
Overall fringe benefits as a percentage of salanes and wages was 37.8% n fiscal year 2022
compared to 35.9% n fiscal year 2021 The overall increase reflects planned actions including the
call back of temporary layofls, restoration of pay reductions, lifting of a hinng freeze and the
cessation of furloughs made during fiscal year 2021 due to COVID-19. In addition, fiscal year
2022 reflects a voluntary separation or retirement program for faculty as pant of an academic
reorganization plan

Operanons increased $12 3 million or 28% from $43 4 milhion in fiscal year 2021 10 $55 8 milhion
in fiscal year 2022, The overall increase reflects planned actions as the University returns to pre
COVID-19 level acuvity

A large portion of aid 15 classified as scholarship allowance on the Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. Overall, the Umversity disbursed $60.5 million to students
in fiscal year 2022 compared to $54.5 muillion in fiscal year 2021, an increase of $6 million. This
net increase includes a $1.4 milhon decrease in federal Pell grants and an $8.1 million increase in
federal aid to students from HEERF funds. HERRF fund disbursements totaled $15.3 million
fiscal year 2022 compared to $7.2 milhion in fiscal year 2021

Depreciation and amortization increased $3.1 million or 22% from $14.1 million in fiscal year
2021 10 $17.2 million in fiscal year 2022 The inerease was primarily due to amortization on right-
to-use assets, resulting from the implementation of GASB 96

Pension expense attributed 1o GASB 68 decreased $12.6 million from ($4.8) million in fiscal year
2021 to ($17.4) million in fiscal year 2022; whereas OPEB expense attnibuted to GASB 75
increased S18 milhion from ($26) million in fiscal year 2021 to ($8) million is fiscal year 2022
The $12.6 million decrease in pension expense was due to a $10.5 million decrease in the STRS
Ohio plan and a $2.1 million decrease in the OPERS plan, The $18 million increase in OPEB
expense was due to an increase in the OPERS plan. These expenses are the result of changes in
the deferred outflows/inflows and liabilities related to pension/OPEB.  The Umiversity has no
control over the factors affecting these changes

See Note 13 for additional information on pension plans and other post-emplovment benefits
(OPEB).

Total operating and non-operating expenses for the University were $208,572,621, $202,002,777,
and $168,867.694 1n fiscal years 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively
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Economic Factors for the Future

Looking to the future, management believes the University 1s well-positioned to continue 1ts
favorable financial condition and level of excellence n service to students

Based on the most recent estimate provided by the Ohio Department of Higher Education, State
Share of Instruction (SSI) funding for the Unwersily for fiscal year 2024 1s expected 1o be 5.1%
greater than during fiscal year 2023, This increaseis pamally attributable to a roughly 1% increase
in the total statewide SSI appropnation that was enacted in the state of Ohio's operating budbu
legislation for the fiscal year 2023-fiscal year 2024 biennum. The University's increase in SSI
funding is also driven by improved performance with respect to student success outcomes,
underscored by a 14% improvement in the University’s six-year graduation rate between 2014 and
2021. SSI formula allocations continue to be tied 1o student success, with degrees awarded and
course completions serving as the primary drivers of SSI funding. Datasets used in the formula
are based on a three-year rolling average and are weighted to take into account various at-nsk
student characteristics. The SSI formula continues to factor in discipline and program costs and
enrollment levels.

The following graph reflects six years actual data for State Appropriations plus the budgeted
amount for fiscal year 2024,

State Appropriations
Fiscal Years 2018 through 2024
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Fall Semester Enrollment Trends
2014 through 2023

The following graph reflects nine years of actual data for Fall enrollment trends plus the 14" day
preliminary enrollment for Fall 2023
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Fall 2023 enrollment 1s 2.3% lower than the prior Fall semester on a full-ime equivalency (FTE)
basis, while on a head-count basis enrollment is essentially flat (-0.7%). FTE enrollment increased
from 10,149 in 2014 to a peak of 10,566 in 2018 while declining to 8,474 in 2023. The number of
new incoming undergraduate students for Fall 2023 was up by 1.0% compared to Fall 2022, This
increase was the result of having implemented an international student enrollment plan. Even
though a decline in overall enrollment has continued, efforts to target special populations has
counteracted demographic declines in a more strategic way

Freshman GPA averages were maintained at 3.51 for Fall 2023 with the highest GPA's in
University history at 3.52 duning both Fall 2022 and Fall 2021 despite YSU's shift to a test optional
policy for undergraduate admission over the last three years. The number of new Honors College
freshmen for Fall 2023 was 362, a 2.3% decrease from Fall 2022, Honors College freshmen
continuously contributes to the stabilization in and sustainability of the academic quality of YSU’s
student body. The impressive academic quality of our new students continues to be a point of pride
Nearly 60% of our new freshmen had a high school GPA of 3.5 or better. Multicultural freshman
increased by 14.3%. The number of Ohio counties represented in the Fall 2023 freshman class
stayed the same as Fall 2022 with 39 counties represented

The Umiversity’s first year freshmen that were retained to the second year decreased to 75.5% from

77.5% from last year. To improve retention, two years ago a First-year Student Success Seminar
was initiated 1t 15 required of all new incoming students and provides low student to instructor
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ratio for direct attention that focuses on the skills, capabilities, and capacities necessary to persist
and complete a degree. In addition, the advising structures across the colleges have been
redesigned with a director of advising who helps coordinate advising activities in a more proactive
fashion. In addition, the University has invested heavily in technology to enhance student success
including a degree-audit system (Penguin Pass) and a student advising system called CRM Advise

Student and parent expectations are evolving and require dramatically different recruitment and
enrollment strategies with targeted messaging. Accordingly, cfforts are underway to widen the
University’s appeal beyond its traditional footprint. These efforts advanced this fall with financial
investments made to YSU's marketing campaign targeting special populations. For Fall 2024 and
beyond, many iniiatives are underway to sustain and gain market share, including a new
multifaceted brand launch, known as KnowY, which will play a significant role in the University’s
ongoing marketing and recruitment efforts

YSU leadership understands the imperative need to align its academic programs with the needs of

the region, in the context of emerging accountabihty measures, that also intersects with workforce
education and innovation, to assure YSU has a strong presence in most career pathways, and as an
anchor institution, is a major contributor to regional sustainable prosperity by working to ensure a
bright and vibrant YSU future state

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION AT JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

urrent Assets

Cash and cash cquvalents
Investments

Restncted mvestments
Interest recavable
Accounts recavable. net

Pledge able. net
Loans wable. net
Inventonies

Prepad expenses and unearned chaipes

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets

Investments
Endowments and other restucted mvestments
Pledees 1ecevable. net
Other noncwrent assets
Net OPEB asset
Nondepreciable capatal assets
Depreciable capital assers, net

Total Noncurrent Assels

Total Assets
DEFERRED O UTFLOWS O F RESOURCES

Deferred outfows related to pension
Deferred ouNows related 1o OPER
Bond refuding

Tatal Deferred Outflows of Resources

LIABILITIES
Current Liabil

Accownts pavable
Construction pavable
Pavroll habilities
Honds pavable
Notes pavable
Leased hiabalinies - cquipment
Leased labalies - SBIT As
Compensated abscnces

ies

Other halilities
Total Current Liahilitics

Noncurrent Lis
Honds pavable, net
Notes pavahle
ed habalities - equipment
ed habilities - SBIT As
Compensated absences
Refundable advance
Net pension habiliy
Net OF (ELTTITEN
Tutal Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Service concession agreciments
Deferred mflows related 1o pension
Defersed nflows relaed 10 OPER
Tutal Deferred Inflows of Resources
NETPOSITION
Net imvestiment i capital assets
red, nonexpendabl
ed expendable - wils, grants, and student loans

Jmrestucied
Total Net Position

See accompanving notes to fmancial statements

June 302023

As Restated
June 302022

$20.392,242
17063 275

b R e
12995 GR7

403 240 7320410
150 145 994
9.472 11692 607
bH] 63171
YRA3T

30 36,212

I atd LoARd 1
uK12 86366 161
13274 430 14,805 228
13.216.99% FE 3340151
88755 140757
149 196 143 246

6. 776 unn 13.227.241

23,075, 20%
207 1052 Uil

251335100
208 370 737

267 632 053

378606

347 445 6us

9941 027

1260805 13035 309
1032333 THO035
1.329 132 1456254
270 25271 598

4994 077 LGS TV TR
1. 33 2325037
L N TORRTT
2351050 22080063
1203118 LO7%.0673
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7A1402% 66IK.T717
1 606 7949 1.232.497
DROLERE] I 733 060

0766942
9R27721
1139 700
4030018
5386477

127641 526
1465,

ENEFRLES
1030 839
1.252.5449
581255
3.36G4.254
172510
A5.A6T 057

—

200887 528

232 505 780

15 000
1043027
0382 360

132500
65195303
14578 K11

20470 490

799060614

160 487 D97

5,793 280
32,205,359
(56,495 049)

157,722,123

3,735,337
FLARTVOR
(32 1794

5 1) 90 Su3

=
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THE YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Investment settlement receivable
Pledyes recevable, net
Pledges recevable for Youngstown State Universiy, net
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Right-of-use operating lease assets
Propeny and equipment, net
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable
Crant commitments to Youngstown State University
Accrued habiliies and other
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Without donor restnictions
With donor restrictions

TOTAL NET ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

See accompanying nates to financial statements

June 30, 2023

June 30, 2022

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

s 2,288,180
310,743,503
2.000.000
1.894.9306
8.667.495

$ 1.630.642
306116478
5,170,262
3982190

2,621,547 1,160,165
500,777 .
29,156 209,391

S 333.927.994 $ 318.269.128

$ 451,728 S a913s2

10,902,150 10,907,374

77.590 75.042
11.831.4068 11,673,768
163,890,047 159.593.219
158,206479 147.002,141
322.096.526 306,595.360

§ 333927994

$ 318.269.128

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

OPERATING REVENUES

Twion. fees. and other student charges tnet of scholarship
allowance of 23,342,167 in 2023 and $25 455 Y62 n 2022}

Federal grants and contracts

State grants and contracts

Local grants and contracts

Private grants and contracls

Sales and services

Ausiliary enterprses

Orher operating revenues
Tutal Gperating Revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Instruction
Research
Pubhe senvice
Acadenuc support
Student services
Insituuonal support
Operation and maintenance of plant
Schalarships
Auxiliary enterprises
Depreciation and amaortization
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Loss

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Stale appropriations
Fedesal appropnations
Federal grants
Private gifts
Unrestricted investment (loss) income. net of iy estment expense
Restricted mvestment (loss) income, net of investment expense
Interest on capital asset-related debt
Other nonoperating revenues. net
Net Nonoperating Revenues
Gain Before Other Revenues, Expenses, and Changes

OTHER REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES
State capital appropriations
Caputal grants and gifis
Other revenue {expense). net
Tatal Other Revenues, Expenses, and Chunges
Change In Net Position

NET POSITION
Net Pasition at Beginning of the Year
Net Pasition at End of the Year

See accompanving noles 10 nancial statements

June 302023

As Restated
June 30, 2012

§ 0 R0343K] b I 1 P
EX IR ek 0,508 342
(.0661.393 SKTHMOT

355290 335094
500,843 LANLGIR
407285 BLLETE
17.542.203 15,700 442
2.8K2.503 1781713
116868523 [REERET
00.537.90v $5.477.683
44951037 314025
3475200 3.392.8K2
1K 106,534 1115867
13.16% 954 10075030
18430101 M0.R59.807
19.393.582 19,158 836
209T711K 35,103 587
7708174 2TABRSIN
17.544.329 17208806
00,692 943 20.335.221
(89814420 (H7. 849 415}
46396314 44378444
430 33228 720
X991 15683760
144900358 13421 828
SOx1L0TY 15.795.2%1)
1292165 (1.372.078)
(1862977 (L739.167)
420.74% 3UN. 166
K1AK0030 97073798
(K.344.384) 10.124.383
SH3LIN0 3023039
2140400 2R 595
7.097 (20, 140)
T.URN RN SH41A4H
(35600 13.905 877
142.347.689 126381812
3 LWL 3 4237089




THE YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY FOUNDATION

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER SUPPORT
Contnbutions ol cashi and other finandial assets
Contrbutions ol sonfinancial assets
Investment camings
Net realurad guns o sale of mvestuents
Net unrealvred change i kong-lemm ma estiments
Het assets telemed Fum restictons

TOTAL REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER SUPPORT

EXF
Distribition to Youngstis
tor scholarsdis i

Stute Lnprerare

prograns
Admusteative expendiiues
TOTAL EXPENSES.

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS

Net Ansets - Beginning of Year
Net Assets - End of Year

REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER SUPPORT
C
Conmbutions of noalisancial asets

trhutions of cash and other fuuncal ascts

Investmen camungs

Nt realizad gains on sl of mvestments

Net urealwed change n term investients

Het anwets teleased Erom reston

TOTAL REVENUES, GAINS, AND OTHER SUPPORT

EXPENSES
Iidnbution to Youngstown State o e
fen scholarships snd other programs
Adnumstrative expendiues

TOTAL EXPENSES

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS

S accomyu g motes b famial sttcmsaits

Jugie W, 2021

Withant Do With Do
Itestnctions Restnetions fomal
3 223200y 1625000 13847,225
53 7 1 9% T [RUIRTT)
LR O 60 020w
1932 K2 2485198 SINKUTT
16sa TV 14m247 [T
10310279 (30279
22M08.407 11204338 LT 3RS
L6n. 2K, 222
2360417
I8 A7T.
4 2% K28 120300 15,800 s

135,593 219

147002141

tie 393,300

3 FisE KALDET

3 13R.2064TY

122 ke 820

June 30,2

Wathaat 1 ant
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YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Student nntion and fees

Federal, state. and local grants and contracts
Private grants and contracts

Sales and services of educational and other departmental achvities
Pavments to supphers

Payviments to employees

Yayments {or benefits

Payments for scholarships

Direct lending receipts

Direct lending disbursements

Other receipts. net

Total Cash Flows Used In Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activities
Federal grams
Federal educational appropnanons
State educational appropnations
Private gifis
Other nonoperating expenses
Student loans collected
Student loan interest and fees collected
Total Cash Flows Provided by Noncapital Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of mvestments
Interest on investments
Total Cash Flows Used In Investing Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
State capital appropnations
Private capital gifts and grants
Purchase of capital assets
Prncipal payments on capital debt
Bonds payable proceeds
Interest payments on capital debt
Total Cash Flows Used In Capital and Related Financing Acti

Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

June 30, 2023

As Restated

June 30, 2022

$ 81,171,566 $ 80416200
15,322,888 11,899,200
629,693 1,207,054
18,290,991 16,840,090
(50,683,797) (52412,524)
(87,032,640) (87,027,622)
(31.276,974) (33,188 169)
(20,949,779) 135333319y
47 349,908 46,925 469
(47.048,678) (47,247.452)
2.817.987 2711442
(71.408.835) (95.000.541)
14,721 401 15.199.219
570,544 35357833
46,396,314 44378444
14791 665 13,503 303
318433 208 473
4,194 263918
369 18,567
77.102.920 109.019.757
25,752,922 23,841,587
(29,238 889) (29.655.107)
3.276.027 5.013.012
(209,940} (800.508)
6,273,794 2.022.796
2,623,014 6,502 334
(14,942.258) (11.627.896)
15,482,556) (5.108,741)
- 286375
(2.6601.174) (2,398 346)
(14,189.175) (10.323.478)
(8.705.030) 2.808230
20.097.272 26,292 042
$ 20392242 $ 29097273




YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT.)

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Operating loss
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in
operating activites
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for bad debts
Perkins adjustment-to agree to principal collected
Gain on sale of fixed assct
Changes mn asscts and habilities
Accounts recevable. net
Inventores
Prepaid expenses and uncarned charges
Net OPEB assets
Accounts payable
Accrued and other liabilities
Uncamed revenue
Compensated absences
Net pensio/OPEB habiliny
Deferred outflows-pensions and OPEB
Deferred inflows-pensions and OPEB
Net Cash Flows Used In Operating Activities

Noncash Investing and Financing Transactions

Right-to-use asset - equipment
Raght-to-usc asset - SBITA

See accompanving nofes to financial statements

June 30, 2023

June 30, 2022

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

S (RUE24420) 8 (KTXEUJ1S)
17 944 329 17208866
(h139) 2759
92,642 £
112,232} -
X60.280 U42.296
(3.542) 4043
(20.615) (3%.116)
TH6TIN [3.740,798)
313,714 42,685
166928 SEK A4
790.261 (343.773)
(6Y.K16) (280.X55)
72174408 (33,039.793)
(22.377.794) 15 411.913)
(3Y.345.61%) 36 731.279
S (71408 K35) 8 (US080.541)
§ 159 49% b
b 1.763.560 % 3.347.553

In July 2021, the University issued $28.063,000 10 Senes 2021 General Receipts bonds - The proceeds from
the bond sale were used for a current retunding of the Senies 2010 General Receipts bonds and Senes 2011
General Receipts bonds. resulting m a renrement of these bonds for $20.305 000 and $13. 185 000 respeehively

See Note 9 for further discussion on this non-cash transaetion

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Organization and Basis of Presentation

Youngstown State University (the Unmiversity or YSU) 1s a coeducational, degree granting state-
assisted metropolitan university and was established by the General Assembly of the State of Ohio
n 1967 The University 1s a component unit of the State of Omo. The Umiversity provides a wide
range of opportunities in higher education primanly to residents in northeastern Ohio and western
Pennsylvania  The University offers degrees at the undergraduate, graduate, and doctoral levels.

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, [he
Reporting Entity, and GASB Statement No. 61, Vhe FFinancial Reporting Entiy:  Omnihu, the
University's financial statements are included, as a non-major discretely presented component
unit, in the State of Ohio’s (State) Annual Comprehensive Financial Report.  In accordance with
GASB Statement No. 39, Determmmg Whether Certam Organizations are Component Units,
Youngstown State University Foundation’s (YSUF or Foundation) financial statements are
included, as a discretely presented component unit, in the Umiversity’s financial report by
presentation of the individual financial statements of the entity immediately following the
University’s respective GASB financial statements.  See Note 15 for additional information
regarding the Umiversity’s component unit

‘The University s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Amenica as prescribed by the GASEB,

As required by the GASB, resources are classified for accounting and reporting purposes into the
following four net position categories:

e Net investment in capital assets — Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
amortization, reduced by outstanding principal balances of debt attnbutable to the acquisition,
construction or improvement of those assets

*  Restricted, nonexpendable - Resources subject to externally imposed stipulations that they be
maintained permanently by the Umiversity. Such resources include the University’s permanent
endowment funds

e Resiricted, expendable — Resources whose use by the Umiversity is subject to externally
imposed stipulations that can be fulfilled by actions of the University pursuant to those
stipulations or that expire by the passage of tme

e Unrestricted — Resources that are not subject to externally imposed stipulations. Unrestricted
resources may be designated for specific purposes by action of management, Board of Trustees
or may otherwise be limited by contractual agreements with outside parties. Substantially all
unrestricted resources are designated for academic and research programs and ininatives,
capital projects, and operating reserves



YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis. The Umiversity
reports as a business type activity, as required by the GASB. Business type activities are those that
are financed m whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or services.

Change in Accounting Principle — Effective for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the University
adopted GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements
(GASB 96). Thi
the University’s subscription-based information technology arrangements. The adoption of GASB
96 has been reflected as of July 1, 2021

Beginning net position as of July 1, 2021 was restated for the effects of the Umiversity's adoption of

GASB 96 as follows
June 30,2021

as Ongnally GASB 9% July 1, 2021

Reported Adoption as Restated
Current assets § 94074484 s - S 940744384
Noncurrent assets 205.031.793 7.590.174 272.621.967
Total Assets 359106277 7.590.174 360,690,451
Deferred Outflows of Resources 19,957,699 - 19,957,699
Cumrent habilities 27,159,030 1636322 28,795,352
Noncurrent habilities 182.280.299 5.953.852 188.234.151
Total Liabilities 209.439.329 7.590.174 217.029.503
Deferred Inflows of Resources 43,242 835 - 43,242 835
Net Position $ 120,381,812 S - $ 126381812

The Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2022 was restated for the effects of the University’s
adoption of GASB 96 as follows

June 30, 2022
as Ongmally GASB 96 June 30, 2022
Reponed Adoption as Restated
Current assets 3 86360101 s - £ 86366161
Noncumment assets 264 874894 B.699.972 273.574.866
Total Assets 351,241,055 8.699.972 359941027
Deferred Outflows of Resources 25271.598 - 25271.598
Current habilities 27.162.689 2,683,306 29845995
Noncurtent habilines 127.294.072 5.818.255 133112327
Total Liabilities 154,456,701 8,501,561 162,958,322
Deferred Inflows of Resources 79.9006,614 - 79,906,614
Net Position $ 142,149.278 3 108,411 S 142.347.689
35

s statement establishes new requirements for accounting and financial reporting of

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

NOTES TO EINANCIAI.. STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

The $198.411 15 reflected as a reduction in operating expenses on the Statements of Revenues,
Expenses, and Changes m Net Position.

Cash Equivalents — The University considers all highly liquid investments with an onginal matunity
of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost, which
approximates Tar value and excludes amounts restnicted by board designation or whose use 1s
limited

Investments — Investments are reported at fair value based on quoted market prnices. Changes n
unreahized gains (losses) on the carrying value of investments are reported as a component of
investment income in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position Restricted
investments are compnised of endowment corpus and related spending funds.  Alternative
investments are generally less liquid than publicly traded secunties. These alternative investments
are intended 1o reduce market nisk, credit nsk and interest rate nsk - The Umversity beheves the
carrving amounts of these holdings (net asset values) are reasonable estimates of the finr values as
of year-end. Because these investments are not readily marketable, the estumated value 1s subject to
uncertanty, and therefore, may differ from the value that would have been used had a ready market
for the investment existed  Such difference could be matenal

Endowment Policy - Under Ohio law set forth in the Umform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Act (UPMIFA), as adopted in Ohio in 2009, the Board acts in a fiduciary capacity as trustee
of its endowment funds. UPMIFA requires that the Board exercise its fiduciary duties prudently and
consider both the chantable purposes and needs of the Umiversity and the purposes of the specific
endowment regarding current expenditures and preservation of the purchasing power of the funds
The Umversity Endowment Fund consists of 90 named funds. Each named fund is assigned a
number of shares in the Umiversity Endowment Fund based on the value of the gifts to that named
fund The University's endowment spending pohicy states that annual distributions each fiscal year
are set 10 5% of the twelve-quarter average of the market value for the precedimg twelve calendar
quarters ended September 30 Distnbutions greater than the calculated amount require wnitten
justification and Board of Trustees’ approval

Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable consist of transactions relating to tuition and fees,
awxihiary enterprise sales, grants and contracts, and miscellaneous sales and services  Accounts
receivable are recorded net of allowance for uncollecuble amounts.

Pledges Receivable — The University has a development services agreement with the Foundaton
As part of the agreement, the majonty of new pledges are recorded by the Foundation and payments
on University pledges are collected by the Foundation and remitted to the University on a monthly
basis. Prior to the agreement, the University received pledges and bequests of financial support from
corporations, foundations, and individuals.  Revenue 1s recognized when a gift representing an
unconditional promise to pay 1s received and all eligibility requirements have been met. In the
absence ol a conditional pledge, revenue 1s recogmized when the gilt s receved. Pledges are
recorded net of an allowance for uncollectible amounts and are discounted to net present value

Inventories - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or fur value,

36



YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

MNOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Capital Assets — Capital assets are stated at cost or acquisition value at date of gift. Right-to-use
assets including equipment and subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs)
are stated at present value of the cost over the contract term. Infrastructure assets are included in the
financial statements and are depreciated. The University’s capitahization threshold for equipment,
furniture, and vehicles is $5,000; and for buildings, building improvements, improvements other
than buildings, and right-to-use assets 15 $100,000. Land is capitalized regardless of cost. Library
purchases are excluded from capitalization and expensed as purchased.

Key estimates and judgments related to Right-to-use assets - SBITAs include how the university
determines the discount rate it uses to discount the expected subscription payments to present value
and the subscription term. The University uses the interest rate charged by the vendor as the discount
rate. When the interest rate charged by the vendor i1s not provided, the University generally uses its
estimated incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for subscriptions. The subscription term
includes the noncancelable period of the subscription. The University monitors changes in
circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its subscriptions and will remeasure the
subscription asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the
amount of the subscription liability. Right-to-use assets - SBITAs are reported with other capital
assets, and subscription liabilities are reported as leased liabilities — SBITASs in both the current and
long-term sections of debt liabilities on the statement of net position

Depreciation (including amortization of right-to-use assets) 1s computed using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful life or subscription term of the asset and is not allocated to the
functional expenditure categories. Historical collections, including assets that are held for public
exhibition, education, or research in furtherance of public service, which are protected and
preserved, are not depreciated

When capital assets or nght-to-use assets are sold, or otherwise disposed of, the carrying value of
such assets and any accumulated depreciation and amortization is removed from asset accounts and
the net investment in capital assets. The costs of nonnal maintenance and repairs that do not add 1o
the value of the capital asset or right-to-use assets or matenally extend the capital asset’s hife are
expensed when incurred  Estmated lives for night-to-use equipment assets are amortized over the
lesser of the estimated useful Iife or the lease term using the straight-line method  Estimated lives
for right-to-use SBITAs are amortized over the shorter of the subscription term or the useful life
Estimated lives are as follows

Classification Estimated Life
Buildings 50 years
Improvements to builldings 10 to SO years
Improvements other than buildings 15 years
Moveable equipment, furmiture and vehicles 3 to 20 years
Right-to-use assets - equipment 3 1o 20 years
Right-to-use assets - SBITAs 3to S years

Unearned Revenue — Unzamed revenue includes tuition and fee revenues billed or received prior to
the end of the current fiscal year end, but related to the period after the current fiscal vear. Also

"

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

included are amounts received from grants and contract sponsors that have not yet been earned and
other resources received before the ehigibility requirements are met

Compensated Absences — Accumulated unpaid vacation and sick leave benefits are recorded as
required by the GASB  The University uses the termination method to accrue sick leave
compensated absences on the Statement of Net Position. University employees earn vacation and
sick leave benefits based, in part, on length of service, Vacation pay 1s fully vested when earned.
Upon separation from service, emplovees are paid accumulated vacation and sick pay based upon
the nature ol separation (death, retirement, or termination). Certain limitations have been placed on
the hours of vacation and sick leave that emplovees may accumulate and carry over for payment at
death, retirement, or termination. Unused hours exceeding these himitations are forfeited

Refundable Advances from Government for Federal Loans — Funds provided by the United States
government under the Federal Perkins Loan program are loaned to qualified students and re-loaned
after collections. These funds are ultimately refundable to the government and, therefore, are
recorded as a hability in the accompanying financial statements. Congress did not renew the
program after September 30, 2017 and no disbursements were permitted after June 30, 2018 During
fiscal vear 2023, the Umiversity assigned all outstanding Perkins loans to the Department of
Education and hquidated the program.  This resulted in all outstanding loans and the refundable
advance being removed from the University’s Statement of Net Position as of June 30, 2023, See
Note 5 and Note 12

Deferred Outflows of Resources  In addition 1o assets, the statement of financial position reports a
separate section for deferred outflows of resources  This separate financial statement element,
deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to future periods
and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expenses) until then. The Unmiversity
reports deferred outflows of resources for refunding of bonds and certain pension-related and OPEB-
related amounts, including changes in expected and actual experience, changes in assumptions,
change in propoertionate share of contribution and certain contributions made to the plan subsequent
10 the measurement date. See Note 13 for more detailed information on the pension-related and
OPEB-related amounts.

Deferred Inflow of Resources - In addition to habilities, the statement of financial position reports
a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element,
deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to future periods
and so will not be recogmized as an mflow of resources (revenue) until then The Umiversity reports
deferred inflows of resources for service concesston arrangements and certain pension-related and
OPEB-related amounts, including changes in expected and actual expenence. changes in
assumptions, and the difference between projected and actual earmings of the plan’s investments
See Note 13 for more detailed information on the pension-related and OPEB-related amounts

Service Concession Arrangements ~ Service concession arrangements consist of an agreement with
a food service provider and an agreement with a beverage company for exclusive pouring rights
Funds received are contingent upon utihzation of services over a specified time period and are
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

amortized over the term of the contract arrangement. Unamortized amounts are reflected as deferred
inflows of resources on the Statement of Net Position

Pensions — For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the
fiduciary net positions of the State Teachers Retirement System of Ohio (STRS Ohio) and the Ohio
Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS) Pension Plans and additions to/deductions from
STRS Ohio’s/OPERS’ fiduciary net positions have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by STRS Ohio/OPERS  STRS Ohio/OPERS use the cconomic resources measurement
focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. Contribution revenue is recorded as contributions are
due, pursuant to legal requirements.  Beneft payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized as expense when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.
Investments are reported at fair value.

Other Postemployment Benefit Costs — For purposes of measuring the net other postemployment
benefit (OPEB) asset/liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB, and OPERB expense, information about the fiduciary net positions of the Pension
Plans (STRS Oho/OPERS) and additions to/deductions from STRS Ohio’s/OPERS’ fiduciary net
positions have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by STRS Ohio/OPERS. STRS

Ohio/OPERS use the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of

accounting, For this purpose, STRS Ohio/OPERS recognize benefit payments when due and payable
in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value

Income Taxes - The Internal Revenue Service has ruled that the University’s icome is generally
exempt from Federal income taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code. The University
is subject to tax on unrelated business income.

Measurement Focus and Financial Statement Presentation - The accompanying financial statements
have been prepared using the economic resource measurement focus, operating revenues and
expenses generally result from providing educational and instructional service in connection with
the University’s principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues include student
tuition, fees and other student charges. The University also recognizes as operating revenue grants
classified as exchange transactions and auxihary activities. Operating expenses include educational
costs, administrative expenses and depreciation and amortization on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition including State and Federal appropriations are reported as non-
operating revenues and expenses.

Scholarship Allowances and Student Aid — Tuition, fees, and other student charges are reflected net
of scholarship allowances in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.
Certain aid (such as loans and funds awarded to students by third parties) is accounted for as a third
party payment (credited to the student’s account as 1f the student made the payment). All other aid
1s reflected in the financial statements as operating expenses, or scholarship allowances, which
reduce revenues. The amount reported as eperating expense represents the portion of aid that was
provided to the student in the form of cash. Scholarship allowances represent the portion of aid
provided to the student 1n the form of reduced tuition

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT.)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 AND 2022

Release of Restricted Funds — When an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted resources are available, it 15 the University’s policy to apply restricted resources
first, then unrestricted resources as needed

Management’s Estimates — The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
disclosures in the notes to fimancial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates

Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncements - In fiscal year 2023, the provisions of the following
GASB Statements became effective:

= GASB Statement No. 91, Conduir Debt Obliganons, 1ssued May 2019 As a result of the
adoption of GASB Statement No. 95, the requirements of this Statement are effective for
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021 The primary objectives of this Statement
are to provide a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by issuers and eliminate
diversity in practice associated with commitments extended by 1ssuers, arrangements associated
with conduit debt obligations, and related note disclosures.

GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Privaie and Public-ublic Parmersfups and  Avaidabiliy
Pavment Arrangements, issued March 2020, The requirements of this Statement are effective
for fiscal years beginming after June 15, 2022 The primary objective of this Statement 1s to
improve financial reporting by addressing issues related to public-private and public-public
partnership arrangements.

GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements, 1ssued
May 2020 The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June
15,2022, This Statement provides gudance on the accounting and financial reporung for
subscription-based information technology arrangements for government end users

GASB Statement No. 99, Ommnibus 2022 1ssued April 2022, The requirements of this statement
are effective immediately, with the exception of requirements related to leases. PPPs and
SBITAs effective June 30, 2023, and the requirements related to financial guarantees and the
classification and reporting of denivative mstruments effective June 30, 2024, The Statements
enhances comparabihity i accounting and financial reporting and improves the consistency of
authoritative literature.

Except for the adoption GASB 96, the above standards had no impact on the statements as a whole
Refer to Change in Accounting Principle for details on the net position impact of GASB 96

Upcoming Accounting Pronouncements — As of the repont date, the GASB issued the following
statements not vet implemented by the University:
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o GASB Statement No. 100, Accownting Chunges and Error Corrections-an amendment of GASE
Statement No. 62, 1ssued June 2022, The requirements of this Statement are effective for fiscal
years beginning after June 15, 2023, The primary abjective of this Statement 1s 1o enhance
accounting and financial reporting requirements for accounting changes and error corrections to
provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, consistent, and comparable information for
making decisions or assessing accountability.

o GASB Statement No 101, Compensated Absences, 1ssued June 2022 The requirements of this
Statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. The objective of
this statement is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating
the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences.

The University has not yet determined the effect these Statements will have on the University’s
financial statements and disclosures.

Note 2 — State and Federal Support

The University recewves support from the State in the form of State appropriations and capital
appropriations.  As required by the GASB, these are reflected as non-operating revenues on the
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

State appropriations totaled $46,396,314 in fiscal year 2023 compared to $44,378 444 in fiscal year
2022. The State Share of Instruction (SS1) is determined annually by the Ohio Department of Higher
Education

Capital appropriations from the State totaled $5,831,180 in fiscal year 2023 compared to $3,023,039
in fiscal year 2022, and included funding for equipment and the construction/major renovations of
plant facilities

Funding for the construction of major plant facilities on the University campus 1s obtained from the
issuance of revenue bonds by the Ohio Public Facilities Commission (OPFC)

University facilities are not pledged as collateral for the revenue bonds. Instead, the bonds are
supported by a pledge of monies in the Higher Education Bond Service Fund established in the
custody of the Treasurer of State of Ohio. If sufficient monies are not available from this fund, a
pledge exists to assess a special student fee uniformly applicable to students in state-assisted
institutions of higher education throughout the State

Outstanding debt issued by OPFC is not included on the University’s Statement of Net Position. In
addition, the appropriations by the General Assembly to the Ohio Department of Higher Education
for payment of debt service are nol reflected as appropriation revenue received by the University,
and the related debt service payments are not recorded in the University’s accounts.

Note 3 — Cash and Cash Equivalents
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For financial statement presentation purposes, cash in banks has been combined with the
University's cash equivalents and temporary investiments.

Depository funds held in the name of the University are secured by a pool of securities with a value
of at least 105% of the total value of monies on deposit at the depository bank. All collateral, both
specific and pooled, 1s held by the Federal Reserve Bank or by a designated trustee as agent for the
public depositories used by the University.

Cash and Cash Equivalents at June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 consist of the following:

2023 2022

Camying Amount $20,392,242 3 29097272
FDIC Insured % 571,114 kY 750,000
Uninsured but collateralized by poals ofsceunties

pledged by the depository bunks 1.66% KK 1.263.508
Uninsured but assets held i name ot YSU not

pledged as collateral elsewhere 18,274,158 27,757 496
Bank Balance $20.514.153 $ 29771005

The difference in carrying amount and bank balance is caused by 1tems in transit and outstanding
checks. Deposits held in safekeeping by a bank, as trustee or escrow agent, included in cash totaled
$8,808 at June 30, 2023 and $47,230 at June 30, 2022, which approximates market. These deposits,
including interest on the investments, are retained in the trust for payment of principal and interest
on outstanding indebtedness.

Credit risk for deposits 1s the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the University’s deposits may
not be returned to the University. At June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022, all uncollaterahized or
uninsured deposits of the University are exposed to credit risk. The University’s investment policy
and asset allocation guidelines facilitate the management and monitoring of credit risk.

Note 4 — Investments

The University’s investment policy authorizes the University to invest non-endowed and endowed
University funds in compliance with provisions of the Ohio Revised Code including House Bill 524,
Section 3345.05 of the Ohio Revised Code, and all other applicable laws and regulations.

In accordance with the Policies of the Board of Trustees of the University, investment types are not
specifically limited but shall be made with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the
circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in like capacity and familiar with such
matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims. Furthermore,
investments shall be managed for the use and benefit of the University in a diversified portfolio that
focuses, over time, on the preservation of capital, minimization of cost and risk, and maintenance of
required levels of liquidity in the overall portfolio to meet cash flow requirements. The University
utilizes an investment advisor and investment manager for non-endowment funds.
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The Umiversity's investments measured and reported at fair value are classified according 1o the
following hicrarchy

Level 1 - Investments reflect prices quoted in active markets

Level 2 - Investments reflect prices that are based on a suimilar observable asset either directly
or indirectly, which may include inputs in markets that are not considered to be active.

Level 3 — Investments reflect prices based upon unobservable sources

Net Asset Value (NAV) -~ Investments valued at net asset value, therefore not subject to the
hierarchy classification.

The categonization of investments within the hierarchy 1s based upon the pricing transparency of the
strument and should not be perceived as the particular investment's nisk.

Assets classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued directly from a pnmary external
pricing vendor. Level 2 inputs are valued using a matrix pricing model

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY
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As of June 30, 2023, the Umiversity had the following investments measured at fair value

Fair Value Measurement
Investment Type Level 1 level 2 Level 3 NAV b

LIS Government Obhgations b - $ 9026379 % - 3 - % wme 3T
Corporate Bonds - G.615,662 - - U615 662
Foraign Bonds 183,756 - - 183,756
1S Government Bonds 1,155,392 - - 1,155,392
Bond Mutual Funds 14,508,592 - - - 14,508,502
Commaon Stock H,067 560 - - B KOGT 560
Fquity Mut Funds 27,063,210 - - - 27,063,210
Alternative Investments - - - 6,937 30K 6937 U8
Totals $ du6dnie2  § IOURLIRY - 6UITIUR K 76557949
As of June 30, 2022, the University had the following investments measured at fair value:

Fawr Value Measurement
Investment Type Tevel 1 level 2 Level 3 NAV Toral

118 Govermnment Obligations s - $ 7718933 LY - 5 - % 7718933

Corporate Bonds B Q079 554 5 . 979,554

Foreign bonds - 1843549 - - 184,359

IS Govermment Bonds - 1137368 - - 1,137,368

Hond Muotuul Funds 13,926,703 = - - 13,926,703

Conwmon Stock 7443067 = = 7443067

Fguuy Mutoal Funds 25,507 963 - = - 25,507 uhd
Alternative Investments - - - RAVEIIEES] 50001000

Fotals S AHu6T 783 $ 1%.120.214 3 E 5000000 8 TOORK07

Because alternative investments have no active market, they are valued using NAV. which 1s based
on information such as historical and current performance of the underlying assets, cash flow
projections, hquidity and credit premiums required by a market participant; and financial trend
analysis with respect to the individual fund manager. Furthermore, the hquidity of these investments
may be mmpacted by the lack of a present market of the interest in the funds, lock-up perniods,
redemption notice periods and lmits to the frequency of redemptions,

The following table provides additional information for those investments valued using NAV

Redemption
Iair Value June 30 Redemption Notice Unfunded
2023 2022 Frequency Penod Commutnwnt
Allemative nvesiments
Hedge tunds (A) $ 0 A4SA4030 5 5000000 Quarterly AS days ¥ -
Private credit (H) S 2373368 - Annual 3thdavs 266,454
Totals § 6937398 S S.000.000 3 26e6usy

(A)This category includes hedge funds through a limited parinership interest. The underlying
hedge fund managers ivest primanly i marketable securities that trade i well-estabhished
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and liqud markets.  Styles of managers include equity long-short, relative value, event
dniven, credit, or macro, among other sub-styles and specialties. The objective of the hedge
funds is 10 achieve an attractive risk-adjusted return relative to other asset classes and provide
diversification and long-term growth, The hedge funds are valued at fair value that are
reported in the investment manager financial statements, based on net asset value of the fund
at the end of the depicted time period.

(B) This category 1s a private credit strategy that oniginates loans for private companies. The
fund provides senior secured loans to performmg US. lower to middle market
borrowers/companies with $8-840 million in earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortization (EBITDA).  The fund provides customized credit solutions structured with
strong downside protection charactenstics to deliver consistent results through market
cycles

As of June 30, 2023, the University had the following investments and matunties using the
sepgmented time distnibution method:

Investment matuntics (in vears)

Investment Type Fair Value Less than | 1-5 6-10 More than 10
1S Govemment Obligations $ BU26379 5 2667R6Y S STuunew § 60 4] 3 -
Corporate Bonds 9,615,662 864 515 TRILAT R30.672 U468
F n Honds 183,756 - 143,756 - =
US Govermnment Honds 1155392 - §9.407 504,544 591,436
Bond Mutual Funds 14,508,592 14,508 592 - -

Common Stock R067.560 R’U67 560 = S =

Fauity Mutual Funds 27.0603.210 27.063.210 - - -

Altemative lnvestments 6,937 398 6437 398 - = 3

Totals § 76557949 % 60009144 ¥ 13R23230 8 JURI6GA2 8 H40, 904
St

All callable stocks were assumed to mature in less than one year

As of June 30, 2022, the Umversity had the following investments and maturities using the
segmented tme distribution method:

Investment matuntics (in years

Investment Type Fair Value Less than | 1-5 6-10 More than 10
S Govemment Obligations 8 7718933 5 UR2 159§ 645,624 h 1 123,587 % 167,563
Comporate Bonds 9.079,554 453,276 7,611,346 903,532 A0
Foreign Bonds 184,359 - 184,359 - -
LS Govemment Bonds 1,137 368 - 0,008 710,770 356,503
Rond Mutual Funds 13,926,763 13,926,763 - - -
Common Stock 7443067 7443067 - - -
Fquaty Mutual Funds 25.597.963 25,597,963 - . -
Altlemative Investments 5,000,000 5.000,000 - - z
Lotals $ T0OKR0T 8 53 4ll3,]]').i_ § 14581424 3 17378849 & 365 466

All callable stocks were assumed to mature in less than one year
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As of June 30, 2023, investments had the following quality credit ratings:

Investment Type e Value Auna Aa A Baa Unrated
Corporate Bonds £ V615662 % 114§ 634TH $3.525K17  $3.059K820  $1.025433
Foreign Bonds 1K3,7586 - - 183,756 - -
LIS Governmment Honds 1155392 1155392 = - = -
Bond Mutual Funds 14,508,592 5,670,597 515.661 1,332,472 6.314.640 675216
Fotals $25463402 % KT67.103 5 579.139 542445 $Y3T4A66  $LT700.049

As ol June 30, 2022 investments had the following quality credit ratings:

Investment T'ype Fwir Value Aua Aa A Baa Unrated
Corporate Bonds $ 2079554 5 L632484 £ 50920 $3433 $2956,725 $ 1,005,567
Foreign Bonds 184,359 - - 184359 - -
S Government Bonds 1,137,368 1,137,368 - - - :
Bond Mutual Funds 13.926.763 5.658.197 462.062 1.259.113 S.BO6YS1 740.440
Totals 824, 325 (44 $ R42R(49 § 512982 $4.877.430 $8.763.676  § 1,746,007

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate nisk is the nsk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect
the fair value of an investment. The University’s investment policy and asset allocation guidelines
facilitate the management and monitoring of 1ts exposure 1o fair value losses anising from mcreasing
interest rates

Credit Risk — Credit risk 1s the nsk that an 1ssuer or other counterparty to an investment will not
fulfill its obhigations. Credit quality, as commonly expressed in terms of credit ratings issued by
nationally recognized statistical rating orgamizations such as Moody’s Investors Services, Standard
& Poor’s or Fitch rating provides a current depiction of potential variable cash flows and credit nisk.
The Umversity's investment policy and asset allocation guidelines contain provisions to manage
credit nisk

Custodial Credit Risk — Custodial credit nsk is the nisk that in the event of the failure of the
counterparty to a transaction, the University will not be able to recover the value of investments or
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Investments that are both
unregistered and uninsured are exposed to custodial credit nsk if investments are held by the
counterparty, or are held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent but not in the name of the
University. At June 30, 2023 and 2022, the University had no exposure to custodial credit risk. The
University does not address custodial credit nisk in its investment policy and asset allocation
gudelines

Concentration ol Credit Risk — Concentration of credit nisk 1s the risk of loss atunbuted 1o the
magnitude of investment in a single issuer  As of June 30, 2023, 55,091,372 or 7% of the
Umiversity's portfolio was held i an intermediate bond fund and $6,082,117 or 8% was held n a
short-term bond fund. As of June 30, 2022, $5,113,700 or 7% of the University ‘s portfolio was held
in an intermediate bond fund and $5,343,570 or 8% was held in a short-term bond fund
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Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency nisk s the nisk that changes in exchange rates will
adversely affect the farr value of an investment or deposit. AtJune 30, 2023 and 2022, the Unmiversity
had no material exposure to foreign currency rnisk. The University does not address foreign currency
nisk 1n 1ts investment policy and asset allocation guidelines

Note 5 — Accounts and Loans Receivable

Accounts and loans receivable at June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 consist of the following

2023 2022

Accounts recevable, net
Student accounts, net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of §1,262,617m 2023 and S1.194,018 in 2022 § 3762898 $ 42M832
Grants and contracts, net of allowance for doubtful

accounts of $250 1 2023 and $246 1 2022 2294579 3,639.408
State capital appropnations 853,548 1,296,162
Other receivables, net of allowance for doubtiul

accounts of $69.993.1n 2023 and $13.639 n 2022 2561,105 2.477.205
Accounls recewvable, net § 9472130 S 11.692607
Loans recewvable - student notes, net of allowance for doubttul

accounts of $0n 2023 and $2,701 in 2022 = 98,137
Less. cument pormon - 08,137
Loans receivable, noncurrent portion $ - $ -

Note 6 — Pledges Receivable

Unconditional promises to give to the University recorded as pledges receivable at June 30, 2023
and June 30, 2022 were as follows:

2023 2022
Pledges recevable, net ol allowanee for doubtiul
accounts ol $0m 2023 and 000 2022,
and present value dicount o $11 245 m 2023
and 84,247 10 2022 & 147075 S 203924
Less curent portion 58,320 63,171
Pledpes receyable, noncurrent portion % HRTSS % 140753

Pledpes have been discounted 1o net present value using June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 U8
Treasury Note rates of 4% (5-year) in fiscal year 2023 and 3 25% (S-year) in fiscal year 2022,
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Note 7~ Capital Assets

Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as follows:

Nondeprecuhle assets
Land
Construction in progress
I histoncal treasures
Depreciable assets
Buildings
Lmprovements to buldings
Lp
Moveable cquipment and tumiturc

enwents other than buldhings

fchacles
Right-to-use asscts - cquipnent
Right-to-use assets - SBITAS

Lotal cost

Less sceumubited deprecition and anortization

Buildings
Improvements to huildings
Improvements other th,
Maoveable cquipment

nd fumiture

Vehwles
Right-to-use assets - equipnent
Right-to-use assets - SBITAS

Fotal accumulated deprecration and amaortization

Capstal assets, net

Iegmning Addinons/ Ending

Balance Transfers Reductions Balanee
S OIRSIKAM 8 7007 % =S IRADR AT
5,553,563 (143.522) - S.410041
114],338% 15,150 - 1056 488
2%9.233 637 10,830 w713 2H0234. 754
LIS u33 00y Y,582.323 - 125515342
44U 250 1441 338 - 51.33u 588
44 BER TRT 3376621 1,795,246 46470162
ETLLOIR 123932 - 1.834, U350
2O4X.TI0 SuduR 105,349 212,837
11.137.729 1.763.560) - 12,901 289
§39.984 680 16y, 34 KiH) Fu10.350 554474130
197,037,350 4528015 uss 2000 563410
35717062 b K23 - AL IR1RKS
30,031,661 2.539254 - 32570415
IXRT2.307 3,013,757 1,780,733 40,105,331
1,347,764 125,909 - 1.473.763
RIASID 370160 Uh 2|2 LR
2.437.757 2002321 - 5,330,078
306280433 17,844,320 1LRT7.900 322.340.862
$233. 704,247 % (1.544.5 $ 32450 $ 232127268
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Capital assets activity for the year ended June 30, 2022 was as follows:

Nondepreciable assets
Land
Construction i progress
Histoneal treasures

Depreciable asscets
Buildings
Improvements to buildings
Improvements other than buiklings
Moveable cquipment and fumiture
Vehicles
Right-to-usc assets - cquipment
Right-to-use assets - SBITAs

Total cost

Less accumulated deprecation and amortizition
Buildings
Improvements to builldings
Improvements other thun buildings
Muowveable cquipment and fumiture
Vehicles
Right-to-use assets - cquipment
Right-to-use ussets - SBITAS

Total accumulated depreciation and amartization

Capital assets, net

Note 8 — Payroll and Other Liabilities

Payroll and other liabilities at June 30, 2023 and 2022 consist of the following

Pay roll habiliies
Accrued compensation
Accrued benefits

Accrued health care benefits and msumnce pavable

Retrement sy stem contnbution pavable
Totals

Other labilitics
Deposits held in custody
Interest pavable
Other Labdines
Totals
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Restated Restated
Beginning Additions/ Inding
Balance Transters  Reducnions Balanee
5 17810443 § 7266 % - %5 IHS3K.609
1,515,662 4,037,801 5,553,563
1.021,538 (%] - 1,041 338
289171279 62,358 - 29,233,637
112735797 3.1u4222 - 115,933,010
ELERYR LY A5 000 - 44, HUR 250
41,550,738 3.697 586 359,537 44, HKH TRT
1519972 27H.515 H7.464 LTLLOIR
2.04K,7300 - 204N, 750
7.5%).174 3.547.555 % 11.137.729
523,414,484 17,017,202 447,006 5399840801
192,249 0AS 4,788 2KS - 1970037350
31,391,657 4,325,375 - 35.717,062
27,452,743 2578918 = 30,031,661
36693226 2536310 357.224 38872307
1301645 133,588 K769 1.347.764
427 8w UK. 633 H36,532
= 2.437.757 - 2,437,757
2MYU.516.265 17,208,866 R ] 306,280,433
$2IIKUB2IY 8 (lulesd) S 2308 8233704247
2023 2022
£ samaon $ 3238373
176,145 232.9%3
1615137 LGTO3KY
1 495,890 1358, 1400

L]

¥37.7%9 s AL
423637
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Estimated expenses ulimately 1o result, if unperformed commitments in process at June 30, 2023
are completed, totaled $9.4 million compared to $12.4 milhon at June 30, 2022, These amounts do
not constitute expense incurred or labilities

Note 9 — Bonds

In July 2021, the Umversity issued $28,065000 in Series 2021 General Receipts bonds. The
proceeds from the bond sale were used for an advanced refunding of the Series 2010 General
Receipts bonds and Senies 2011 General Receipts bonds. As a result, $20,305,000 of the 2010 bonds
and $13,185.000 of the 2011 bonds refunded are considered to be defeased and the liability was
removed from the Umversity's long-term obligations. For this current refunding, the reacquisition
price exceeds the net carrying amount of the old debt by $29,017. This amount was recorded as a
deferred outllow of resources and will be amortized over the remaining life of the new debt. As of
June 30, 2023 and 2022, the amount recorded as a deferred outflow was $24,434 and $26,771,
respectively. As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the outstanding principal of the 2021 General Receipts
bond was $28.065.000 Payments made in fiscal year 2023 were bond interest payments only. In
connection with the i1ssuance of the Series 2021 General Receipts bonds, the University also
recognized a net bond premium in the amount of $5,872,342 which will be amortized against interest
expense over the hife of the bond

Details of the bonds payable for the General Receipts Bonds, Senes 2021 as of June 30, 2023 follow

Maturity Ongimnal

Bond Component Rate Yield Through Principal
Senal Bond 4 (P 0235% 2024 $ 105000
Senal Bond 4 000%% 031% 2025 1,945,000
Senal Bond 4 000% 044% 2026 2.465,000
Senal Bond 4 000P%s 0571% 2027 2,560,000
Senal Bond 4 000% 078% 2028 2,660,000
Senal Bond 4 000% 090% 2029 2,770,000
Senal Bond 4 000%a 09%9% 2030 2.875.000
Senal Bond 4 000% 1 09% 2031 2,990,000
Senal Bond 4 .000% 117% 2032 3,110,000
Senal Bond 4 000%% 122% 2033 3,240,000
Senal Bond 3 0007 143% 2034 3,345,000
Total $ 28,065,000

In January 2017, the Umversity issued $25,525,000 in Series 2016 General Receipts bonds. The
proceeds from the bond sale were used for a partial advanced refunding of the Senies 2009 General
Receipts bonds and to construct a bookstore  As a result, $19,930,000 of the 2009 bonds advanced
refunded were considered to be defeased and the habihity was removed from the Umversity’s long-
term obligations. In addition, a deferred outflow of resources was recorded and will be amortized
over the remaining life of the new debt.  As of June 30, 2023 and 2022, the amount recorded as a
deferred outflow was $1,304,698 and $1,429 483, respectively

e
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Details of the bonds payable for the General Receipts Bonds. Series 2016 as of June 30, 2023 follow

Matuny Ongmnal

Bond Companent Rate Yield Through Principal
Sertal Bond LNET N 2T6% 2024 L3800
Seral Bond SAXKPS 293% 2028 1,455,000
Senal Bond S AXHPY JrP. 2026 1,525,000
Serual Bond S NP, 323% 2027 L6000
Seral Bond 3 KPa 33 207K 1,665,000
Senad Bond 3251 34, 2029 L7100
Serial Bond SUKP 31, 2030 1,780,400
Seraal Bond SAKKI 3 Sir 2031 1 KT70.000
Seral Bond 3 S0P 3 74% B2 145,000
Seral Bond 3.625% 3 R0 2033 2,000,000
Serad Bond 3.625%, 3oy, o3 285, x00
Fenm Band ERTTY A 412 038 310,00
Fenn Bond ALK 412% 2036 3204060
Fenn Bond EREVIEN 41 2% a7 335000
Ferm Hond A0, 412 RITET 350,000
Totul % 20,340,100

In June 2011, the Board of Trustees of Youngstown State Umiversity authorized through a Board
resolution the issuance of General Receipts Bonds, Series 2011 in the amount of $18.660.000. The
$19,006,093 in bond proceeds were received in July 2011, The Series 2011 Bonds were utilized to
pay costs associated with acquinng the University Courtyard Apartments, any necessary related
improvements thereto and to pay costs ol 1ssuing the Senies 2011 Bonds. In July 2021, the remaining
principal balance of $13,185,000 was refunded with the issuance of the Series 2021 General Receipts
bonds and the liability was removed from the Umversity’s long-term obligation

As part of the American Recovery and Remvestment Act of 2009, states and local governments are
permitted to 1ssue two types of taxable obhgations, referred 10 as Build Amenca Bonds (BABs)
The BABs include federal subsidies to offset a portion of interest costs as an alternative to 1ssuing
traditional tax-exempt obligatons

In March 2010, the University issued $25 335000 of General Receipts Bonds (Taxable Build
America Bonds), Series 2010 to provide funding to pay costs associated with facilities planning for
the University’s College of Science, Technology, Engineening and Mathematics (STEM), convert
the old college of business bulding for use as a laboratory, office and classroom space, renovate
Kilcawley Center, reconfigure and replace campus parking facilities, construct the WATTS Center,
relocate certain existing outdoor athletic facilitics and pay the costs of 1ssuance of the Series 2010
Bonds. In September 2011, approximately $9.9 million was re-allocated from the Kilcawley Center

project to Academic building renovation projects. In July 2021, the remaiming prineipal balance of

$20,305,000 was refunded with the issuance of the Series 2021 General Receipts bonds and the
liability was removed from the Umiversity's long-term obligation

w
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The University designated the Series 2010 Bonds both as Build Amernica Bonds and as Qualified
Bonds and mtends to apply for Credit Payments pursuant only to the extent that the Senes 2010
Bonds remain Qualified Bonds, which requires the University to comply with certiun covenants and
to establish certain facts and expectations with respect to the Senies 2010 Bonds, the use and
investment of proceeds thereof and the use of property financed thereby

In March 2009, the University issued $31.255,000 of General Receipts Bonds, Senies 2009 1o
acquire, construct and equip the new Wilhiamson College of Business Admimstration butlding,
renovate and replace portions of the existing Wick Pollock Inn, refund the remaining General
Receipts Bonds, Series 1997 and Series 1998, refund the General Receipts Bond Anticipation Notes,
Series 2008 (BAN), and pay a portion of the costs of 1ssuance of the bonds  In January 2017,
$19.930,000 of the bonds were advanced refunded with the ssuance of the Series 2016 General
Receipts bonds The balance of the amount defeased and put in escrow was $15.970.000 at June 30,
2023 and $17,030,000 at June 30, 2022

The indebtedness created through all issues of the General Receipts Bonds 1s bound by the Amended
and Restated Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 2009, the First Supplemental Trust Indenture
dated February 2010, the Second Supplemental Trust Indenture dated July 1, 2011, the Third
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated December 1, 2010, and the Series 2021 Bonds are also bound
by the Fourth Supplemental Trust Indenture dated June 1, 2021, The debt s seeured by a pledge off
all Unmiversity general receipts, excluding state appropriations and receipts previously pledged or
otherwise restricted. The University has complied with all covenant requirements

Maturities of all bonds payable and debt service for fiscal years subsequent to June 30, 2023 follow
(also see Note 12):

General Reeeipts Bonds

Fiscal Year Pancipal Intcrest Total
2024 S 1485000 § 1907694 £ 3302604
1125 34000060 1.TUS.X19 5195 K19
2026 3.990,00K) 1633119 5623114
227 S 160,000 1454404 S.604.49
202K-2032 23 375,600 460,693 27,479,643
2032-2037 LLA45. 000 s701.027 12,216,227
238 350000} 7.000 ERy ALY

Fotals 348 405 (KK} $11.974.(46 % 60,379 (46

Federal subsidies received by the University were SO fiscal year 2023 and $16.613 in fiscal yeur
2022 These are reported as non-operating federal grant revenue.  Interest expense on indebtedness
was $1,212,601 in fiscal year 2023 and $1,321,249 in fiscal year 2022

The Umversity’s Trust Agreement goverming all outstanding general receipts bonds contming a
provision that in an event of default, the Trustee shall, within five business days afier having
knowledge of that event of default, give written notice to the Umiversity. The trustee shall also give
the oniginal purchasers of cach senies of Bonds then outstanding, and to the bondholders and any

o
(1)
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other paying agents notice of each event of default within 90 days after having knowledge of the

occurrence thereof  The Trust Agreement also contains a provision, that in the case an event of

default has occurred, the Trustee may, upon wrtten request of the holders of at least 25% in
aggregate principal amount of the bonds then outstanding, declare the principal of all bonds
outstanding and the interest accrued to be due and payable immediately

The lollowmng constitutes an event of default under the Trust Agreement:

a. Failure to pay any interest on any Bond, when it becomes due and payable.

b Failure to pay the principal of or any redemption premium on any Bond, when 1t becomes
due and payable, whether at maturity or by acceleration or call for redemption;

¢ Failure to perform or observe any other covenant, condition or agreement contained i the
Bonds or the Trust Agreement and to be performed by the Umiversity, which failure shall
have continued for a period of 30 days after written notice of it 1o the Umiversity given by
the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the bonds then
outstanding.

Note 10 — Notes Pavable

During fiscal year 2016, the University entered into a 14-year performance contract with Johnson
Controls for campus energy savings measures. The contract amount of $16 million includes an
assured performance providing for an annual measured cost savings of not less than $2 million per
year and was financed as a direct borrowing through PNC Equipment Finance over 14 years at an
interest rate of 3.366% and requires annual installment payments. In September 2020, PNC
Equipment Finance sold, assigned, and transferred the note payable to Huntington Public Capital
Corporation. Security of the debt is limited to the revenues appropriated for such purpose

Details of the revised installment schedule follows:

Fiseal Year  Principal Interest Tortal
2024 ¥ 1203118 ¥ 371,03 % 1579211
2028 1,324,774 330,618 1,655,392
2026 1438677 2RH,051 1,724,728
2027 1,549,702 237.652 1,787,354
2028 1,712,894 185518 1LYOK 412
2000 | 869393 127.894 1 997 287
2030 1,932,281 65,005 1,997 286

Totals $ 11,030.839 & 1603831 % 12,634,670

Interest expense on indebtedness was $373,877 in fiscal year 2023 and $409.834 in fiscal year 2022

The following constitutes an event of default under the master agreement:
a. Falure to make payment as 1t becomes due, and any such falure continues for ten (10) days
after the due date,
b, Falure to perform or observe any obligations under Section 12.1, 14 or 18,1 hereof,

S
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¢ Failure to perform or observe any other covenant, condition or agreement to be performed or
observed by 1t under the agreement and such failure 1s not cured within thirty (30) days after
recerpl by the borrower of written notice thereof by the lender.

Note 11 — Leased Li cs

The University leases certain assets from various third parties. The assets leased includes print shop
and printer/copier equipment. Payments are generally fixed monthly  Future principal and interest
payment requirements related to the University's lease liability at June 30, 2023 are as follows

Year Fnding Junc 30, Principal Interest Total
024 % 264,734 % O BRA % 274,620
2025 266,783 7.837 274.620
2026 268,870 3,750 274,620
027 270,996 3.624 274,620
2028 273,162 1,458 274,620
229-20133 549.U55 45 A0
Fotal s 1404500 5 28,600 3 1433100

The University obtams the right to use vendors™ information technology software through various
long-term contracts. Payments are generally fixed monthly. Future principal and interest payment
requirements related to the University s subscription habihity at June 30, 2023 are as follows:

Year Inding June 30, Principal Interest Total
2024 8 2755447 S 197506 $ 24952053
2025 1,769,542 116,103 1 RS 645
2026 1,507,850 56,887 1,564.737
2027 1.382.226 4372 1.386, 598

Fotal & 7.415.065 %  374.868 N 7 7¥0U33

See Note 7 Capital Assets for the total amount of right-to-use assets and the related accumulated
amortization,
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Note 12 — Long-Term Li excluding net pe

Long-term liability activity (also see Notes 9, 10, and 11) for the year ended June 30, 2023 was as
follows:

Beginning Ending Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion
Bonds payablc

Creneral recepts bonds pnncipal $49.725 000 5 - S 1320060 SR 405 (XK) S LANS DD
Unamortized premiumydiscount 5.602.063 - KEU (165 4,712,908 Kb 56
Bonds payahle, net 55,327,063 - 2200 065 53, 117,99% 2351056
Nuote payable 12,108,512 - 17K AT 11.030,.%309 1,203,118
Leased habilities - cquipment 1,560,240 159 4u8 355238 1,404,500 264,734
[eased labihitics - SBITAS K501 561 1.763 5601 2 RSL056 7415065 2,755,447
Compensated absences 6,314,384 TIO000 179816 6,244,572 KSK. 095
Refundable advance 172310 - 172310 - -
Fotal long-tenm habilitics $ K3 U25.074 % 2033058 S 6745158 £79.212 974 S 7432450

Long-term liability activity (also see Notes 9, 10, and 11) for the year ended June 30, 2022 was as
follows

Restated Restared Restated
Begmnmy Inding Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion

Honds payable
Creneral recepts bonds prncipal %56 405 (00 £ 2K OGS (00 534,745,000 SA9.725 (80 £ 132000

I namortzed premmmydis count SH0.643 5,872,342 KS(u32 5,602,063 HNU (65
londs payable, net S6,UKS (43 33437342 35,505,422 55.327.063 22065
Note payable 13,050 950 - LSRR 12,189,512 1,078,673
Leused habilitics - cquipment 1,767,368 - 267129 1,.500.230 247,691
Leased habilities - SBITAS TS5, 174 3,547,555 2636168 R.501,56]1 2,683 306
Compensated absences 6,545 243 - 2%, 855 6,314,385 S, 134
Refundable advance 670,781 - AUK 471 172310 i

Fotal long-term habilities 3 HA 664, 166 % 374848497 H <400, 22K URY S R3U2S T4 % 7,168 e

Note 13 — Employee Benefit Plans

Plan Descriptions

The University participates in the State Teachers Retrement System of Ohio (STRS Ohio) and the
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS), statewide, cost-sharing, multiple-emplover
defined benefit public employee retirement systems governed by the Ohio Revised Code (ORC) that
covers substantially all employees of the University  Each system has multiple retirement plan
options available to its members, with three options in STRS Ohio and OPERS. Each system
provides retirement, survivor, and disability benefits to plan members and their beneficianies. The
systems also each provide post-employment health care benefits (including Medicare B premiums)
1o retirees and beneficiaries who eleet to receive those benefits

w
w
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Fach retirement system issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements
and required supplementary information for the pension and post-ecmployment health care plans
The reports may be obtained by contacting:

State Teachers Retirement System of Oho Ohio Public Employees Retirement System
275 E. Broad Street 277 East Town Street

Columbus, Ohio 43215 Columbus, Oho 43215

(B88) 227-7877 (800) 222.7377

AVAVIY ‘;‘r,\l1l]_(|r!' WAWW Opers org

Contributions

State retrement law requires contributions by covered employees and their employers, and Chapter
3307 of the Oo Revised Code (ORC) limits the maximum rate of contributions.  The retirement
boards of the systems individually set contributions rates within the allowable hmuits. The adequacy
of employer contribution rates 15 determined annually by actuarial valuation using the entry age
normal cost method.  Under these provisions, each Umiversity’s contribution is expected 1o finance
the costs of benefits eamed by employees during the year, with an addittonal amount to finance a
portion of the unfunded accrued hability.

Member contnibutions are set at the maximums authonized by the ORC. The plans™ 2023 and 2022
emplover and member contribution rates on covered payroll to each system are

Member
Contribution
IEmployer Contnbution Rate Rate
Post-
Retrenent Death

PPension Healtheare Benctits Medicare B Total Total

STRS Ohy 140% e, 0 0ir. 1aurt. 14(r
OPERS-Stte/Local 1447 0P 0 01 [ENTN 100,
OPERS-Law Entorcement I8 1% 0y oma i, IR 1% 13 (M

The required and actual contributions to the plans are

For the yeurs ended 6/30

2023 2022
Pension OPER Pension QP
STRS $ 4505362 % - ¥ A760,737 % -
OPERS 5.557.191 - 5,301,044 -
$ 10152553 § - S 10 1S83R1 % -

Benefits Provided
STRS Ohio
Plan benefits are established under Chapter 3307 of the ORC, as amended by Substitute Senate Bill

342 in 2012, gives the Retirement Board the authonty to make future adjustments to the member

56
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contribution rate, retirement age and service requirements, and the COLA as the need or opportunity
arises, depending on the retirement system’s funding progress

Effective August 1, 2017-July 1, 2019, any member may retire who has (1) five years of service
credit and attained age 60; (2) 27 years of service credit and attained age 55, or (3) 30 years of
service credit regardless of age. Effective August 1,2019-July 1, 2021, any member may retire with
reduced benefits who has (1) five years of service credit and age 60, (2) 28 years of service credit
and age 55; or (3) 30 years of service credit regardless of age. Beginming August 1, 2015, chgibihty
requirements for an unreduced benefit changed  The maximum annual retirement allowance,
payable for life, considers years of credited service, final average salary (3-5 years) and multiplying
by a factor ranging from 2.2 percent 1o 2.6 percent with 0.1 percent incremental increases for years
greater than 30-31, depending on retirement age

A defined benefit plan or combined plan member with five or more years of credited service who 1s
determined to be disabled (illness or injury preventing individual’s ability to perform regular job
duties for at least 12 months) may receive a disability benefit. Additionally, eligible survivors of
members who die before service retirement may qualify for monthly benefits. New members on or
after July 1, 2013, must have at least 10 years of qualifying service credit to apply for disability
benefits.

A death benefit of $1,000 is payable to the beneficiary of each deceased retired member who
participated in the plan. Death benefit coverage up to $2,000 can be purchased by participants in all
three of the plans. Various other benefits are available to members' beneficiaries.

STRS Ohio provides access to healthcare coverage to retirees who participated in the Defined
Benefit or Combined Plans, and their dependents  Coverage under the current program includes
hospitalization, physicians’ fees, prescription drugs, and partial reimbursement of monthly Medicare
Part B premiums. Pursuant to the ORC, the State Teachers Retirement Board (the “Board”) has
discretionary authority over how much, if any, of the healthcare costs will be absorbed by STRS
Ohio. All benefit recipients pay a portion of the healthcare cost in the form of a monthly premium

OPERS

Plan benefits are established under Chapter 145 of the ORC, as amended by Substitute Senate Bill
343102012 The requirements to retire depends on years of service (5 10 30 years) and from attaining
the age of 48 to 62, depending on when the employee became a member. Members retinng before
age 65 with less than 30 years® service credit recerve a percentage reduction in benefit, except for
public safety and law enforcement participants. Member retirement benefits are calculated on a
formula that considers years of service (5-30 years), age (48-62 years) and final average salary, using
a factor ranging from | percent to 2.5 percent

A plan member who becomes disabled before age 60 or at any age, depending on when the member
entered the plan, and has completed 60 contributing months is cligible for a disability benefit

A death benefit of $500 - $2,500 is determined by the number of years of service credit of the retiree
Benefits may transfer to a beneficiary upon death wath 1.5 years of service credits with the plan

=
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obtained within the last 2.5 years, except for law enforcement and public safety personnel who are
ehigible immediately upon employment.

Benefit terms provide for annual cost-of-living adjusuments to each employee’s retirement allowance
subsequent o the employee’s retirement date. The annual adyustment, 1f applicable, 1s 3 percent, or
an amount based on the average percentage increase n the Consumer Price Index, capped at 3
percent

Net Pension Liability, Deferrals, and Pension Expense

At June 30. 2023 and 2022, the University reported a hiability for its proportionate share of the net
pension habihty of STRS Ohio/OPERS. For June 30, 2023, the net pension liability was measured
as of June 30, 2022 for STRS Ohio and December 31, 2022 for the OPERS plan. For June 30, 2022,
the net pension lability was measured as of June 30, 2021 for STRS Ohio and December 31, 2021
for the OPERS plan  The total pension habihity used to calculate the net pension liability was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates. The University's proportion of the net
pension Hability was based on a projection of 1ts long-term share of contributions to the pension plan
relative to the projected contributions of all participating reporting units, actuarially determined.

Percent Pereent

Measurement Net Peasion Liability roportionate Share Change Change

Plan Date 2023 2022 2023 2022 2022-23 202]1-22
STRS Ohiwo June 30 5 SHIAY556 % 36011446 02616700 0 281650% -0 0199R0%, -0 0329857,
OPERS December 31 69471970 19,455,611 0237134%  0.234737%  0.002387% 0011467,

$ 127641526 % 55.467.057

For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the University recognized pension expense of
$12,949 350 and (57,244,941), respecuively. At June 30, 2023 and 2022, the University reported
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the
following sources

2023 2022
Deferred Deferred Defered Deferred
Outflows of Inflows of Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources
Dufferences between expected and actual $ 3131520 § 308701 § 2188288 § 800,498
expenence
Changes of assumptions 7,741,991 5,239,744 12,619,750 -
Net difference between projected and actual
eamings on pension plan investments 22223881 - - §5.754.267
Changes m proportion and differences between
University contubutions and proportionate
share of contnibutions 710,071 8,494 682 688,335 8,640,538
University contnbutions subsequent
to the measurement date 7.451.333 - 7.538.936 -
Totals $ 41.260.805 § 14.043.127 $ 23.035309 _§ 65.195303
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources/(deferred inflows of resources) related to
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows

Year Ended June 30 Amount

2024 s 454,017

2025 1,537,178

2026 1.923.175

2027 15793,511

2028 13,170
Thereatter 45,268
Totals § 19.706,345

[n addition, the contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be included as a reduction of

the net pension hability in the next year

Net OPER Liabiliny/(Asset), Deferrals, and OPEB Expense

At June 30, 2023, the University reported a hability/(asset) for s proportionate share of the net
OPEB habihty/(asset) of STRS Ohio/OPERS. For June 30, 2023, the net OPEB hability/(asset) was
measured as of June 30, 2022 for STRS Ohio and December 31, 2022 for the OPERS plan. For June
30, 2022, the net OPEB lhability/(asset) was measured as of June 30, 2021 for STRS Ohio and
December 31, 2021 for the OPERS plan. The total OPEB hability/(asset) used to calculate the net
OPEB hability/(asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of those dates, except OPERS
which used an actuarial valuation dated December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, rolled forward
10 the measurement date by incorporating the expected value of health care cost accruals, the actual
health care payments. and interest accruals during the year for the defined benefit health care plans

Typically, the University’s proportion of the net OPEB lability/(asset) would be based on a
projection of ats long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relatve to the projected
contributions of all participating reporting units, actuanally determined, except as noted below.

For plan vears ending June 30, 2022 and 2021, STRS Ohio did not allocate employer contributions

to the OPEB plan, Therefore, STRS Ohio’s caleulation of the employers’ proportionate share 1s
based on total contributions to the plan for both pension and OPEB

For plan years ending December 31, 2022 and 2021, OPERS did not allocate employer contributions
1o the OPEB plan. Therefore, OPERS’s calculation of the employers’ proportionate share 1s based
on total contributions to the plan for both pension and OPER.

Percent Percent

Measurement  Net OPEB Liability (Asset) Proporntionate Share Change Change

Plan Date 2023 2022 2023 2022 2022-23 2021-22
STRS Ohio June 30 S (6776,000) § (5.938,000) 0261670° 0281650% -0.019980% -0033002%
OPERS December 31 |,465.478 (7.289.241) 0232424% 0232723% -0000299°% 0010648%

$ (5.310.522) § 13:3272341)
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For the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, the University recogmized a credit to OPERB (revenue)/
expense of $4,.432021 and $8,037,903, respectively. At June 30, 2023 and 2022, the University
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPER from the
following sources

2623 2022
Deferred Deferred Deferred Deferred
Outflows of’ Inflows of’ Outflows of Inflows of
Resources Resources Resources Resources
Differences between expected and actual 5 U8.000 § 1383547 8 200000 % 2193606
expenence
Changes of assumptions 1,720,365 4921778 379,406 6,493 602
Net difference between projected and actual
eammgs on OPEB investments 3028491 - - 5.120.990

Changes m propartion and differences between

Umiversity contributions and proportionate

share of contnbutions 85477 7044 190,035 770,547
Universnty contnbutions subsequent

to the measurement date - - - 2
Totals $ 4932333 S§ 06382369 § 780,035 § 14578811

Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources/{deferred inflows of resources) related 10 OPEB
will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows

Year Ended June 30 Amount

2024 S (1.102235)
2025 (433.193)

2026 179.507

2027 1,099,632
2028 (396,499)
Thereafter (797.248)
Totals S (1.450.036)

In addition, if apphcable, the contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be included as
a reduction of the net OPER liabihity/(asset) in the next year.
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Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension hability and OPEB liability/(asset) is based on the results of an actuanal valuation

and were determined using the following actuarial assumputions for the University’s current year

STRS Ohwo

OPERS

Valuation date - Pension
Valuation date - QPR

Junc 30 2022

December 31, 2022

June 30, 2022

December 31, 2021

Actuanal cost nwthod

Entry aee nomul

Indivadusl enry aue

Cost ol hving

None

2 05% - 3 0%

Salary ncreases, mcluding
nllution

2500 - B 50

a - 10 75%

Intlutiin

2 St

2 75%

Investment rute ol
return - Penswon

T UM%, net ol nves iment expense
ncluding inflaton

HH0% net ol mvesinent expense,
meluding mtlation

Investment rate of
retum - OPEN

T OO0, net ol myestment expense
ncluding mnflation
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The following are actuarial assumptions for the University’s prior year

STRS Ohio

OPERS

Valuauon date - Pensiwon

June 30, 2021

December 31, 2021

Valuation date - OPEB

June 30, 2021

December 31, 2020

Actuanal cost method

Entry ape normal

Cost of iving

Indwidual entry ape

None

Salary increases. ncluding
nflation

250 - 1250%

Inflation

250%

275%

Investment rate of
return - Pension

7.00%, net of nvestment expense
mcludmyg nflation

6O, net olinvesiment expense,
meluding ntlation

Health cure cost trend nites

6% TRV, 1o Y % iinal, 4% ultumate

5 Str . 3 50F4 ulimate in 2036

Iapencnce study dute
Monalty basis

Penod ol S years ended June 30, 2023

Penod of S v ended December 31, 2020

Post-Reurement: Pub-2000 Teachers
Heahhy Annunant Monalny Table,
adjusted 1AL Tor males, projected
forward gencrationally using monaliny
mprovement scake MP-2020 Pre-
Retrement Pub-2010 Teachers
EFmployee Table udjusted V8% tor
fermales, projected lonvard
generabonally using monahity
improvement scale MP-2020 Post-
Retrement Dhisabled Pub-2010 Te
Disubled Annuitant Fable projected
Forward pencrutionally using monality
umprovement scale MP-2020

chers

Pre-retrement monaliy rates are bused on
131F% ol the Pub-2010 General Employee
Monalty tables (mubes and femules 1 lor
State and [ ocal Govemment divisions
and 170 of the Pub-2010 Satety
Employee Monaly wables omales and
fenules ) for the Public Salety and Taw
Enlorcement divisions Post-renrement
monahty rates are based on 115% ol'the
PubG-2010 Reuree Monahty Tables
(muales and fenules) lorall divisions. Post-
retrement mortality rutes for disabled
renrees are hased on the PubNS-2010
Disubled Retiree Monality Tubles fmales
and femules) forall dwisions Forall ol

the previously descnbed tables, the base
year s 2010 und mortality fates for g
particular calendar year are detenmned by
applying the MI-2020 monaliny
improvement scales (nules and females)
to all ol these tables
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Investment rate of’
return - OPEB

690%, net of mvestment expense,
includmg inflation

7 007, net ol investment expense
ncluding nflaton

0007, net of nvestment expense,
including inflation

Health care cost trend rates

-16 2% 10 30 (% inmal, 4% ulumate

5 50% uitial, 3 50P% ultimate in 2034

Expenience study date

Period of § years ended June 30, 2016

Penod of 5 years ended December 31, 202(

Monalty basis

RP-2014 Annunant Monalty Table wath
5(P4 of rates through age 69, 70% of
rates between 70 and 79, %% of rates
between ages 80 and 84, and 100% of
rates thereafter, projected forward
generationally using monality
improvement scale MP-2016

Pre-retirement monalty rates are based on
130% of the Pub-2010 General Employee
Monality tables (males and females) for
State and Local Government divisions
and 170% of the Pub-2010 Safety
Employee Mortality tables (males and
females ) for the Pubhic Safety and Law
Enforcement divisions  Post-retirenent
monality rates are based on 115% of'the
PubG-2010 Retiree Mortalty Tables
(males and females) for all divisions  Post
retirement mornality rates for disabled
retirees are based on the PubNS-2010
Disabled Retuee Monalty Tables (males
and females) for all divisions Forallof
the previously descnbed tables, the base
year is 2010 and monality rates fora
particular calendar year are determuned by
applying the MP-2020 monality
mprovement scales (males and females)
to all of these tables

Pension Discount Rate

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be
made at contractually required rates for all plans. Based on those assumptions, each pension plan’s
fiduciary net position was projected to be available 1o make all projected future benefit payments for
current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension
plan investments was applied 1o all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
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pension liability. The discount rates used 1o measure the total pension habilities for STRS Ohio
were 7.00 percent and 7 00 pereent for the plan years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, The discount
rates used to measure the total pension hiability for OPERS were 6 90 percent for both the plan years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively

OPEB Discount Rate

The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contnibutions will be
made a1 contractually required rates for all plans.  Plans that project fiduciary net position 1o be
insufficient to make all projected future benefit payments for current active and inactive employees
used a blended discount rate between the long-term expected rate of return on plan investments and
a 20-year municipal bond rate applied to all peniods of projected benefit pavments 1o determine the
total OPEB liability/(asset)

STRS Ol OPER Discownt Rate - The discount rates used to measure the total OPEB
liabilines/(assets) was 7 00 percent for the plan years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively
At June 30, 2022 and 2021, the plan’s Niduciary net positon was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments for current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-
term expected rate of return on OPER plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit
payments to determine the total OPEB hability/(asset)

OPERS OPER Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB lLabihities/(assets)
was 522 percent and 6.00 percent for the plan years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. At December 31, 2022, the plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to become
msufficient to make all projected future benefit payments for current active and inactive employees.
Therefore, a blended rate was used, which consisted of the long-term expected rate of return on
OPEB plan investments (6.00 percent) for the funded benefit payments and Fidelity Index’s 20-Year
Municipal GO AA Index of 4.05 percent as ol December 31, 2022 At December 31, 2021, the
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be avatlable to make all projected future benefit
payments for current active and imactive employees. Therefore, the Jong term expected rate of return
on OPEB plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total OPEB hability
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan and OPEB plan investiments were determined
using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset
class These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. OPERS has two different portfolios of investment, a defined benefit portfohio for pension
and health care portfolio for OPEB. As a result, there are different target allocanons and long-term
expected real rates of return disclosed for each portfolio. The target allocation and best estimates of
anthmetic (geometric for STRS Ohio) real rates of return for cach major asset class are summarnized
in the following 1able as of the dates hsted below:

STRS Ohio as of 630722 OPERS as of 12/31222
Pension Portfolio Health Care Porifolio
Long-Term Long-Term Long-Term
Investment Target  Expected Real Investment Targst  expected Real Target  expeeted Real
Category Allecanon Rate of Retwrn Category Allocation Rate of Return Allocation Rate of Return
Domestic Equity 26.0% 6 60%, Fixed Income 22 0% 2.62% 3400 256,
Intermational Equity 22.0% 0 R0 Domestic Equities 220% 3 00% 20 0% 460",
Allernataves 19 0% 7 3R% Real Estate 13 0% 527% [IR1E Dout.
Fixed Income 12.0% 1.75% Private Equity 15 0% 753% 25 0% 5 51%
Real Estate 0, 573% In onal Equity 21 0% 551% 20% 4 37%
Ligudity Reserves [ 1 ou. Rusk Paruy 0% 437% [ 1 84
REITs 0oy (T 7 0% 4 0%
{hher Invesments 5 0% 327% ) % Nt
Totals 100 0% 100 0%, 100 0"
STRS Ohio as ol 6/30/21 OPERSasol 123121
Pension Portfolio Health Care Portfoho
Long-Term Long-Term Long-Term
Investment Target  Expected Real Investment Target  expected Real  Target  expected Real
Category Allocation Rate of Return Category Allocation Rate of Return Allocation Rate of Return
Domestic Equity I8 0% 7.35% Fixed Income 24 0% 1.32% KENILA 107"
International Equiy 23.0% 7 55% Domestic Equities 20.0% 25 0%, RN T LN
Alternatives L7 0% 7 09% Real Esta R R 00, 0 00%,
Fixed Income 21 M 3 00% Private | \ 12 0% 010%: O 00%,
Real Estate 100 0ty Inteenational Equity 23 2804 7 30%
Ligumdity Reserves (1L 2A5% Risk Paruy 0% 20%
REITs (TN 7 0%
Totals Lo 0%y Other Invesments 40 70, L3,
e — _
100 0% 100 0%
e e
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Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net pension liability of the Umiversity calculated using the discount rate
listed below, as well as what the University's net pension hability would be 1f 1t were calculated
using a discount rate that 1s 1.00 percentage point lower or 1.00 percentage pomt higher than the
current rate

2023 (% in thousands)

Plan 1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Inerease

STRS Ohio HON% § R7K73 Ta0% § SXAT0 LU 33,050

OPERS S00% 104,663 (a0, 09472 To0% 40211
$ 192536 §  127.642 5 73.261

2022 ($ 0 thousands)

Plan “% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Incrense

STRS Ohio 600% $ 67436 T00% $ 60t ER UL 9458

OPERS 590% 53.417 690% 19 456 Tt (%.790)
5 120,853 3 35467 i Hioy

Sensitivity of the net OPEB liability/{asset) to changes in the discount rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability/(asset) of the Umiversity, calculated using the discount
rate listed below, as well as what the University's net OPEB liability/(asset) would be it it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00 percentage point lower or 1.00 percentage point higher
than the current rate:

2023 (S m thousands)
Plan % Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
STRS Ohio 600% § (6.264) 700% § (6.776) £00% § (7.214)
OPERS 4 22% 4.988 $22% 1.465
S (1.276) s (5.311)

2022 ($ m thousands)

Plan 1% Decrease Current Discount Rate 1% Increase
STRS Oluo 600% S (5.011) T00% § {5.938) 800% § 16.713)
OPERS 500% (4.287) 6 00% (7.289) 700% (9.781)
§ (9.298) § (13.227) § (16494)
et e T E i
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Sensitivity of the net OPEB linbility/{(asset) to changes in the health care cost trend rate

The following presents the net OPEB liability/(asset) of the University, calculated using the
healthcare cost trend rate listed below, as well as what the University’s net OPEB hability/(asset)
would be if it were calculated using a health care cost trend rate that 1s 1.00 percentage point lower
or 1.00 pereentage point higher than the current rate:

2023 ($ in thousands)

Plan 1% Decrease Current Trend Rate 1% Increase

STRS Ohio $ (7.028) L] (6.776) $ (6,457)

OPERS 1374 1,465 1,569
$ 15.654) $ (5.311) $ (4.888)

2022 ($ in thousands)

Plan 1% Decrease Current Trend Rate 1% Increase

STRS Oluo L3 (6,682) g (5,938) < (5,019}

OPERS (7.368) (7,289) (7,196)
$ (14.050) $ (13.227) 5 {12.2E5)

Pension plan and OPER plan fiduciary net position
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position 1s available in the separately
issued STRS Ohio/OPERS financial repornt

B{’M‘Ht!f CI,MHIE:E'.\‘

There were no significant benefit terms changes for the pension or OPEB plan(s) since the prior two
measurement dates for OPERS. Eftfective for 2023, STRS implemented a one-time 3% cost of living
adjustment effective on the anniversary of a benefits recipient’s retirement date for those eligible
during fiscal year 2023 and eliminated the age 60 requirement (effective August 1, 2026)

Changes since the measurement date
There were no significant changes since the measurement date.

Assumption chunges

During the measurement periods ended June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022, respectively, certain
assumption changes were made by the plans. STRS montality tables, projected salary increases, and
trend rates were updated based on a new expernience study, which impacted the annual actuarial
valuation for Pension and OPEB prepared as of June 30, 2022, The OPERS OPEB discount rate
decreased from 6.00 percent to 5.22 percent, which impacted the annual actuanal valuation for
OPEB prepared as of December 31, 2022

Pavable to the Pension Plans and OPEB Plans

The Unmiversity reported a payable of $1,.495,060 and $1,466,182 for the outstanding amount of
contributions to the STRS Ohio and OPERS pension plans required for the years ended June 30,
2023 and June 30, 2022, respectively
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Defined Contribution Pension Plan

The Alternative Retirement Plan (ARP) is a defined contribution pension plan, under IRS Section
401(a), and established by Ohio Amended Substitute House Bill 586 (ORC 3305 02) on March 31,
1997, for public institutions of higher education. The Umiversity’s Board of Trustees adopted the
University's plan on December 11, 1998 Full-time employees are eligible to choose a provider, in
lieu of STRS Ohio or OPERS, from the hst of nine providers currently approved by the Ohio
Department of Insurance and who hold agreements with the University. Employee and emplover
contributions equal to those required by STRS Ohio and OPERS are required for the ARP, less any
amounts required to be remitted to the state retirement system in which the employee would
otherwise have been enrolled

Eligible employees have 120 days from their date of hire 1o make an irrevocable election to
participate in the ARP. Under this plan, employees who would have otherwise been required to be
in STRS Ohio or OPERS, and who elect to participate in the ARP, must contribute the employee’s
share of retirement contributions to one of nine private providers approved by the Ohio Department
of Insurance. The legislation mandates that the employer must contribute an amount to the state
retirement system to which the employee would have otherwise belonged, based on an independent
actuarial study commissioned by the Ohio Retirement Study Council and submitted to the Ohio
Department of Higher Education. For STRS Ohio, that amount is 2.91 percent and 4.47 percent for
the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022 For OPERS, that amount is 2.24 percent and 2.44 percent
for the years ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, 1 the employee was hired on or after August 2005, the
employer contributes 6.00 percent, The employer also contributes what would have been the
employer’s contribution under STRS Ohio or OPERS, less the aforementioned percentages, o the
private provider selected by the employee.  The University plan provides these employees with
immediate plan vesting. The ARP does not provide disability benefits, survivor benefits, or
postretirement health care.  Benefits are enuirely dependent on the sum of contributions and
mvestment returns carned by each participant’s choice of investment options.  STRS Ohio and
OPERS also offer a defined contribution plan and a combined plan with features of both a defined
contribution plan and a defined benefit plan. For the year ended June 30, 2023 and 2022, employee
contributions totaled $1,298,085 and $1,299 939, and the University recognized pension expense of
$1,208,594 and $1,098 292 respectively.

Note 14 — Contingencies and Risk Management

During fiscal year 2018, the Umiversity formed a 19-member Risk Council that established a Risk
Management Program that provides a forum and process to strategically dentify risks that are of
utmost importance and develops coordinated and holistic mitigation plans that appropnately
addresses those risks. The implementation of Enterprise Risk Management provides the framework
to proactively and continuously manage risks in a manner consistent with the University’s mission,
goals, and culture

The University 15 a defendant in various lawsuits. 1115 the opinion of Umversity management that
disposition of pending litigation will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements
of the University. The Umversity receives grants and contracts from certain federal, state, and local
agencies to fund research and other activities, The costs, both direct and indirect, that have been
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charged 1o the grants or contracts are subject 1o examination and approval by the granting agency
1t 15 the opinion of the University's admimistration that any disallowance or adjustment of such costs
would not have a material effect on the financial statements.

The University 1s sell-insured for all medical and drug employee health care benefits and fully
insured for dental and vision employee health care benefits. The self-insured plan includes stop loss
provisions,

Liabihties for estimates of outstanding clmims and clarms mcurred but not reported under self-
insurance programs have been recorded  Changes in the self-insured health care habilities included
mn accrued health care benelits payable (also see Note 8) at June 30 were as [ollows

2023 2022
Lability at begmning of fiscal year 6 862 $ 1,786,667 S
Cument yvear clhums meluding changes i estumates 16, 348 19,493,650
Climm payments (16,323 070) (19.626,455) (16.450.193)

Liability at end of fiscal year $ 1,605,140 $  1.6538062 $ 1,786,607

Health insurance claims are based upon estimates of the claims labilities. Estimates are based upon
past expenence, medical inflation trends, and current clmms outstanding, including year end lag
analysis. Differences between the estimated claims payable and actual claims paid are reported in
the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

The University 1s exposed to various nsks of loss related 1o tons; thelt of, damage 10, and destruction
of assets: errors and omissions; injunies to employees: and natural disasters. The Umiversity has
Joned with other state-assisted universities in Ohio to form an insurance pool for the acquisition of
commercial property and casualty surance. The University pays annual premiums to the pool for
its property and casualty insurance coverage based on its percentage of the total insurance value 10
the pool.  Future contributions will be adjusted based upon each university’s loss history. The
University had no significant reductions in coverage from the prior year. Insurance settlements have
not exceeded insurance coverage for each of the past three fiscal vears,

The University participates in a State pool of agencies and universities that pays workers’
compensation premiums into the State Insurance Fund on a pay-as-you-go basis (the Plan), which
pays workers™ compensation benefits to beneficianies who have been injured on the job. Losses from
asserted and unasserted claims for the participating state agencies and universities in the Plan are
accrued by the Ohio Bureau of Workers” Compensation (the Bureau) based on estmates that
mcorporate the past experience, as well as other considerations including the nature of each claim
or incident and relevant trend factors.  Participants in the Plan annually fund the workers’
compensation liabihty based on rates set by the Bureau to collect the cash needed in subsequent
fiscal years to pay the workers’ compensation claims of participating State agencies and universities
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Note 15 — Component Unit

Youngstown State University Foundation 1s a legally separate nonprofit orgamzation exempt from
federal income tax and classified as a public charity. YSUF is devoted to the support, expansion,
and development of educational programs at the University that are useful to the student and
beneficial to the University community. Because these restricted resources held by the Foundation
can only be used by, or for the benefit of the University, the Foundation 15 considered a component
unit of the University.

YSUF 1s a nonprofit organization that reports under FASB standards. As such, certain revenue
recognition criteria and presentation features are different from GASB revenue recognition criteria
and presentation features.  With the exception of necessary presentation adjustments. no
modifications have been made 1o YSUF’s financial information in the University’s financial repon
for these differences.

The following tables present information about the Foundation’s assets measured at fair value on a
recurring basis at June 30, 2023 and 2022 and the valuation techniques used by the Foundation to
determine those fair values:

Assets Measured ot Fair Value on a Recumring Basis at June 30, 2023

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

Quoted Prices m - Significant Other Sigmiticant
Active markets for Observable Linobservablke
Idenuical Asscts Inputs Inputs Balance at
(Level 1) (Level 2) (lLevel 3) June 30, 2023
Investmenis
Cush and cash cquivilents 5 315034 % - % - s 315,034
Commaon stock - U S stocks ®1.537.072 - - R1.537.072
Common stock - Non-U S stocks 5,344 850 - - 5344850
Mutual lunds
Lxchunge traded 44,247 340 - - 44,247,340
Muoney market TO6T. T2 - - 7.067,792
FFixaed aincome 12,521,624 33.565.773 - 46387397
Lgquiny 41149708 - - 41,149 708
Fotal mutual funds 105,286,464 33565773 = 138.%52,237
Allemative mvestments
I'nivate cquity - - 37202821 37,202,821
Comnmadities bedge funds - - 1,215,761 1.215.761
Fotalalternative investments - - 3HAIH 5K 3X418.582
Fotal 5 1U2.4K3.420 % 33565773 $ 34 4IK.5K2 264467775
Investments measurcd at NAV -
Tedge funds 46,276,128
Total assets S 310.743.903
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ir Value on o Recuming Basis al June 30, 2022

m  Signiticant Other Significant
Active nurkets for Observable Unobservahble
Identical Assets Inputs Balance at
(Level 1) (level 3) June 30, 2022
Investments
Cush und cash cquivalents 5 287 K34 ¥ - ¥ - % 2K7.834
Conmmon stock - U S stocks 75919866 = = 75,919,866
Cuommon stack - Non-U S stocks $.139377 5139377
Mutual funds

Fschange truded 43,528,576 - - 43,528,570
Noney market 6351 441 - - 6,351 441
Frsed meome 1K.947 728 20,715,844 - 3V.6603,572
Equay 39,695,282 = - 39.695.2K2
Fotal mutual funds 108,523,027 200715844 - I29.23K.871

Allemative mvestments
Private equity - - 43,928 343 43 928 3%3
Commaodities hedge tunds = - 1382335 1.3%2.325
Fotal aliemative myvestments = - 45310708 45.310.708
T'otal 5 1RV ET70. 104 $ 20715844 by -l.'x,slu,’.'& 255, Ruh 656

Investments measured at NAV-
Tedye tunds

F'otal assets

Net assets without donor restrictions at June 30, 2023 and 2022 consist of the following:

2023 2022
Current operations $ 157,508,772 £ 152779669
Amounts comnutted to the Umversity to be disbursed 6,381,275 6,813,550
Total net assets without donor restnctions $ 163,890,047 $ 159593219
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Schedules of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability

Net assets with donor restrictions as of June 30 are available for the following purposes Plan Years Ended 2014 to 2022
2023 2022 University's
Subjeet to the Foundaton's spending policy and appropration - proportionate
Investments in pempatuity (ncluding onginal gt amount of share of the
$124,244,49]1 and $119.544,129, a5 of June 30, 2023 and 2022, Umiversity's collective net Plan hiducary net
ey petlively]. which, ohte approricated eneniabbetg, supmn 3 . Umiversity 's proportionate penston labihty PposHIon 18 4
varnous activitics S 142426332 % 135,748,976 , i
proportion of share of the net as a percentage of  percentage of the
thenet pension pension habihity Universaty's the employ er's total pension

Subgect to appropration and expenditures when aspeafied event

Plan Year liability (asset) (asset) covered payroll — covered pavroll liability

oeeurs

Funds avalable to assist the University's Department of Philosophy State Teachers Retivement System (STRS Ohio)

and Religous Studies n the scholarly study of rebgion, history, 2022 (1261670% § 58.169.556 $38.230.538 15212% T8 90%
and coltane 1504576 1.274.925 2021 0 281650% $ 30,011,446 $38.933 561 92 49% 87 8%
Funds aviiluble to assist the University i land acquisiions, SIS 514,212 2020 0314635% $ 76,130,559 $42,404.403 179 53% 75 50%
Land receved m kind b4 656 43,284 2019 0328794% § 72.710,830 $43,128,083 168 9% 77 400
(xher (381.140) (156.054) 2018 0 325960% £ 71.671.389 £41,735926 171 73% 77 31%
Subtotal 1,600 107 1675772 27 0 330156% $ 78429268 $41,199 747 190 36% 75 30%
2016 0348370% $116,609 K06 $41.521217 280 84% 06 8%
Subject o the passage of ime - Pledges recenvable for the benetit of 2015 0361214% § 99828954 $42774459 233 38% 33408
the Umiversity tor scholarships and other prograns or endowments 13.581.040 4,537,343 2014 0 3844520, $ 093.512.061 £44.313.510 211029 74 70%
Net assets wath donor restnctions S 158206479 3 147002141

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

Financial support from YSUF was $10907.374 for the fiscal year ended June 30 2023 and 022 0237134% $ 69471970 $42517.459 163 40% 76 07%
$9,328,575 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, Fancial support from YSUF has been 2021 N234737% § 19455611 $40.205.245 48.39% 93 01%
committed for fiscal year 2024 in the amount of $10,902,150 2020 0.223270% $ 32.376,201 $18.248,036 84 65% 8721%
2019 02446682, § 47840867 £40,601.178 117 83% 82 4%
Complete financial statements for the Youngstown State University Foundation can be requested 2018 Daigdndte 3 T0A4TLISE  SALBIRRY KL, 78.00%
from The Youngstown State University Foundation 2017 0259492%  § 40346952  §4D.146.282 T 19.00%
2016 0259332% $ 58.744.558 $39,595,195 148 36% 80 00%
2015 0269315% $ 46,516,739 $39,715,198 117 13% RO 00%
2014 0.284240% $ 34.173.082 $40,769,505 3 82% R4 00%

The plan year ends on June 30 for STRS Ohio and December 31 for OPERS
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Contnbutions n
relation to the

Cennbutions
recogmized by the
pension plan in
relation 1o the
statutonly or
contractually required
employer contnbution

YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

Statutonly statutonly Annua as a percent of the
required required contnbution University's employer's covered
Fiscal Year contribution contributions deficiency covered pavioll payroll
State Teachers Retirement System (STRS Ohio)
2023 $4,595,362 $4,595,362 P! . $137.68].44] 1220%
2022 $4,766,737 $4,766,737 b - $138,239,538 1247%
2021 $4.865,815 $4.865815 5 $ 38,933,561 12 50%
2020 $5,318,458 $5318.458 $ $42.404 403 12 54%
2019 5,404,211 §5404.211 3 = $43.128.053 12.53%
2018 $£5,195,369 £5,195,369 b - $41.735.920 1245%
2017 $£5,107,383 $5,107 383 5 $41.199.747 12 40%
2016 $£5,153427 $5,153.427 s - $41.521.217 1241%
2015 $5318,436 £5,315436 b $42,774 459 1243%
Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)
2023 £5,557,191 $5.557.191 $ $43.340,039 12 83%
2022 $5,391,644 $5,391,644 s - $41.781,130 1290%
2021 £4.816,380 $4.816,380 5 - 537,506,171 12 84%
2020 $5.171,188 $5.171,188 ) $40.296,691 1283%
019 $5,189816 $5,189.816 s $40.481 204 1282%
2018 $5.104,871 $5,104,871 b3 $41.095514 1242%
2017 £5,043,147 §$5.043,147 < $ 39901 665 12.64%
2016 $£4,994,138 $4994,138 s . £39458.926 12 66%
2015 $5,095976 $5,095976 s $£40.264,007 12 66%

Changes of henefir terms STRS Ohio - Effective for 2023, STRS implemented a one-time 3% cost
of living adjustment effective on the anmversary of a benefits recipient’s retirement date for those
eligible during fiscal year 2023 and eliminated the age 60 requirement (effective August 1, 2026)

Changes of assumptions

STRS Ohio — During the plan year ended June 30, 2022, there were changes to several assumptions
for STRS based on an updated experience study for the five-year penod ended June 30, 2021, The
projected salary increase range changed from 2.5% -12.5% 1o 2.5% -8 5%, The mortality tables
used changed from RP-2014 to PUB-2010.

During the plan year ended June 30, 2021, the investment rate of return decreased from 7 45% 1o
7.00%
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During the plan year ended June 30, 2017, there were changes to several assumptions for STRS
Ohio. The cost-of-living adjustment dropped from 2.00% to 0.00%. The wage inflation dropped
from 2.75% to 2.50% The investment rate of return decreased from 7.75% 10 745%. The
mortality tables used changed from RP-2000 1o RP-2014.

OPERS -~ Dunng the plan year ended December 31, 2022, there were no changes to key
assumptions

During the plan year ended December 31, 2021, there were changes to several assumptions for
OPERS. The discount rate was reduced from 7.50% to 6.90%. The wage inflation dropped from
3.25% 10 2 75%. The projected salary increase range changed from 3.25%-10 75% to 2.75%-
10.75% The experience study changed from the 5 year period ended December 31, 2015 1o the 5
vear period ended December 31, 2020, The mortality tables used changed from RP2014 to PUB-
2010

During the plan year ended December 31, 2018, the discount rate was reduced from 7.50% to
7.20% During the plan year ended December 31,2016, there were changes to several assumptions
for OPERS. The wage inflation dropped from 3.75% to 3.25%. The projected salary increase
range changed from 4.25%-10.05% to 3.25%-10.75%. The mortahity tables used changed from
RP-2000 to RP-2014
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Schedules of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability (Asset)

Plan Year

State Teachers Retirement System (STRS Ohio)
223

2019
2018
2017

Universiy's
proportion of
thenct OPEB
liabality (asset)

0 2616T0%
D 2IRIGI07,
0 314652%
0 327941%,
03259060,
1 330]36%

Universiny 's
proportionate
share of the nut

Plan Years Ended 2017 to 2022

University's
proportionate
share of the
collective net Plan fiduciany
OPEB hability as. net position as a
apercentage of  percentage of the

OPEB hability Universiny's the employ er's total OPEB
(asset) covered pavtoll  covered pav roll liability
£ (6.776,001) $3H 239538 17 40 230 T
$ (5.93K.0040) S 3% 933561 15:25% 174 70%
s 30,0000 S42404 403 13 04% 182 109
S {5 446.000) S43. 128 083 12 63% 174 70
$ (5.237.%52) S41735920 12 55% 176 007
S I288L4AY SA41 1747 27 47 1

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS)

2122
2021
2020
2019
2008
2017

10 232424%
12327237,
0,222075%
112423 149%
02561094
0 255940%

S 1465478
S (7.289.241)
3 (3US6.443)
$33.470.540
$ 33390508
£27.793. 199

$42.517.459 345 ug U
30 205,244 18 13%, 128 23%
S3K.24K030 1 34%, N55T%
S400t1 1T R 44 47 KUt
s4L110217 X120t 46 33%
N4 A4 2K hy 72, S 14

The plan year ends on June 30 for STRS Ohio and December 31 for OPERS
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Schedules of the University’s OPEB Contributions

Connbutions
recoguzed by the
OPEB plan m relation
to the stantonly or

Contnibutions contractually required

relation to the emplov er contnbution

Statutonly statutonly as a percent of the

required required Annual contribution Iniversiy's cploy er's covered
Fiscal Year contribution contnbutions deficiency covered pavroll pavioll

State Teachers Retirement System (STRS Ohio)

2023 s - s - 5 - $ 37681441 100",
2022 s - £ - $ 3K239.53K 0 0%,
2021 ] s - 5 - § 3K933561 0N
2020 s - 1y - 5 - $ 424404403 LRV
201y LY - L9 B s - S 43128053 0%,
20108 < - s s - § 41735926 002,

Ohio Public Employees Retirement System (OPERS )

2023 < § ) § 43340039 o,
022 s - - %= S 4L7K1130 oo

RORY} S - S b I 5 37506171 TR
2020 s - $ - s - £ 40,296,691 (XTI
2010 3 - 3 - - $ A0AR1204 [IRTTEN
2008 S 190,221 $ 190221 s S 4l 0vssd 46t

There were no significant changes in benefit terms affecting the OPERS plans

Changes of assumptions

STRS Ohio - During the plan year ended June 30, 2022 there were changes to several assumptions
for STRS based on an updated expenience study for the five-year penod ended June 30, 2021 The
projected salary increase range changed from 2.5%-12.5% to 2 5%-8 5% The mortality tables
used changed from RP-2014 to PUB-2010

During the plan year ended June 30, 2021, the investment rate of return decreased from 7 45% to
7.00%. The health care cost trend rates also decreased from 4.93% to 9.62% mitial and 4.00%
ultimate for plan year ended June 30, 2020, 1o 16 20% percent o 30 00% mitial and 4 00% ulumate
for plan year ended June 30, 2021

During the plan year ended June 30, 2018, there were changes to several assumptions for STRS
Ohio. The health care cost trend rates decreased from 6.00% to 11.00% mitial and 4 50% ultimate
for plan year ended June 30. 2017, 10 (5.23%) to 9.62% initial and 4.00% ultimate for plan year
ended June 30. 2018 The discount rate increased from a blended rate between the long-term
expected rate of return and a 20-year mumeipal bond rate of 4.13 % to the investment rate of return
of 7.45% based on the cash flow analysis,
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YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION (CONT.)

OPERS — During the plan year ended December 31, 2022, the health care cost trend rate changed
to 5 50% initial, 3 50% ultimate in 2036 from 5.50% mitial, 3.50% ultimate in 2034 10 2021 In
addition, the discount rate was reduced from 6.00% 10 5 22%

During the year ended December 31, 2021, there were changes to several assumptions for OPERS
The experience study changed from the S-year period ended December 31, 2015 1o the 5-year
period ended December 31, 2020 The municipal bond rate decreased from 2.00% to 1.84%
Wage inflation decreased 3.25% to 2.75% The projected salary increase range changed from
3.25%-10.75% 10 2.75%-10.75%. Health care cost trend rate decreased from 8.50% mitial, 3.50%
ultimate 1n 2035 to 5.50% imtial, 3 50% ultimate in 2034

During the plan year ended December 31, 2020, there were changes to several assumptions for
OPERS. The health care cost trend rates decreased from 10.50% initial and 3 50% ultimate 10
8.50% initial and 3.50% ultimate. The discount rate was increased from 3.16% to 6.00%.

During the plan year ended December 31, 2019, there were changes to several assumptions for

OPERS. The health care cost trend rates decreased from 10.00% nitial and 3 25% ultmate 10
10.50% initial and 3.50% ultimate. The discount rate was reduced from 3 96% to 3.16%.
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Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Malters Based on an Audit of
Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Independent Auditor's Report

To Management and the Board of Trustees
Youngstown State University

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audils contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Complraller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities and the discretely presented
component unit of Youngstown State University (the “University”), a component unit of the State of Ohio, as of and
for the year ended June 30, 2023 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the
University's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated October 12, 2023

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial stalements, we considered the University's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures thal are appropnate in the
crcumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the University's internal contral

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operalion of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned funclions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
missiatements on a timely basis A malenal weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a matenal misstatement of the Universily's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis A significant deficiency 1s a
deficiency, or a combinalion of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a matenal weakness, yel
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be matenial weaknesses or significant
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we
consider to be matenal weaknesses. However, matenal weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were
not identified

Report on Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance aboul whether the University's financial statements are free from
malerial misstatemenl, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and matenal effect on the financial
statements, However, praviding an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit,
and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion The results of our lests disclosed no instances of
nencompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards
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To Management and the Board of Trustees
Youngstown State University

Purpose of This Report

The purpose of this report is solely lo describe the scope of our lesting of internal control and compliance and the
results of thal tesling, and not to provide an opinion on the effecliveness of the University's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audil performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considening the University's internal canlrol and compliance. Accordingly, this communication 1s not

suitable for any other purpose
744»122 f M, PLet

October 12, 2023
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Report on Compliance fer Each Major Federal Program and Report on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the
Uniform Guidance

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Beard of Trustees
Youngstown State University

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Youngstown State Universily's (the “University”) compliance wilh the types of compliance requirements
identified as subject to audit in the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Compliance Supplement that could have a direct
and material effect on the University's major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2023 The University's major federal
program is identfied in the summary of audilor's results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned
costs

In our opinion, the University complied, in all malenial respects, with the compliance requirements referred 1o above that could
have a direct and material effect on the major federal program for the year ended June 30, 2023

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepled in the United States of
Amernca (GAAS), the siandards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United Slates; and the audit requirements of Titfe 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Unitorm Administrative Requirements, Cosf Pnnciples, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the "Uniform Guidance”)
Our responsib under those s and the Uniform Guidance are funther descrbed in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of Comphance section of our report

We are required to be independent of the University and to meet our cther ethical responsibilities in accordance with relevant
ethical requirements relaling lo our audit. We believe thal the audit evidence we have oblained is sufficient and appropnate to
provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does nol provide a legal
determination of the University's compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above

Responsibilities of M. for Campli

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, implementation, and
maintenance of elfective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, statules, regulations, rules, and
provisions of contracts or grant agreemenls applicable lo the University's federal programs

Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance

Our cbjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance aboul whether malerial noncompliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on the University's compliance based on
cur audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolule assurance and, therefore, is not a guarantee
that an audil conducted in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always
detect matenal noncompliance when it exists. The nsk of not detecting matenal noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher
than for that resulting from error, as fraud may invalve collusion, forgery, infentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
overnde of internal control Nencomplance with the compliance requirements referred to above 15 considered matenal if there
1s @ substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregale, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of
the report on compliance about the Ul y's with the regqu of each major federal program as a whole
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To tho Board of Trustees

Youngstown State University

Inp g an audit in with GAAS, Auditing . and the Uniform Guidance, we:

. ise professi judg and maintain p. P hroughout the audil.

+ Identify and assess the risks of i i shether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit
proceduros responsive o those nsks Such procedt include g, on a fes! basis, evidence regarding the
Uni y's i with the q ferred to above and performing such other d aswe

i dr y in the ci

. Oblam an understanding of the University" s internal control over compliance relevant 1o the audit in order to design audit

that are approp! in the ces and to test and report on intemal contro! over compliance in

accordance with the Uniferm Guidance, bul not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
University's internal control over comptiance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to i with those ged with gi garding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and any signifi ficiencies and i interal contro! over compliance that we
identified during the audit

Report on Intemal Control Over Compliance

A deficiency in intemal contro! over compliance exists when me design or operation of a contro! over complance does not

allow management of employees, in the normal course of p. g ther to prevent, or detect and
correct, noncompliance vnlh atype of eomplianee requxmmcm ofa lcdanl program on a timely basis. A material weakness in
mnlemal contro! over is a defi ora of n contro! over compliance such that

there is a reasomble possabdny that matenal noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program wall
not be p: , or d d and on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal contro! over compliance is a

ora ination of in intemal contro! over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is Iess severe than a material weakness in intermal control over compliance, yel imponiant enough to
ment by those ged with g

Our consideration of inlernal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of Compham scchon ahove and was nol desagned 10 identify all deficencies in internal contro! over compliance

that might be in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations,
during our audit we did nol ldcnllly any del’aenaes m internal comrol over i that we ider to be
weaknesses, as dofined above. | .\ or sig: fi ies in internal control over compliance

may exist thal ware not identified.

Qur audit was not desi for the purpose of exp
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

g an opinion on the etiectiveness of interna! control over compliance.

The purpose of this report on intemal contro! over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of intemnal control
over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this repont is

not suilable for any other purpose.
744«& ¢ blm, PLec

October 12, 2023
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Youngstown State University

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

Yeas Ended June 30, 2023

Asssance Tolal Amount
Listing Pasa-through Entity Providad to
Fuedernt 238 th1ough #Pragiam Tile Number Identdying Number Subrecipients Federa)l Expendauses
Chusters
Student Financial Assittance Cluster
U S. Depanment of Education - Dwect Programs
Federal Suppiemental Educational Oppontundy Grards 24 007 Not Apphcadie 390,801
Fedaral Work Study Program 84033 Not Appacabie 522,33
Federal Perkins Loan Program 84038 Not Apphcable 99538
Federal Pell Grant Program 84083 Mot Applcatie 14,899.919
Federal Dvect Stuoert Loans. 84 268 Not Appacadic 47048878
Tota Student Financial Assistance Cluster 62.961.271
Rmu:h and Development Chuater
S Depanmert of Commerce - Pass-Ovough Program
- The Oreo
State Unwersity - Sea Grant Suppon mnaz PC. GR126917 26137
Total US. Deparsmers of Commetce 26137
US Depanmera of Defense - Pass-Owough Programe
Army Rescarch insitine - Case Western Reaerve Unwversty
Bauc ScienbSc Resaarch
12431 RES600317 22298
and Macheung
(NCOMM; - A. F«u Defense Research Sciences
Program 12 800 Hot Avadadle 223281
Nationa! Center for Defonse Manutaciunng snd Machewng
(NCOMM, - Ar Force Defonse Research Scrences
Program 12 000 ol Avadadie $524.238
Ax Fotce Reseaich Lab - Wight Slate Unvorsty
Research and Technology Development 12910 6711001 1700 1078 098
Totsl US Oepartment of Defense 1709 1845667
National Aesonautics and Space Adrwnstration - Dwoct
Programs.
Space Technciogy 43012 ot Apphcable 102,124
Natonal and Space - PassAivough
Programs
Otwo Space Grant Conaortum - Scuence 43001 Not Avadatie 234)
Space Telescope Science insitute - Soence 43001 HST-GO-16092 002-A 478
Space Telescepe Science Insttue - Suence 4300 MST-GO-16257 002-A 4277
Total Kational Aeronautxs 3nd Space Admunatration 108 645
See notes to schedule of expenditures
of federal awards. 84



Youngstown State University

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued)
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Assnstance Total Amount
Listing Pass through Enlity Provided to
Frderal Agency thiough ogram Tite Humber Identitying Number Federal £
Clusters (cantinued):
Research and Development Cluster (Continued)
MNational Suence Foundation - Drect Programs.
47041 Hot Appix able . 8,504
Mathematical ang Prysical Sciences. 47048 Mot Apphcable . 165,022
Education and Human Resoutces 47076 Hot Apphcable 8360 309 554
Total National Science Foundation 8360 283 480
US Depanment of Energy - Pats-thiough Pragrams
Lawrence Berkeley Natonal Labaratory-Energy Eficiency
and Renewatie Energv Educaton and Outreach 81117 7646533 3 8045
Tetal US Depaniment of Energy - 8045
US Depanment of Education - Pass-througn Programs
The Unwvenity of Cincinnati - State Technical Assistance
Projects 1o Improve Services and Results for Children
who are Deat-Blnd and Natonal Techncal Assistance
and Dissemination Centes for Children who are Deat-Biind
843267 D11841-00008 < 26229
Total US Depanment of Education - 8229
US Depanment of Health and Human Services - Diect Programs.
Nurse Anesthetist Traineeships 93324 ot Appicatie 2 18,167
Datetes, Digestive, and Kidney Diseases Extramural
Research 93847 Hot Apprcable = 535
US Department of Health and Human Services - Pass-through Programs.
COVID-19 - Centers far Disease Control and Prevention -
Ohio Depariment of Health - Epidemiclogy and Labaralary
Capacity for Infectious Diseases (ELC)
93123 Cantract & 1391 130,955
COVID-19 - Certers tor Disease Control and Prevention -
Ohio State University - Epiemiiogy and Laboratery
Capactv for Infectious Daeases (ELC) 83323 GR12476%/5 PC- 1000005404 123
University of Pitsburgh - Aging Research 93 866 CNVADOOSBSS2 (131451-1) 11,251
Uneversity of Pittaburgh - Aging Research 3866  AWDOD0OIISE (1360851) - 33829
Total US Depariment of Health and Human Sennces 184 904
Total Research and Development Cluster 10.069 2,681,107
TRIO Cluster
US Depanment of Egucation - Dvect Program
TRIO Upward Baund BaD47A Mot Apphcabie - 99,251
Total TRIO Cluster 99.251

See notes to schedule of expenditures
of federal awards. 85

Youngstown State University

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued)
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Assistance Tatal Amount
Listing Pass-thraugh Ertity Provided to
Feaeral Agency Pass-trough Agency/Program Title Humber Identitying Humber Subrecipients __Federal Eapendiures
Chaters (Continued)
Economic Development Cluster
Economic Development Agency - Direct Program,
Econame Adjustment Assstance 11307 Nat Apphcabie . 120,599
Total Econamic Deveiopment Clusier 120,599
Child Kuteitian Cluster
U'S. Depanment of Agrcuture - Pass tivough Pragram
State 0f O Deganment of Education - Summer Food
Service Pragram for Cradren 10559 02428971 - 6 646
Total Chiki Nutrition Cluster - 6.646
Taoui Clusters 0,069 65878,874
Otnet federal awards
U5 Depanment of Defense - Pass.through Programs
State of Orso, O of -
Technical Assistance for Business Firms 12002 PTAG202208: 109,083
State of Onio of -
Technical Assistance for Business Firms 12002 APXG20230527 5 60,680
Total US Department of Defense . 168,763
Appalachian Regional Commessian - Direct Program
Appatachian Area Development 23002 Not Applicable - 173,464
National Endowment for Ihe Humanies - Pass through
Program
Science 4300 ot Applicable - 24 500
Hational Asronautics and Space Admunvstration - Direct
Cho Humanties Council - Promation of the Humanities.
FederaiState Pannership 45129 QU22-089 - 4027
Smail Business Agmnistration - Pass-thiough Programs
Stale of Ofa, Develapment Serices Agency - Small
Business Development Centers. 59037 OSBG-20-350 - 1616
State of Onsa, Development of Deveiopment - Smad
Business Development Centers. 59037 OSBG-22:3264 . 133239
State of Ohio, Development of Development - Smal
Business Development Centers. 59037 0sBG-23-326 2 134339
Total Smail Business Acminvstration . 306,194

See notes to schedule of expenditures
of federal awards 86



Youngstown State University

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued)
Yoar Ended June 30, 2023

Assinlance Tots! Amount
Listng Pass-tvough Entdy Provded to
Fecera) AgencyP; AgencyiProgiam Tile Number Identidying Number Subteciperts Federal Expenddures
Other programs (Continued}
Other lederal swards (Continued)
U'S Department of Education - Dract Programe.
Garwng Earty Awareness and Readness b Undergraduate
Programs 84334 Not Apphcatie . 9200
U'S. Depastment of Education - Educabon Staddzation Fund
COVID-19 - Hgher Ecucaton Emengency Resel Fund -
Studert A saaxe Mot Appacatie . @1.500m
COVID-19 - Migher Ecucation Ememency Resef Fund -
Iratetind) Porion 44255 Not Appcadie . 21218
COVID-19 - Hgher Education Emergency Rese! Fund -
Inattutonal Portion 84 425F Not Apphcatie . 1ML71S
U.S Department of Education - Educabon Stabdzation Fund -
Pazsahtough Programs
COWID-19 - Otwo Depatment of Educaton - Elementary and
Secondary School Emergency Rebe! Fund
(ESSER Land 1y 844250 1899 . 74451
COWVID-19 - Otio. d Otwo.
of Hagher Educaton - Amencan Rescus Plan-Elementary
and Secondary School Rokef Fund (ARP-ESSER)
B4 425U Not Avadabie B nan?

COVID-19 - Otuo Depantment of Education - Otico of

Graduate Success - Amercan Rescue Plan-£ lemontary

and Sacondary School Redel Fund (ARP-ESSER) 84 4250 Not Avatadic . 6952
COVID-19 - Otvo Departmert of Oevelopmertal Dasbéses -

Amencan Rescue Pan-Elementary and Secondary

School Redet Fund (ARP-ESSER) 844250 Not Avadadie - 30,942
Total Educanon Stabdration Fund . smee2

See notes to schedule of expenditures
of federa! awards. 87

Youngstown State University

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (Continued)
Year Ended June 30, 2023

Assistance Total Amount
Listing Pass-tivough Enity Provided to
Foderal Agency/Pass. #Program Tale Numbes dentitying Nurmber Subtecipients __Fadera) Expenddures
Other programs (Continued)
Other lederal awards (Continued)
U'S Department of Educabon - Pass-itrough Programs
State of Ohio Depariment of Education - Twenty-Fust
Century Communty Learming Centars 84287 12107 . 1547
State of Otwo Department of Education - Twenty-Fest
Cartury Commundy Learreng Centers 842087 10938 - 0
Sisie ot Otso Departraent of Educaton - Twerty-Fust
Certury Commundy Learrang Centers 84207 10864 - 270
State 0f Otso Departrnent of Educaton - Twonty-Fest
Cenlury Commundy (earng Ceviters o4 287 107 - 1265
State of Orwo Depantment of Education - Twenty-Fest
Communty Learning Centess 84287 17307 . 128,705
Stats of Ohuc Deparntment of Education - Twenty-Frrst
[ Communty Learring Centers 84207 19472 . 142499
sm..":&» Departrnert ot Educabion - Tworty-Fest
Cantury Commundy Learmng Certers. 24207 19471 . 127618
. 43070
Total State of Oteo Department of Education - Twenty-First
Cantury Commundy Leatrwng Centers
TolalU'S Depanment of Educatin . 996,162
U S Department of Meath and Human Services - Pass-through
Programs.
Siate of Otwo Depariment ol Jobs and Famdy Services -
Otwo Chid Care Resowrce & Relerral Association
(OCCRRA) - Chwid Carc and Devolopment Biock Grant N85 105475 - 494,065
State of Ohwo Department ol Jobs and Farmdy Servces -
Siephane Tuobs Jones Chad Wettare Services Program 91645 G-1219-08-0337 - 1,500
State of Olvo Departmant of Jobs and Famdy Services -
Stepharwe Tubtis Jones Chd Weitare Services Program 93845 G-2223-06-0083 - 5473
State of Ohuo Department of Joba and Famuly Services -
Foster Care - TWe-V-E s1ese G-161906-0137 . 15.590)
State 0f Olo Oepastment of Jobs and Famdy Servces -
Foster Care - Thie-IV-E 91650 G-2223-06-0083 - 61089
Stats 0! Ovo Department of Jobs and Famdy Servces -
500120 Servces Biock Grant 93067 6-222306-0083 . 30893
Total US Departmert of Heah and Human Services - 587.530
US Depariment of Hometand Securty - Pass-through
Programe
Unded States Coast Guard - Oteo Depantment of Ratursl
Resources - Boatng S. Financial Assistance
< g Saiety 97012 20220449 - &0
Tolal 'S Department of Hometand Securty - (%
Total other federal awards. - 2,261,750
Total federal awards 10.063 69,140,624
See notes to schedule of expenditures
of federal awards. 88



Youngstown State University Youngstown State University

~ - - ~ e % 3
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
Year Ended June 30, 2023 Year Ended June 30, 2023
Note 1 - Basis of Presentation Section | - Summary of Auditor's Results
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (lhe “Schedule”) includes the federal grant Financial Statements
activity of Youngstown State University (the “University’) under programs of the federal government for the 3
year ended June 30, 2023. The information in the Schedule is presented in accordance with the Type of auditor's report issued Unmoditied
requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Internal control over financial reporting
Cost Panciples, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (the “Uniform Guidance”) Because the
Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the University, it is not intended to and does = Material weakness(es) identified? Yes X No

not present the financial position, changes in net position, or casn flows of the Universily )
= Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies not considered 1o be malenal weaknesses? Yes X None reported
Expenditures reperted in the Schedule are reported on the same basis of accounting as the basic financial Noncompliance material te financial
statements. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in Title 2 U S Code statements noted? Yes X None reported

of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements. Cost Principles, and Audit

Requirements for Federal Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited Federal Awards

as to reimbursement, and frequently asked questions, as outlined in the 2023 Compliance Supplement Internal contral over major programs
Addendum. Negative amounts shown on the Schedule represent adjustments or credits made in the
normal course of business lo amounts reported as expenditures in prior years. The pass-through enlity = Material weakness{es) identified? Yes X No

identifying numbers are presented where available
« Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are

The University has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimus indirect cost rate to recover indirect costs nat considered o be matenal weaknesses? Yes X None reponed
as allowed under the Uniform Guidance, and instead uses indirect cost rates ranging from 8 percent to Caa— =
26.3 percent per the respective grant agreements or currenlt federally negotiated indirect cost rate Any audit findings disclosed that are required (o be reported in

accordance with Section 2 CFR 200 516(a)? Yes X No

Note 3 - Loans Balances
Identification of major programs:
Federal Direct Loan Program

The Universily participates in the Federal Direct Student Loan Program (84.288). The University Assistance
onginates, but does not provide funding for, federal direct loans (FDL). The amount presented on the Listing Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster Opinion
schedule of expenditures of federal awards represents the value of new FDL processed by the University .
for the year ended June 30, 2023 Various Student Financial Assistance Cluster Unmodified
Federal Perkins Loan Program Dollar threshold used to distinguish between

type A and type B programs $750,000

Loans outstanding at the beginning of the year and loans made during the year are included in the federal

expenditures presented in the Schedule The University liquidated the Federal Perkins Loan Program with Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? X _ Yes No
the final liquidation pending confirmation by the Department of Education after completion of Perkins

close-out audit There were no loan balances outstanding at June 30, 2023 The federal share of the 5 s 5 T

University's final fund capital from the Perkins Loan Program is $71,296 and was refunded on May 11, Section Il - Financial Statement Audit Findings

2023
None

Section lll - Federal Program Audit Findings

None
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State of C
Senate Bill 6 Ratios

Enacted in 1997, Senate Bill 6 provides a framework for state
policymakers to annually evaluate the financial health of Ohio's public
colleges and universities. S.B. 6 is codified in state law:

*Ohio Revised Code §3345.72
*Ohio Administrative Code §126:3-1-01.

S.B. 6 requires the Ohio Department of Higher Education to employ a
scoring system using each state university’s audited financial
statements as the basis for three key performance ratios, calculated as
follows:

*Net income ratio: change in total net assets + total revenues. = 20%
of composite score

*Viability ratio: expendable net assets + plant debt. = 30% of
composite score

*Primary reserve ratio: expendable net assets + total operating

f Ohio Senate Bill 6 Financial Ratio Analysis - Y

What the ratios mean:

*Net income ratio: compares expenses
and revenues to determine if a campus
is operating within its resources.

*Viability ratio: measures a campus’s
ability to manage long-term debt
obligations.

*Primary reserve ratio: measures a
campus’s ability to use reserves in the
absence of future revenue.

Key metric: Composite Score, the sum
of weighted scores for the net income,
viability and primary reserve ratios.

5.0 is the highest-hest score paossible.

YSU’s S.B. 6 composite scores have fluctuated over the last

Historical Data

10 years but have remained stable since inception.
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5.00 -
expenses + interest on debt. = 50% of composite score 475 =
4.50 ==
. - i 5 ‘E
**All calculations exclude the impact of GASB 68/75** :zu
3.75
YSU's FY 2023 ratios and scores are depicted in the table below: 3.50
3.25
Senate Bill 6 Sliding Scale 3.00
2.75 S
Net Income Ratio: Weighted 2.50 =
0 1 2 3 4 5 Score  Weight Score 2.95 .1l -
<-049 [ -05to0 | 0to.009 .01t0.029 .03to0.049 =>.05 1 20% 0.20 ? 00 ! .
-0.010 2. .
Calculation detail: ___ ($1,991,320) / $208,199,824 = -0.010 1.75 i
1.50 i -
Viability Ratio: Weighted 1.25 i
0 1 2 3 4 5 Score  Weight Score 1.00 —
<0 O0to.29  .30t0.59 .60t0.99 | 1.0to2.50 >2.50 4 30% 1.20 0.75 : .
1,059 0.50 - —
Calculation detail: $72,273,672 / 68,255,407 = 1.059 0.25 f, -
Primary Reserve Ratio: Weighted 0.00 Ohic; e o hio U N[=O Kent ) 5 g " Shawnee | Central
0 1 2 3 2 5 Score  Weight Score st Grate Miami | OhioU. MED . Cincy state Cleve, St.| BGSU su Toledo | Akron St Spe
<10 -10t0.049 .05t0.099 .10t0.249 | .25t0.49 =>.50 a 50% 2.00 FY23 Score| 5.0 a7 4.7 4.7 41 4.0 3.6 36 36 3.4 3.4 34 26
0344 FY17 Score| 0.8 a7 a4 4.4 a7 3.4 4.4 3.7 39 3.7 ER 3.4 2.6 28
Calculation detail: $72,373,672 / $210,191,1444 = 0.344
Source: Ohio Department of Higher Education https://highered ohio gov/educators/budget-financial/campus-accountability-sa/campus-accountability

Institutional Comparison

The FY 2023 (preliminary) and FY 2017 composite scores for Ohio's state universities are shown below:

YSU Composite Score = sum total of weighted ratio scores above:

*Central State's FY 2023 score was not available at the time this report was prepared.






